
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 
Notice of a Meeting 
 
 

Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Wednesday, 24 September 2025 at 2.00 pm 

Room 2&3 - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 

These proceedings are open to the public 

 

If you wish to view proceedings, please click on this Live Stream Link. 
However, that will not allow you to participate in the meeting. 

 

Membership 

 

Chair: Councillor Liam Walker 

Deputy Chair:  Councillor Bethia Thomas 

  
Councillors: Thomas Ashby 

Chris Brant 
Laura Gordon 

Emily Kerr 
Lesley McLean 
Susanna Pressel 

Leigh Rawlins 

 
Date of Next 
Meeting: 12 November 2025 

 

For more information about this Committee please contact: 

Committee Officer: Scrutiny Team 

Email: scrutiny@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 
Martin Reeves 

 

Chief Executive September 2025 

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/PLO24092025


 

 

What does this Committee review or scrutinise? 
Climate change, transport, highways, planning and place-based services. Including the delivery 
of regulatory services, fire and rescue, community safety and community services such as 
libraries. NB This Committee will act as the Council’s ‘Crime and Disorder Committee’. 
 
How can I have my say? 
We welcome the views of the community on any issues in relation to the responsibilities of this 
Committee.  Members of the public may ask to speak on any item on the agenda or may suggest 
matters which they would like the Committee to look at.  Requests to speak must be submitted 
to the Committee Officer below no later than 9 am 4 working day before the date of the 
meeting. 
 
About the County Council 

The Oxfordshire County Council is made up of 63 councillors who are democratically elected 
every four years. The Council provides a range of services to Oxfordshire’s 678,000 residents. 
These include: 
schools social & health care libraries and museums 

the fire service roads  trading standards 

land use  transport planning waste management 

 
Each year the Council manages £0.9 billion of public money in providing these services. Most 
decisions are taken by a Cabinet of 9 Councillors, which makes decisions about service priorities 
and spending. Some decisions will now be delegated to individual members of the Cabinet. 
 

About Scrutiny 
Scrutiny is about: 

 Providing a challenge to the Cabinet 

 Examining how well the Cabinet and the Authority are performing  

 Influencing the Cabinet on decisions that affect local people 

 Helping the Cabinet to develop Council policies 
 Representing the community in Council decision making  

 Promoting joined up working across the authority’s work and with partners 
 
Scrutiny is NOT about: 

 Making day to day service decisions 

 Investigating individual complaints. 
 
What does this Committee do? 
The Committee meets at least 4 times a year or more. It develops a work programme, which lists 
the issues it plans to investigate. These investigations can include whole committee 
investigations undertaken during the meeting, or reviews by a panel of members doing research 
and talking to lots of people outside of the meeting.  Once an investigation is completed the 
Committee provides its advice to the Cabinet, the full Council or other scrutiny committees. 
Meetings are open to the public and all reports are available to the public unless exempt or 
confidential, when the items would be considered in closed session. 

 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print ver sion of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, giving as much notice as possible before the 
meeting  

A hearing loop is available at County Hall. 



 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

 To receive any apologies for absence and temporary appointments.  

2. Declaration of Interests  

 See guidance note on the back page. 

3. Petitions and Public Addresses  

 Members of the public who wish to speak on an item on the agenda at this meeting, or 
present a petition, can attend the meeting in person or ‘virtually’ through an online 

connection.  
 

Requests to speak must be submitted no later than 09.00 three working days before the 
meeting, i.e., Friday 19 September, 2025. 
 

Requests should be submitted to the Scrutiny Officer at scrutiny@oxfordshire.gov.uk. 
  

If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a written statement of your presentation 
to ensure that if the technology fails, then your views can still be taken into account. A 
written copy of your statement can be provided no later than 9am on the day of the 

meeting. Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 sheet. 
 

Where there are a number of requests from persons wishing to present similar views on 
the same issue, the Chair may require that the views be put by a single spokesperson. 
It is expected that only in exceptional circumstances will a person (or organisation) be 

allowed to address more than one meeting on a particular issue in any period of six 
months. 

4. Local Government Reorganisation Progress Update (Pages 1 - 124) 

 Cllr Liz Leffman, the Leader of the Council, has been invited to present a progress 
update on the Council’s work on Local Government Reorganisation.  Martin Reeves, 

Chief Executive, Lorna Baxter, Executive Director of Resources and s.151 Officer 
(Deputy Chief Executive), and Helen Mitchell, Programme Director: Local Government 

Reorganisation, have also been invited to attend and to answer the Committee’s 
questions. 
 
The Committee is asked to consider the report and raise any questions, and to AGREE 

any recommendations it wishes to make to Cabinet arising therefrom. 

 
The report, annexes 1-4, and the background paper are attached.  Annexe 5 is to 
follow. 

mailto:scrutiny@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

Councillors declaring interests  
 

General duty  

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 

on the agenda headed ‘Declarations of Interest’ or as soon as it becomes apparent to 

you.  

 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?  

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your employment; sponsorship (i.e. payment for 

expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 

election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the 

Council’s area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be 

recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the 

Council’s website.  

 

Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member 

her or himself but also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with 

as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 

Declaring an interest  

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a 

meeting, you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature 

as well as the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after 

having declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the 

item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.  

 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception  

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code 

of Conduct says that a member ‘must serve only the public interest and must never 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself’ and 

that ‘you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 

questioned’.  

 

Members Code – Other registrable interests  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your other registerable interests then you must declare an  interest. 

You must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and you must withdraw from 

the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.  

 

Wellbeing can be described as a condition of contentedness, healthiness and happiness; 

anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, either positively or 

negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing. 

Other registrable interests include:  

a) Any unpaid directorships 

b) Any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority. 



- 2 - 
 

 

c) Any body (i) exercising functions of a public nature (ii) directed to charitable 

purposes or (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of which you are a 

member or in a position of general control or management. 

 

Members Code – Non-registrable interests  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 

wellbeing (and does not fall under disclosable pecuniary interests), or the financial 

interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate, you must declare the interest.  

 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or wellbeing, 

a financial interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate or a financial interest or 

wellbeing of a body included under other registrable interests, then you must declare the 

interest.  

 

In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after disclosing your 

interest the following test should be applied:  

Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being:  

a) to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;  

a) a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest. 

 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at 

the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter 

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

Divisions Affected- all 
 

PLACE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

24 September 2025 
 

  LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION PROGRESS UPDATE 
 
Report of the Executive Director of Resources, Section 151 Officer  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to: 

 

A. To note the progress of Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) at the 

County Council;  
B. To critically evaluate the progress of the LGR programme, key areas of the 

proposal of a single unitary council for Oxfordshire, and the engagement 

pursued against the guidance in the statutory invitation; 
C. To make recommendations to Cabinet as the Committee sees fit. 

 

Executive Summary 

 

2. The English Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill was published on 
10 July 2025. The Bill re-affirmed the government’s goals to achieve the most 

significant reforms to local government since the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

3. This report provides an update on the work the council has undertaken in 

response to the aforementioned Bill and the statutory invitation for LGR in 
Oxfordshire, having received feedback from the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG): 
 
(a) Background and contextual information 

(b) Benefits of the ‘one unitary’ proposal for Local Government 
Reorganisation (LGR) in Oxfordshire 

(c) Assessment against Statutory Invitation requirements for LGR 
(d) Engagement with residents and other relevant stakeholders that has 

occurred and is being pursued 

(e) Next steps in the LGR process – both in local and central government. 
 

4. An update is being provided well ahead of a scheduled decision to allow for due 
consideration and scrutiny by the Committee and any recommendations to be 
made to Cabinet in a timely fashion. The council deems this especially important 

considering the wide-ranging implications of LGR on the County Council and for 
the delivery of public services across the area, in line with the legislative 

provisions set out in the Local Government Act 2000 for Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/4002


   

 

   

 

Background  

 
5. The Government has set out its intention to significantly reform, at great pace, 

local government structures and implement devolution across England. 
 

6. The Government wishes to see successor councils emerge from the current 
two-tier system of district and county councils and that those successor 
councils and the existing unitary - structured councils of England must join a 

Strategic Authority. 
 

7. Since the receipt of the statutory invitation, all councils across Oxfordshire have 
been working together on initial options accompanied by a single interim plan. 
This plan for Oxfordshire’s proposals was submitted to Government on 21 

March 2025. The plan set out three proposals: 
 

(a) A single unitary council for Oxfordshire – this is the County Council’s 
preferred option.  

(b) Two unitary councils – Oxford and Shires Council (covering the 

geography of Oxford City, West Oxfordshire and Cherwell District 
Councils) and Ridgeway Council (covering the geography of South 

Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils and West 
Berkshire Council).  

(c) Three unitary councils – Greater Oxford Council (covering the geography 

of  Oxford and its Green Belt); Northern Oxfordshire Council (covering 
most of the geography of Cherwell and West Oxfordshire districts); 

Ridgeway Council (covering the geography of most of the existing South 
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse districts combined with existing 
West Berkshire unitary based on the proposals being developed by those 

councils, but with those villages within the Green Belt closest to the city 
becoming part of Greater Oxford). 

 

8. As option (a) is the only one being actively developed by the county council, this 

report will primarily discuss a single unitary council for Oxfordshire. Respective 

councils in Oxfordshire and West Berkshire are developing their preferred 

options and the County Council is collaborating with them to supply relevant 

data and test our thinking for public service reform via a series of teach in 

sessions.   

 
9. The Government has stopped short of instructing places on how to reorganise 

local government, and arrive at successor councils, but instead has been clear 
that areas must work together on a proposal/s for the benefit of residents. 

 
10. The Government has set out guidance within the statutory invitation to support 

local government reorganisation. That guidance includes: 

 
(a) Size/council footprint to achieve efficiency saving – new Councils as a 

guiding principle must be a minimum of 500,000 or more with exceptions 
on a case by cases basis;  

(b) Deliver high quality and sustainable services;  

Page 2



   

 

   

 

(c) Enable devolution to a Strategic Authority; 
(d) Empower neighbourhoods and; 
(e) Be informed by a level of engagement. 

 
11. The Government has requested that Councils commence work to reorganise in 

two phases. The first phase was to share outline proposals to Government by 
21 March 2025. Feedback was received on all three proposals. The second 
phase is to commence the development of final proposals, and the Government 

expects all Councils to respond by no later than 28 November 2025.  
 

12. The Government has not suggested that the features of the guidance, 
evidenced in paragraph 10 above are weighted in any way, to prioritise one over 
the other. Therefore, the ultimate decision will be the Secretary of State’s 

after the submission on 28 November 2025 based on the relative merits of 

each proposal and matters arising from the statutory consultation which the 

Secretary of State, via their department, will launch, manage and may report 
the findings of. 
 

13. Against this backdrop, the Council is also progressing the establishment of a 
Mayoral Strategic Authority and has held several meetings with Councils across 

Berkshire and Swindon.  The direction of travel for Government, through the 
Devolution White Paper and the Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill 
is that all Councils must form part of a Strategic Authority.  

 
14. The delivery of LGR and devolution in tandem with maintaining delivery of vital 

services and forthcoming national policy change across SEND and the NHS to 

name two examples presents significant risk and opportunity for the people of 
Oxfordshire.  Whilst the county council are at an early phase of both local 

government reorganisation and devolution, Members must note that delivering 
on the decisions of national government with regard to the future shape of local 
government and devolution will be a significant and costly undertaking.   

 
15. In preparation for this, the County Council took a decision earlier this year in 

which to set aside a budget of £10m to fund these changes but it will not cover 
the costs in full.  Increases to that budget will be needed to cover further costs. 
    

16. At the time of writing this report, we are awaiting work from PWC to detail the 
financial model of a future Council for Oxfordshire. This will, as a minimum, 

include savings from consolidating into a single council, the costs of transition, 
the length of time it will take to pay back the costs of transition (known as ‘the 
payback’), the projected costs of disaggregating services currently delivered at 

a county level and any indicative savings arising from transformation of this 
nature.  This information will be issued to the Committee by addendum prior to 

the Committee’s meeting.   

Benefits of the Single Unitary Council Proposal 

 
Closer to Communities  
 

17. The three pillars that have guided the development of the proposal are  

Page 3



   

 

   

 

 Closer to communities 

 Connected  

 Cost effective  

 
The outcomes of our engagement, shown later in this report, showed a clear 

response from the public to minimal disruption arising from local government 
reorganisation.  To that end, the County Council will focus on ways in which it 

can embed this into its proposal.    
 

18. A brand-new council provides the opportunity to fundamentally revisit delivery, 

decision making and democracy at different spatial levels to ensure efficacy 
and equity using, as a starting point, fifty years’ experience of delivering 

services across Oxfordshire.   
 

19. The County Council recognised at the earliest stage that there would be a 

perception that a single council for Oxfordshire could be seen as ‘remote’ or 
‘distant’ from its communities or be seen as ‘too big’ even though it has been 

delivering the overwhelming majority of services by expenditure – currently at 
85% - since 1974.   
 

20. It is worth noting that any successor Council will be larger – whether that be as 
a result of a change of geography, population, service portfolio, risk, financial 

exposure or a blend of all those elements.   
 

21. As a result, the County Council commissioned the Centre for Governance and 

Scrutiny to undertake a piece of work to seek to identify ways in which to 
localise a future Council or Councils.  Their report outlined a framework for 

arriving at ways in which to ensure any successor Council or Councils can 
ensure it remains connected to communities and can discharge future 
functions relating to neighbourhood governance.  That report is enclosed at 
Annex 4. District Council colleagues and councillors, as well as a range of 

partners contributed to this work and have received a copy of it.   

 
22. A new council has an opportunity to further enhance the role of Town and 

Parish Councils, and the County Council is working with Oxfordshire 

Association of Local Councils (OALC) to consider this in its single unitary 
council proposal via a Town and Parish Framework which builds on the 

existing Town and Parish Charter.  It should be noted that Government have 
shared that places ‘need to think very carefully about establishing new Town 
and Parish Councils’ - that they are not a solution to neighbourhood 

empowerment and have shared correspondence with Councils to suggest that 
‘every local authority hardwires local community engagement into their own 

structures, preferably through neighbourhood Area Committees’.   That said, 
the city status of Oxford is held by the City Council and it is essential that this 
status is not lost through transition. There is precedence for this and that must 

be learned from.     
 

23. The continuity for the City must be provided by the establishment of Charter 

Trustees and this extends to all other civic and ceremonial roles and artefacts 

Page 4



   

 

   

 

held by all councils due to be succeeded as a result of local government 
reorganisation.   
 

24. A new Council has the opportunity to establish a set of Area Committees to 
enable community activity and strengthen a future Councils’ understanding of 

place and places.  By doing this, it will enable elected Members to be at the 
centre of their communities driving local intelligence gathering and action in 
concert with residents, the voluntary and community sector, town and parish 

councils and other stakeholders.     
 

25. A new Council would need to have more members than the current County 
Council but fewer than all Councillors across Oxfordshire presently. Current 
estimations are below based on the Local Government Boundary 

Commission’s Guidance. 
 

Council 
Size 

Relative 
Cost 

Relative 
Workload 

Relative 
Representation 

69 Very Low Very High Very Low 

95 Low High Low 

101 Low-Medium Medium-High Low-Medium 

108 Medium Medium Medium 

119 Medium-High Low-Medium Medium - High 

138 Very High Very Low Very High 

 
Connected  

 

26. A single unitary council option provides a clear, single front door which creates 

ease of access for residents, businesses and investors to the full suite of 
council services.  

 
27. It allows for the continuity of Oxfordshire as a defined place and governed as 

so with coterminous administrative and ceremonial boundaries. This will 

significantly reduce disruption that Local Government Reorganisation will 
bring.  

 
28. It creates opportunities to cluster, on a functional basis, connected services 

e.g. housing, transport, planning, economic development and energy, 

alongside, public health, wellbeing and leisure, parks and open spaces. This 
provides opportunities to deliver services fairly across the entire county, with 

local divergence where needed. This will enable deeper integration with 
partners such as Thames Valley Police and the NHS and provides the ability 
to progress public sector reform at scale.  

 
29. This option allows a strong, single voice for the county to be heard locally, 

regionally and nationally and with the incorporation of Area Committees, 
enable a new Council to hear, more sharply the issues and needs of local 
communities.   

 
Cost Effective  

 

Page 5



   

 

   

 

30. This section will be covered by the addendum to be published prior to the 
Committee’s meeting.  

Assessment against Statutory Invitation requirements for LGR 

 
31. The high-level criteria of the statutory invitation are shown at Annex 2. This 

element of the report will account for how the County Council is progressing 
against those criteria.   
 

Size/council footprint to achieve efficiency savings 
 

32. As outlined in the statutory guidance, proposals for unitary authorities should 
aim to encompass a minimum population of 500,000. The population of the 
county of Oxfordshire is c.750,000 and thus comfortably meets this 

requirement and provides the scale required for resilient service delivery. 
Research conducted by the County Council Network repeatedly finds that 

scale is a key determinant necessary for unitarisation of local authorities to be 
most effective. 
 

33. Consolidating the full suite of local government services into a single unitary 
structure at scale will create stronger, simpler services for the whole of 

Oxfordshire.  By doing this we will enrich vital services and ensure cost 
effectiveness, confidence and continuity in local government for the long term. 

 
Deliver high quality and sustainable services 
 

34. A single unitary across Oxfordshire will facilitate the progression of public 
sector reform more rapidly, with deeper partnerships across the length and 
breadth of the county, the region and the country. This is a result of focusing 

available time on improving services and not the process of disaggregating 
services across new organisations or moving them into new models of care 

provision.  
 

35. LGR will create a vital step change in how the council funds, designs and 

reinvests in services. This will create a broad mission across the county and 
beyond to connect talent with opportunity and drive better outcomes and life 

chances for present and future generations. 
 

36. Crucially the single unitary model is best placed to secure the continuous 

provision of adults and children's social care, safeguarding, some 

homelessness and SEND services. Not least because many of these services 

are already delivered at the county level by the county council and thus the 

transition to a unitary county wide authority will minimise disruption.  

 

37. Additionally, in regard to housing and homelessness, bringing teams and 

systems together under a single county unitary will create efficiencies and 

opportunity to use best practice from the legacy councils and elsewhere 

across a wider scale. A unitary authority can better align public health, social 

services, housing, and homelessness to deliver more effective solutions, be a 

Page 6



   

 

   

 

single point of coordination for the voluntary sector and the Integrated Care 

System and use the stability of strong financial position to plan and deliver for 

the long term.   
 

Enable Devolution to a Strategic Authority  

 

38. The creation of a Mayoral Strategic Authority (MSA) in the region is about 

maximising the potential of each area to contribute to a shared vision of 

progress. By leveraging the unique assets and capabilities in the region, the 

MSA will be well-positioned to address regional challenges, attract investment, 

and create a sustainable future for all residents. The focus on inclusive growth 

ensures that the benefits of this initiative will be felt across all communities, 

promoting equity and enhancing the overall quality of life. 

 

39. Across the Oxfordshire geography, whilst Oxford is the only settlement 

formally designated as a city, many of the county’s towns such as Banbury, 

Bicester, Didcot and Witney are economic powerhouses in their own right - 

hosting major employers, innovation hubs, and transport infrastructure. A 

single voice for Oxfordshire – given it is a highly connected place – is essential 

and only a single unitary for Oxfordshire will be hard wired to have that voice. 

 

40. A single unitary council for Oxfordshire provides unified leadership and 

strategic coherence. It removes the friction and deadlock often seen between 

sovereign organisations. Decisions are made by one elected body, supported 

by a single officer corps, enhancing accountability and reducing the potential 

for inertia. 

 

41. Inclusive growth requires scale. A single county unitary can operate across a 

broader geography, enabling it to tackle systemic issues such as health 

inequalities, housing shortages, and employment gaps with greater agility and 

impact. Oxfordshire functions as an integrated socio-economic ecosystem, 

with interdependent communities. Transport connections are present, but the 

overall network is not strong enough.   

 

42. A single county unitary offers a unified planning authority, capable of 

delivering coherent spatial strategies that align with MSA ambitions. It ensures 

that planning is not only strategic across the MSA but also internally consistent 

within the unitary boundary. This coherence is essential for delivering 

infrastructure, housing, transport and economic services in a way that 

supports inclusive growth. 

 

43. A county-wide unitary integrates urban and rural priorities. It will ensure that 

inclusive growth reaches all communities, not just those within city limits. This 

is particularly important for MSAs, which aim to reduce regional disparities and 

promote equitable development. 

 

 

Page 7



   

 

   

 

 

 

Empower Neighbourhoods  

 

44. Oxfordshire County Council’s established community wealth building approach 
reconnects local people with the places that generate wealth, using 

progressive procurement and fair employment practices supported by anchor 
institutions. Through partnerships with organisations like Centre for Local 

Economic Strategies (CLES) and the Community Action Group Network, the 
council has developed a deep understanding of the local economy and 
empowered grassroots leaders to drive social and environmental change. 

 
45. The council can build on the existing community wealth building infrastructure 

as a unitary, bringing decision making closer to communities and unlocking 
further community control. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) 
has suggested that devolving aspects of community wealth building to locality-

led groups could be a means of local democratic engagement in a unitarised 
Oxfordshire.  

 
46. LGR also opens up opportunities to expand Community Asset Transfer (CAT), 

to the benefit of our residents and communities. The county council properties 

that can be transferred currently are limited, but unitarisation would mean 
more properties could be included, as well as making our approach to CAT 

across the county more uniform. This would benefit our community enterprise 
sector by making it simpler and easier to take advantage of asset transfers 
around the county. 

 
47. CfGS’ research has also suggested establishing area committees in new 

Unitary authorities to both empower neighbourhoods and address issues 
surrounding ‘remoteness’ of large county wide unitary authorities. This model 
has been taken on in Buckinghamshire: 

 
48. Buckinghamshire County Council established area committees, known as 

Community Boards, as part of a move to a unitary authority structure. The aim 
was to bring the council closer to local communities, enhance engagement, 
and provide a mechanism for local decision-making and partnership working.  

 
49. The boards were intended to be local engagement opportunities, not just grant 

funders, and to facilitate collaboration between the council, councillors, and 
local stakeholders. 
 

50. Buckinghamshire’s area committees (Community Boards) have become a key 
mechanism for councillor leadership and community engagement, evolving 
from grant-giving bodies to enablers of local partnership and action. Their 

success relies on strong member involvement, effective officer support, and 
ongoing adaptation to local needs and resources. 

   
Be informed by a level of engagement  
 

Page 8



   

 

   

 

51. Internal and external engagement pursued by the council has been guided by 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) which, 
in a letter dated 6 February 2025 outlined the following guidance for 

engagement: 
 

(a) “Proposals should include evidence of local engagement, an 
explanation of the views that have been put forward and how concerns 
will be addressed.” 

(b) “We also expect local leaders to engage their Members of Parliament, 
and to ensure there is wide engagement with local partners and 

stakeholders, residents, workforce and their representatives, and 
businesses on a proposal.” 

(c) “The engagement that is undertaken should both inform the 

development of robust proposals and should also build a shared 
understanding of the improvements you expect to deliver through 

reorganisation.” 
 

52. Additional guidance was given in a letter dated 3 June 2025 and addressed to 

all districts and the county council in Oxfordshire, states:  
 

(a) “It is for you [relevant local council] to decide how best to engage locally 
in a meaningful and constructive way with residents, voluntary 
sector, local community groups, parish councils, public sector 

providers, such as health, police and fire, and local businesses to 
inform your proposals.” 

 
Internal Engagement 

 

53. Since June 2025, there has been internal engagement on LGR and the single 
unitary council for Oxfordshire proposal. This engagement includes the 
following: 

 
(a) Senior managers (briefings and active involvement in programme); 

(b) Colleague inclusion networks and values champions; 
(c) LGR and Devolution ‘ambassadors’ from each directorate within the 

council; 

(d) All councillor briefings and briefings of Political Group Leaders;  
(e) Audit and Governance Committee (July 2025); 

(f) This Committee (Place Overview and Scrutiny) 
 
External Engagement 

 
54. External engagement has also been pursued across residents and wider 

stakeholders in Oxfordshire from June to September 2025. 
 
This engagement includes the following: 

 
(a) Residents and Wider Stakeholders: Online open survey (hosted on 

Let’s Talk Oxfordshire), LGR questions in Residents’ survey, street 

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-invitation-to-local-authorities-in-two-tier-areas/letter-oxfordshire#annex-a
https://letstalk.oxfordshire.gov.uk/local-government-reorganisation


   

 

   

 

interviews, school engagement and an external commission of 

independent focus groups. 

(b) Local businesses:  LGR business engagement sessions, virtual town 

hall, written correspondence (i.e. letters) 

(c) Local MPs: Joint meetings for all Oxfordshire MPs, one to one meetings 

and written correspondence (i.e. letters) 

(d) Local Councils: Oxfordshire Association of Local Councils (OALC) 

‘Talking Tables’ session, meetings with individual town councils, a 

public meeting convened by the Chair of Beckley and Stowood Parish 

Council, and a workshop for ‘larger’ Town Councils and the Oxford City 

Parishes is being planned; 

(e) Voluntary and Community Services: virtual Q&A session hosted by 

Oxfordshire Community and Voluntary Action (OCVA) with 

representatives from all three proposals present as well as individual 

meetings where requested; 

(f) Public sector providers: meetings with Thames Valley Police and Crime 

Commissioner, written communication (i.e. letters) with NHS 

commissioners and providers  

55. Further information on the engagement undertaken is detailed in Annex 3. 

Incorporation of feedback into proposal 

56. The feedback gathered from these engagements (especially concerns 

identified) has been incorporated into the council's preparation of the final 

proposal for central government. 

Strengths  

Cost Efficiency Cost efficiency is a key benefit identified 

by residents, especially potential to 
reduce duplications and streamline 

service delivery. 
 

Simplicity and accountability Residents and stakeholders alike 
identified that one council for the county 

will simplify interaction with local 
government.  

 
Additionally, accountability was linked to 
simplicity as residents and stakeholders 

will be able to raise concerns without 
being passed between councils as often 

occurs in the current system. 
 

Concerns  

Page 10



   

 

   

 

Loss of local knowledge, balance of 

urban/rural priorities and size (too big) 

Research was commissioned for the 

CfGS to explore how neighbourhood 

governance - the ways in which decisions 

are made closer to communities - might 

evolve following local government 

reorganisation in the county.  This 

research has been taken on board to 

address the concerns around local 

knowledge, balance and size and 

considered in the development 

neighbourhood governance. More 

specifically, there is active consideration 

of provisional ‘area committees’ made up 

of neighbouring councillors to enhance 

the links between residents and the 

unitary council. 

A new Parish and Town Council 

framework will enhance joint working and 

explore future opportunities for the design 

and delivery of services.   

The creation of Charter Trustees will 

protect city status and ceremonial assets 

and roles.   

Training of staff/councillors to deal with 
broader remit 

A future Council would need to develop 
and deliver a new training programme for 
future unitary councillors. 

 
The County Council has already 
developed a network of LGR and 

Devolution staff ambassadors.  Work will 
start shortly on how we can use that 

network to develop familiarity with other 
services and, potentially, colleagues 
across Oxfordshire. Regardless of the 

outcome of LGR – workforces will be 
coming together in some way and 

therefore there should be a shared 
interest in early planning for a transition 
to any new future.   

Cost and disruption of transition LGR is mandated by government, so   
continuing the status quo is not an option.  
 

The one unitary proposal is designed with 
the aim to minimise this disruption as 

Page 11



   

 

   

 

much as possible as services delivered 

by the County Council, children's and 
adults social care, public health, 
education, SEND, transport, trading 

standards etc, will be maintained.   
Cost information will be provided in the 

addendum to this report.  
  

Fewer local contact points/staff 

 

A single unitary council will provide 
simplified contact points with all services 

provided by one organisation, across the 
county.  

 

A single council offers the ability to 

undertake a significant review of our 

estate across Oxfordshire – ensuring 

council buildings fit for the future with 

opportunities to co-locate services with 

the wider public sector and the voluntary 

and community sector.   

 

 

Next Steps 

 
57. Government expects final proposals for LGR by 28 November 2025. The 

County Council’s Cabinet will meet on 13 November to agree its preferred 
option for reform.  This Committee will meet on 12th November to be assured, 

or not, that any recommendations arising from this session have been 
integrated.  
 

58. Following the 28 November deadline, central government will then pursue a 
statutory consultation ‘in the new year’ on any LGR proposals that are chosen 

for consideration.  
 

59. A provisional timeline for Government process following the 28 November 

deadline is laid out in the letter sent from the Minister to relevant council 
leaders on the 25 July 2025 Annex 5.  

 
(a) Government Consultation ‘could be launched’ in early 2026 and 

‘would likely close after the local elections in May’ [2026] Note this 

timeline is entirely controlled by central government. 
 

(b) Following this, secondary legislation would then be presented to the 

House of Commons after Summer recess 2026 (dates to be 
determined) 

 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-letter-to-areas-invited-to-submitted-final-proposals/summary-of-the-local-government-reorganisation-process


   

 

   

 

(c) Once the legislation has gone through and been approved by the 
Houses of Parliament elections to the new authorities could occur on 6 

May 2027 with new authorities going live on 1 April 2028 

 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 
60. The Council has agreed strategic priorities in which to:  

 

(a) Play our part in a vibrant and participatory local democracy.  
(b) Invest in an inclusive, integrated and sustainable transport network. 

(c) Work with local businesses and partners for environmental, economic 
and social benefit.  

(d) Tackle inequalities in Oxfordshire. 

 
61. Progression of reorganisation ambition, in tandem with devolution, will provide 

a successor Council or Councils with new responsibilities in which to progress 
social, economic and cultural objectives. 
 

62. Local government reorganisation will require partners to ensure democratic 
participation and voice is protected and where possible, strengthened as part of 

this process. 

Financial Implications 

 

63. The County Council has set aside £10m one-off funding towards the costs of 
Local Government Reorganisation and Devolution in Oxfordshire. The 

financial implications of the proposal for one unitary authority will be shared 
within an addendum to this report to be published prior to the meeting. 

64. Kathy Wilcox, Head of Corporate Finance and Deputy s151 Officer. 

 

Legal Implications 

 
65. Local government reorganisation is governed by the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The Secretary of State can at any time 

invite proposals for a single tier of local government from local authorities and 
also has the power to direct authorities to submit proposals.   

  

66. The Council has been invited to submit a proposal for local government 

reorganisation in accordance with Section 7 of the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and has been asked to submit a 

finalised plan by 28 November 2025.  

 

67. The approval of the Council’s final plan proposal is an executive function in 

accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 Section 9D(2). 

  

Page 13



   

 

   

 

68. Following submission of the final plan by 28 November 2025, should the 

government decide to implement any proposal, legislation will have to be 

agreed by parliament prior to moving to elections to new “shadow” unitary 

authorities. At this stage it is envisaged that these elections would be held in 

May 2027.  

 

69. A shadow authority is one that is elected to carry out the functions of a new 

unitary council until that authority formally comes into effect. This is commonly 

called “vesting day.” 

  

70. The best value duty is contained in s3 of the Local Government Act 1999 as a 

result of which the Council is under a duty to make arrangements to secure 

continuous improvement in the way in which functions are exercised, having 

regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. This report 

and the addendum sets out within it the financial and other implications of the 

recommended final plan which Members are advised to consider in full. 

  

71. Comments checked by: 
  

Jay Akbar 
 Head of Legal & Governance Services, Jay.Akbar@Oxfordshire.gov.uk 

(Legal) 
 

 

Staff Implications 

 

72. The County Council has already invested in the delivery of LGR and Devolution 
through the appointment of a very small staff team which will expand as the 
Council makes active preparations to deliver on both these transformative 

changes to local government in Oxfordshire and the Thames Valley.   
 

73. Significant amounts of staff time will be needed to deliver local government 
reorganisation and devolution, whilst, at the same time continuing to deliver 
services on behalf of Oxfordshire County Council.  Further such information 

should be provided to this Committee in November.   

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
74. None immediately arising from this report.  A full Equality Impact Assessment 

will be required to support Cabinet’s decision on 13 November.  This will be 

considered by this Committee on 12 November.  

Sustainability Implications 

 
75. None immediately arising from this report. 

 

Page 14

mailto:Jay.Akbar@Oxfordshire.gov.uk


   

 

   

 

Risk Management 

 
76. None immediately arising from this report, but an analysis of the financial risks 

will be presented in the addendum.   
 

 
Helen Mitchell 
Programme Director – Local Government Reorganisation 

 
 

Annex 1: Letter from His Majesty’s Government – 3 June 2025  
Annex 2: Letter from His Majesty’s Government – 6 February 2025 - Letter: 

Oxfordshire - GOV.UK 

 Annex 3: Further detail on LGR engagements 
Annex 4: Centre for Governance and Scrutiny, August 2025: Neighbourhood 

Governance in Oxfordshire 
Annex 5: Letter from His Majesty’s Government – 25 July 2025 Summary of the local 

government reorganisation process - GOV.UK 

 
 

Background papers:  
 REMind Research, July 2025 
 

 
Contact Officer: Helen Mitchell, Programme Director Local Government 

Reorganisation 
 Helen.mitchell@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
September 2025 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-invitation-to-local-authorities-in-two-tier-areas/letter-oxfordshire#annex-a
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-invitation-to-local-authorities-in-two-tier-areas/letter-oxfordshire#annex-a
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-letter-to-areas-invited-to-submitted-final-proposals/summary-of-the-local-government-reorganisation-process
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-letter-to-areas-invited-to-submitted-final-proposals/summary-of-the-local-government-reorganisation-process


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

3 June 2025 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 

INTERIM PLAN FEEDBACK: OXFORDSHIRE 

To the Chief Executives of: 

Cherwell District Council  

Oxford City Council  

Oxfordshire County Council  

South Oxfordshire District Council  

Vale of White Horse District Council  

West Oxfordshire District Council 

Overview 

Thank you for submitting your interim plans. The amount of work from all councils is 

clear to see across the range of options. For the final proposal(s), each council can 

submit a single proposal for which there must be a clear single option and geography 

and as set out in the guidance we expect this to be for the area as a whole, that is, the 

whole of the area to which the 5 February invitation was issued, not partial coverage. 

Our aim for the feedback on interim plans is to support areas to develop final 

proposal(s). This stage is not a decision-making point, and our feedback does not seek 

to approve or reject any option being considered. 

The feedback provided relates to the following: 

• The interim plan submitted on behalf of all Oxfordshire Councils  

• A new ‘Ridgeway Council’ for West Berkshire, South Oxfordshire and the Vale 

of White Horse: Interim proposal for a new unitary council 

We have provided feedback on behalf of central government. It takes the form of:  

1. A summary of the main feedback points,    

2. Our response to the specific barriers and challenges raised in your plans,  

3. An annex with more detailed feedback against each of the interim plan asks.  

We reference the guidance criteria included in the invitation letter throughout, a copy 

can be found at Letter: Oxfordshire – GOV.UK. Our central message is to build on 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-reorganisation-invitation-to-local-authorities-in-two-tier-areas/letter-oxfordshire


 

2 

 

your initial work and ensure that your final proposal(s) address the criteria and are 

supported by data and evidence. We recommend that your final proposal(s) should 

use the same assumptions and data sets or be clear where and why there is a 

difference. 

We welcome the work that has been undertaken across proposals to develop local 

government reorganisation plans for Oxfordshire. This feedback does not seek to 

approve or discount any option or proposal, but provide feedback designed to assist 

in the development of final proposals. We will assess your final proposal(s) against the 

guidance criteria provided in the invitation letter and have tailored this feedback to 

identify where additional information may be helpful in enabling that assessment. 

Please note that this feedback is not exhaustive and should not preclude the inclusion 

of additional materials or evidence in the final proposals. In addition, your named area 

lead in MHCLG, Jesse Garrick, will be able to provide support and help address any 

further questions or queries.   

We are providing written feedback to invitation areas individually, but we will be led by 

you on how verbal feedback is best delivered and who is most appropriate to attend a 

feedback meeting, given that some of your proposals include an existing unitary 

council outside the invitation area. 

Summary of Feedback: 

We have summarised the key elements of the feedback below, with further detail 

provided in the Annex.  

1. We note that options under consideration include West Berkshire Council. As noted 

in the invitation, it is open to you to explore options with neighbouring councils in 

addition to those included in the invitation. Only those councils named on the 

invitation can submit a proposal, but affected neighbouring councils can jointly 

submit with a named council. If your final proposal(s) include a neighbouring 

council(s) from outside the invitation area you should clearly outline the 

implications of the proposal for that neighbouring council(s) and its wider 

area. As above, any proposal, regardless of whether a neighbouring 

council(s) is included, should set out a single, clear option and geography 

that covers the whole of the area to which the 5 February invitation was 

issued, not partial coverage. 

 

2. We note that some of your proposals may lead to boundary changes. As the 

invitation sets out, boundary changes are possible, but “existing district areas 

should be considered the building blocks for proposals, but where there is a strong 

justification more complex boundary changes will be considered.”  

The final proposal(s) must specify the area for any new unitary council(s). If 

a boundary change is part of your final proposal, then you should be clear on 

the boundary proposed, which could be identified by a parish or ward 

boundary, or if creating new boundaries by attaching a map.  

Page 18



 

3 

 

Proposals should be developed having regard to the statutory guidance which sets 

out the criteria against which proposals will be assessed (including that listed 

above). 

 

If a decision is taken to implement a proposal, boundary change can be achieved 

alongside structural change. Alternatively, you could make a proposal for unitary 

local government using existing district building blocks and consider requesting a 

Principal Area Boundary Review (PABR) later. Such reviews have been used for 

minor amendments to a boundary where both councils have requested a review – 

such as the recent Sheffield/Barnsley boundary adjustment for a new housing 

estate. PABRs are the responsibility of the Local Government Boundary 

Commission for England who will consider such requests case-by-case. 

 

3. In some of the options you are considering populations that would be above or 

below 500,000. As set out in the Statutory Invitation guidance and in the English 

Devolution White Paper, we outlined a population size of 500,000 or more. This is 

a guiding principle, not a hard target – we understand that there should be flexibility, 

especially given our ambition to build out devolution and take account of housing 

growth, alongside local government reorganisation. All proposals, whether they 

are at the guided level, above it, or below it, should set out the rationale for 

the proposed approach clearly.  

 

4. The criteria ask that consideration should be given to the impacts for crucial 

services such as social care, children’s services, SEND and homelessness, and for 

wider public services including for public safety (see criterion 3). For any options 

where there is disaggregation, further detail will be helpful on how the 

different options might impact on these services and how risks can be 

mitigated.  

5. We welcome the steps Oxfordshire councils have taken to come together to prepare 

proposals (as per criterion 4): 

a. Effective collaboration between all councils will be crucial; we would 

encourage you to continue to build strong relationships and agree ways 

of working, including around effective data sharing. This will support the 

development of a robust shared evidence base to underpin final 

proposal(s).  

b. It would be helpful if your final proposal(s) use the same assumptions and 

data sets or be clear where and why there is a difference.  

c. It would be helpful if your final proposal(s) set out how the data and 

evidence supports all the outcomes you have included, and how well they 

meet the assessment criteria in the invitation letter.  

d. You may wish to consider an options appraisal that will help demonstrate 

why your proposed approach in the round best meets the assessment 

Page 19



 

4 

 

criteria in the invitation letter compared to any alternatives. 

 

6. We welcome the steps taken to engage neighbouring areas in a discussion about 

future devolution. Across all local government reorganisation proposal(s), looking 

towards a future Strategic Authority, it would be helpful to outline how each 

option would interact with a Strategic Authority and best benefit the local 

community, including meeting the criteria for sensible geography in the White 

Paper and devolution statutory tests. 

 

Response to specific barriers and challenges raised  

Please see below our response to the specific barriers and challenges that were raised 

in your interim plans. 

1. Deadline for submission 

Within your single unitary option, you have indicated a desire to submit your 

proposal(s) before the November deadline to allow you to progress your devolution 

and economic plans to a faster timetable. Councils can submit their proposals when 

they are ready, but we will not be able to consider them before the respective deadlines. 

2.  Interim proposal feedback 

You have asked whether Government will indicate which proposal(s) they are not 

minded to approve following a review of the interim plans. Interim plans are not a 

decision-making point and decisions will be made on the basis of full proposals. As 

stated above this feedback does not seek to approve or discount any option or 

proposal, but provide some feedback designed to assist in the development of final 

proposals.  

3. Final proposal assessment 

You have asked how Government will assess final proposals, particularly if there is 

more than one potential option which meets the criteria for local government 

reorganisation within an area. 

The criteria are not weighted. Our aim for this feedback is to support areas to develop 

final proposals that address the criteria and are supported by data and evidence. 

Decisions on the most appropriate option for each area will be judgements in the round, 

having regard to the guidance and the available evidence.    

4. National funding reforms 

You have asked for clarity about reforms to local government funding. Government 

recently consulted on funding reforms and confirmed that some transitional protections 

will be in place to support areas to their new allocations. Further details on funding 

reform proposals and transition measures will be consulted on after the Spending 

Review in June. We will not be able to provide further clarification on future allocations 

Page 20



 

5 

 

in the meantime, but are open to discussing assumptions further if we can assist in 

financial planning. 

5. Legislation for extending public contracts 

In order to ensure the maximum benefits can be achieved through local government 

reorganisation, you have asked the government to consider legislating at the earliest 

opportunity to enable the extension of existing contracts and avoid the unnecessary 

duplication of contracts, and commitment of public funds, noting the powers of the 

Secretary of State under section 24 of the Local Government and Public Involvement 

in Health Act 2007 (the 2007 Act).We can discuss the making of such directions for 

areas going through reorganisation under the current programme at the appropriate 

time – such directions cannot be made until legislation is made to establish new 

authorities. 

In the meantime, the invitation was clear that interim plans should set out any voluntary 

arrangements that have been agreed to keep all councils involved in discussions as 

this work moves forward and to help balance the decisions needed now to maintain 

service delivery and ensure value for money for council taxpayers, with those key 

decisions that will affect the future success of any new councils in the area. 

In the meantime, we expect Councils to be pragmatic and take account of the LGR 

landscape when taking decisions on contractual arrangements. This is important to 

demonstrating the value for money of contractual arrangements moving forwards. 

6. National SEND system reforms 

We note your financial concerns about Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

(SEND) services and request for more information about national reforms to SEND 

provision.  

The government has provided a £1 billion increase to SEND and Alternative Provision 

funding in 2025-26. This is an important step in realising the Government’s vision to 

reform England’s SEND provision to improve outcomes and return the system to 

financial sustainability. The Government will work closely with parents, teachers and 

local authorities to take forward this work.  

We recognise the impact that the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficits are having 

on councils’ finances and will work with the sector on a way forward.  

The Government intends to set out plans for reforming the SEND system in further 

detail this year. This will include details of how the Government will support local 

authorities to deal with their historic and accruing deficits and any transition period 

from the current SEND system to the reformed system. This will inform any decision 

to remove the DSG Statutory Override.  

Your delivery lead, Jesse Garrick, will be able to support engagement with the 

Department for Education over the coming months to discuss the impact of any 

national reforms. 

Page 21



 

6 

 

 

ANNEX: Detailed feedback on criteria for interim plan 

Ask – Interim Plan 
Criteria  

Feedback  

Identify the likely options 
for the size and 
boundaries of new 
councils that will offer the 
best structures for delivery 
of high-quality and 
sustainable public services 
across the area, along with 
indicative efficiency saving 
opportunities. 
 
Relevant criteria:  
  
1c) Proposals should be 
supported by robust 
evidence and analysis and 
include an explanation of 
the outcomes it is 
expected to achieve, 
including evidence of 
estimated costs/benefits 
and local engagement.   
   
2a-f) Unitary local 
government must be the 
right size to achieve 
efficiencies, improve 
capacity and withstand 
financial shocks.    
   
3a-c) Unitary structures 
must prioritise the delivery 
of high quality and 
sustainable public services 
to citizens. 
 

We welcome the initial thinking on the options for 
local government reorganisation in Oxfordshire and 
recognise that this is subject to further work.  
 
We note the local context and challenges outlined in 
the proposals and the potential benefits that have 
been identified for the options put forward. Your plans 
set out your intention to undertake further analysis, 
and this further detail and evidence on the outcomes 
that are expected to be achieved of any preferred 
model would be welcomed. 
 
In your final proposal(s) you may wish to consider an 
options appraisal against the criteria set out in the 
letter to provide a rationale for the preferred model 
against alternatives.      
 
For your final proposal(s), each council can submit a 
single proposal for which there must be a clear single 
option and geography and as set out in the guidance 
we expect this to be for the area as a whole; that is, 
the whole of the area to which the 5 February 
invitation was issued, not partial coverage.   
 
Where there are proposed boundary changes, your 
proposal(s) will need to provide strong public services 
and financial sustainability related justification for the 
change. 
 
Proposals should be for a sensible geography which 
will help to increase housing supply and meet local 
needs, including future housing growth plans. All 
proposals should set out the rationale for the 
proposed approach. 
 
It would be helpful to understand how efficiency 
savings have been considered alongside a sense of 
place and local identity. 

 

In final proposal(s) it would be helpful to include a 
high-level financial assessment which covers 
transition costs and overall forecast operating costs of 
the new unitary councils. 

 

Page 22



 

7 

 

We will assess final proposal(s) against the criteria in 
the invitation letter. Referencing criteria 1 and 2, you 
may wish to consider the following bullets: 

• high level breakdowns for where any efficiency 
savings will be made, with clarity of assumptions 
on how estimates have been reached and the data 
sources used, including differences in assumptions 
between proposals 

• information on the counterfactual against which 
efficiency savings are estimated, with values 
provided for current levels of spending 

• a clear statement of what assumptions have been 
made if the impacts of inflation are taken into 
account 

• a summary covering sources of uncertainty or 
risks, with modelling, as well as predicted 
magnitude and impact of any unquantifiable costs 
or benefits 

• where possible, quantified impacts on service 
provision as well as wider impacts 

 
We recognise that the financial assessments are 
subject to further work. The bullets below indicate 
where further information would be helpful across all 
options. As per criteria 1 and 2 it would be helpful to 
see:  

• data and evidence to set out how your final 
proposal(s) would enable financially viable 
councils across the whole area, including 
identifying which option best delivers value for 
money for council taxpayers 

• further detail on potential finances of new unitaries, 
for example, funding, operational budgets, 
potential budget surpluses/shortfalls, total 
borrowing (General Fund), and debt servicing 
costs (interest and MRP); and what options may 
be available for rationalisation of potentially 
surplus operational assets 

• clarity on the underlying assumptions underpinning 
any modelling e.g. assumptions of future funding, 
demographic growth and pressures, interest costs, 
Council Tax, savings earmarked in existing 
councils’ MTFS 

• financial sustainability both through the period to 
the creation of new unitary councils as well as 
afterwards 

• as per criterion 2f proposal(s) should reflect the 
extent to which debt can be managed locally, 

Page 23



 

8 

 

including as part of efficiencies possible through 
reorganisation 
 

For proposals that would involve disaggregation of 
services, we would welcome further details on how 
services can be maintained where there is 
fragmentation, such as social care, children’s 
services, SEND, homelessness, and for wider public 
services including public safety. With reference to 
criterion 3c you may wish to consider:   
• how each option would deliver high-quality and 

sustainable public services or efficiency saving 
opportunities 

• what would the different options mean for local 
services provision, for example:  
o do different options have a different impact on 

SEND services and distribution of funding and 
sufficiency planning to ensure children can 
access appropriate support, and how will 
services be maintained?  

o what is the impact on adult and children’s care 
services? Is there a differential impact on the 
number of care users and infrastructure to 
support them from the different options?  

o what partnership options have you considered 
for joint working across the new unitaries for 
the delivery of social care services?  

o do different options have variable impacts as 
you transition to the new unitaries, and how 
will risks to safeguarding be managed?  

o do different options have variable impacts on 
schools, support and funding allocation, and 
sufficiency of places, and how will impacts on 
schools be managed?  

o what impact will there be on highway services 
across the area under the different approaches 
suggested? 

o what are the implications for public health, 
including consideration of socio-demographic 
challenges and health inequalities within any 
new boundaries and their implications for 
current and future health service needs? What 
are the implications for how residents access 
services and service delivery for populations 
most at risk?  

 
We welcome the desire to maximise the opportunity 
for public service reform, and it would be helpful for 
you to provide more details on your plans so we can 
explore how best to support your efforts. 

Page 24



 

9 

 

Include indicative costs 
and arrangements in 
relation to any options 
including planning for 
future service 
transformation 
opportunities. 
 
Relevant criterion: 
 
2d) Proposals should set 
out how an area will seek 
to manage transition costs, 
including planning for 
future service 
transformation 
opportunities from existing 
budgets, including from 
the flexible use of capital 
receipts that can support 
authorities in taking 
forward transformation and 
invest-to-save projects.  
 

In the final proposal, we would welcome further clarity 
on the assumptions and data used to calculate the 
transition costs and efficiencies for each (see criterion 
2d). 
 
As per criterion 2, the final proposal(s) should set out 
how an area will seek to manage transition costs, 
including planning for future service transformation 
opportunities from existing budgets, including from 
the flexible use of capital receipts that can support 
authorities in taking forward transformation and 
invest-to-save projects. 
• within this it would be helpful to provide detailed 

analysis on expected transition and/or 
disaggregation costs and potential efficiencies of 
proposals. This could include clarity on 
methodology, assumptions, data used, what year 
these may apply and why these are appropriate 

• detail on the potential service transformation 
opportunities and invest-to-save projects from 
unitarisation across a range of services - e.g. 
consolidation of waste collection and disposal 
services, and whether different options provide 
different opportunities for back-office efficiency 
savings? 

• where it has not been possible to monetise or 
quantify impacts, you may wish to provide an 
estimated magnitude and likelihood of impact 

• summarise any sources of risks, uncertainty and 
key dependencies related to the modelling and 
analysis 

• detail on the estimated financial sustainability of 
proposed reorganisation and how debt could be 
managed locally 

 
We welcome the joint work you have done to date 
and recommend that all options and proposals should 
use the same assumptions and data sets or be clear 
where and why there is a difference (linked to 
criterion 1c). 

Include early views as to 
the councillor numbers 
that will ensure both 
effective democratic 
representation for all parts 
of the area, and also 
effective governance and 
decision-making 
arrangements which will 
balance the unique needs 

We welcome the early views you have provided for 
councillor numbers, which we will be sharing with the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England (LGBCE). There are no set limits on the 
number of councillors although the LGBCE guidance 
indicates that a compelling case would be needed for 
a council size of more than 100 members.  
 
New unitary structures should enable stronger 
community engagement and deliver genuine 

Page 25



 

10 

 

of your cities, towns, rural 
and coastal areas, in line 
with the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for 
England guidance. 
  
Relevant criterion:  
  
6) New unitary structures 
should enable stronger 
community  
engagement and deliver    
genuine opportunity for    
neighbourhood    
empowerment.   

opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment. 
 
Additional details on how the community will be 
engaged, specifically how the governance, 
participation and local voice will be addressed to 
strengthen local engagement, and democratic 
decision-making would be helpful. 
 
In your final proposal(s) we would welcome detail on 
your plans for neighbourhood-based governance, the 
impact on parish councils, and the role of formal 
neighbourhood partnerships and area committees. 
 
 

Include early views on how 
new structures will support 
devolution ambitions. 
 
Relevant criteria: 
 
5) - New unitary structures 
must support devolution 
arrangements.  
  
5a) Proposals will need to 
consider and set out for 
areas where there is 
already a Combined 
Authority (CA) or a 
Combined County 
Authority (CCA) 
established or a decision 
has been taken by 
Government to work with 
the area to establish one, 
how that institution and its 
governance arrangements 
will need to change to 
continue to function 
effectively; and set out 
clearly (where applicable) 
whether this proposal is 
supported by the CA/CCA 
/Mayor.  

We welcome the area’s commitment to devolution, 
and the adoption of the principle that governance 
arrangements in a future Strategic Authority should 
continue to equally represent all areas following local 
government reorganisation. 
 
Across all local government reorganisation 
proposal(s), looking towards a future Strategic 
Authority, it would be helpful to outline how each 
option would interact with a Strategic Authority and 
best benefit the local community, including meeting 
the criteria for sensible geography in the White Paper 
and devolution statutory tests.  
 
We cannot pre-judge the result or timelines of any 
future devolution discussions, but we will work with 
you to progress your ambitions where possible in due 
course. 
 
 

Include a summary of local 
engagement that has been 
undertaken and any views 
expressed, along with your 
further plans for wide local 

We welcome your interim update against criterion 6, 
and the engagement undertaken so far and your 
plans for the future.  
 

Page 26



 

11 

 

engagement to help shape 
your developing proposals. 
 
Relevant criteria:   
 
6a-b) New unitary 
structures    
should enable stronger    
community engagement    
and deliver genuine    
opportunity for    
neighbourhood    
empowerment.   
 

It is for you to decide how best to engage locally in a 
meaningful and constructive way with residents, 
voluntary sector, local community groups, parish 
councils, public sector providers, such as health, 
police and fire, and local businesses to inform your 
proposals.  
 
For proposals that involve disaggregation of services, 
you may wish to engage in particular with those 
residents who may be affected. It would be helpful to 
see detail that demonstrates how local ideas and 
views have been incorporated into the final 
proposal(s). 
 
It would be helpful to see further detail of your 
engagement plans and to provide detail that 
demonstrates how local ideas and views have been 
incorporated into your final proposal(s), including 
those relating to neighbouring authorities where 
relevant. 

Set out indicative costs of 
preparing proposals and 
standing up an 
implementation team as 
well as any arrangements 
proposed to coordinate 
potential capacity funding 
across the area. 
 
Relevant criterion:  
  
2d) Proposals should set    
out how an area will 
seek to manage transition 
costs, including planning 
for future service    
transformation    
opportunities from 
existing budgets, including 
from the    
flexible use of capital    
receipts that can support    
authorities in taking    
forward transformation 
and invest-to-save 
projects.  

We would welcome further detail in your final 
proposal(s) over the level of cost and the extent to 
which the costs are for delivery of the unitary 
structures or for transformation activity that delivers 
benefits (see criterion 2d). 
 
£7.6 million will be made available in the form of local 
government reorganisation proposal development 
contributions, to be split across the 21 areas. Further 
information will be provided on this funding shortly.  
 
 
 
 
 

Set out any voluntary 
arrangements that have 
been agreed to keep all 
councils involved in 

We welcome the ways of working together you have 
outlined in the interim plans (see criterion 4).  
 

Page 27



 

12 

 

discussions as this work 
moves forward and to help 
balance the decisions 
needed now to maintain 
service delivery and 
ensure value for money for 
council taxpayers, with 
those key decisions that 
will affect the future 
success of any new 
councils in the area. 
 
Relevant criteria:   
  
4a-c) Proposals should 
show how councils in the 
area have sought to work    
together in coming to a    
view that meets local    
needs and is informed 
by local views. 

Effective collaboration between all councils will be 
crucial; areas will need to build strong relationships 
and agree ways of working, including around effective 
data sharing. This will enable you to develop a robust 
shared evidence base to underpin your final 
proposal(s) (see criterion 1c).  
 
We note that two of the options under consideration 
include the geography of West Berkshire Council, 
which sits outside of the invitation area. If your final 
proposal(s) include a neighbouring council(s) from 
outside of the invitation area, then significant 
engagement between council(s) in the invitation area 
with any council(s) outside the invitation area that are 
directly impacted would be helpful during the 
development of that joint proposal, including through 
effective data-sharing. 
 
We recommend that your final proposal(s) should use 
the same assumptions and data sets or be clear 
where and why there is a difference. 

 

 

 

Page 28



Correspondence

Letter: Oxfordshire
Published 6 February 2025

Applies to England

Ministry of Housing,
Communities &
Local Government

Contents

Developing proposals for reorganisation

Supporting places through change
Timelines and next steps for interim plans and full proposals

Annex A

Schedule

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities-local-government


© Crown copyright 2025

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where
otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-
reorganisation-invitation-to-local-authorities-in-two-tier-areas/letter-oxfordshire

Page 30

https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk


To: Leaders of two-tier councils in Oxfordshire

Cherwell District Council
Oxford City Council
Oxfordshire County Council
South Oxfordshire District Council
Vale of White Horse District Council
West Oxfordshire District Council

From: Jim McMahon OBE MP
Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution

5 February 2025

Dear Leaders

This government has been clear on our vision for simpler, more sustainable,
local government structures, alongside a transfer of power out of
Westminster through devolution. We know that councils of all political
stripes are in crisis after a decade of decline and instability. Indeed, a record
number of councils asked the government for support this year to help them
set their budgets.

This new government will not waste this opportunity to build empowered,
simplified, resilient and sustainable local government for your area that will
increase value for money for council taxpayers. Local leaders are central to
our mission to deliver change for hard-working people in every corner of the
country through our Plan for Change, and our councils are doing everything
they can to stay afloat and provide for their communities day in, day out.
The Government will work closely with you to deliver these aims to the most
ambitious timeline.

I am writing to you now to formally invite you to work with other council
leaders in your area to develop a proposal for local government
reorganisation, and to set out further detail on the criteria, guidance for the
development of proposals, and the timeline for this process. A formal
invitation with guidance for the development of your proposals is attached at
Annex A. This invitation sets out the criteria against which proposals will be
assessed.

Developing proposals for reorganisation
Page 31



We expect there to be different views on the best structures for an area, and
indeed there may be merits to a variety of approaches. Nevertheless, it is
not in council taxpayers’ interest to devote public funds and your valuable
time and effort into the development of multiple proposals which
unnecessarily fragment services, compete against one another, require
lengthy implementation periods or which do not sufficiently address local
interests and identities.

The public will rightly expect us to deliver on our shared responsibility to
design and implement the best local government structures for efficient and
high-quality public service delivery. We therefore expect local leaders to
work collaboratively and proactively, including by sharing information, to
develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals that are in the best
interests of the whole area to which this invitation is issued, rather than
developing competing proposals.

This will mean making every effort to work together to develop and jointly
submit one proposal for unitary local government across the whole of your
area. The proposal that is developed for the whole of your area may be for
one or more new unitary councils and should be complementary to
devolution plans. It is open to you to explore options with neighbouring
councils in addition to those included in this invitation, particularly where this
helps those councils to address concerns about their sustainability or
limitations arising from their size or boundaries or where you are working
together across a wider geography within a strategic authority.

I understand there will be some cases when it is not possible for all councils
in an area to jointly develop and submit a proposal, despite their best
efforts. This will not be a barrier to progress, and the government will
consider any suitable proposals submitted by the relevant local authorities.

Supporting places through change
It is essential that councils continue to deliver their business-as-usual
services and duties, which remain unchanged until reorganisation is
complete. This includes progress towards the government’s ambition of
universal coverage of up-to-date local plans as quickly as possible. To
support with capacity, I intend to provide some funds for preparing to take
forward any proposal, and I will share further information later in the
process.

Considering the efficiencies that are possible through reorganisation, we
expect that areas will be able to meet transition costs over time from
existing budgets, including from the flexible use of capital receipts that can

Page 32



support authorities in taking forward transformation and invest-to-save
projects.

The default position is that assets and liabilities remain locally managed by
councils, but we acknowledge that there are exceptional circumstances
where there has been failure linked to capital practices. Where that is the
case, proposals should reflect the extent to which the implications of this
can be managed locally, including as part of efficiencies possible through
reorganisation, and Commissioners should be engaged in these
discussions. We will continue to discuss the approach that is proposed with
the area.

I welcome the partnership approach that is being taken across the sector to
respond to the ambitious plans set out in the White Paper. My department
will continue to work closely with the Local Government Association (LGA),
the District Councils Network, the County Councils Network and other local
government partners to plan how best to support councils through this
process. We envisage that practical support will be needed to understand
and address the key thematic issues that will arise through reorganisation,
including managing service impacts and opportunities for the workforce,
digital and IT systems, and leadership support.

Timelines and next steps for interim
plans and full proposals
We ask for an interim plan to be submitted on or before 21 March 2025, in
line with the guidance set out in the attached Annex. My officials will provide
feedback on your plan to help support you to develop final proposals.

I will expect any full proposal to be submitted by 28 November. If I decide
to implement any proposal, and the necessary legislation is agreed by
Parliament, we will work with you to move to elections to new ‘shadow’
unitary councils as soon as possible as is the usual arrangement in the
process of local government reorganisation.

Following submission, I will consider any and all proposals carefully before
taking decisions on how to proceed. My officials are available throughout to
discuss how your reorganisation and devolution aspirations might work
together and what support you think you might need to proceed.

This is a once in a generation opportunity to work together to put local
government in your area on a more sustainable footing, creating simpler
structures for your area that will deliver the services that local people and
businesses need and deserve. As set out in the White Paper, my

Page 33



commitment is that clear leadership locally will be met with an active partner
nationally.

I am copying this letter to council Chief Executives. I am also copying this
letter to local Members of Parliament and to the Police and Crime
Commissioner.

Yours sincerely,

Jim McMahon OBE MP
Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution

Annex A
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007

Invitation for proposals for a single-tier of local government

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in
exercise of his powers under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (‘the 2007 Act’), hereby invites any principal
authority in the area of the county of Oxfordshire, to submit a proposal for a
single tier of local government.

This may be one of the following types of proposal as set out in the 2007
Act:

Type A – a single tier of local authority covering the whole of the county
concerned

Type B – a single tier of local authority covering an area that is currently a
district, or two or more districts
Type C – a single tier of local authority covering the whole of the county
concerned, or one or more districts in the county; and one or more
relevant adjoining areas

Combined proposal – a proposal that consists of two or more Type B
proposals, two or more Type C proposals, or one or more Type B
proposals and one or more Type C proposals.

Proposals must be submitted in accordance with paragraphs 1 to 3:

1. Any proposal must be made by 28 November 2025.
2. In responding to this invitation an authority must have regard to the
guidance from the Secretary of State set out in the Schedule to this
invitation, and to any further guidance on responding to this invitationPage 34



received from the Secretary of State.
3. An authority responding to this invitation may either make its own
proposal or make a proposal jointly with any of the other authorities
invited to respond.

Signed on behalf of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and
Local Government.

F Kirwan

A senior civil servant in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government

5 February 2025

Schedule

Guidance from the Secretary of State for proposals for
unitary local government.
Criteria for unitary local government
1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the whole of the area concerned

the establishment of a single tier of local government.

a) Proposals should be for sensible economic areas, with an appropriate tax
base which does not create an undue advantage or disadvantage for one
part of the area.

b) Proposals should be for a sensible geography which will help to increase
housing supply and meet local needs.

c) Proposals should be supported by robust evidence and analysis and
include an explanation of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including
evidence of estimated costs/benefits and local engagement.

d) Proposals should describe clearly the single tier local government
structures it is putting forward for the whole of the area, and explain how, if
implemented, these are expected to achieve the outcomes described.

2. Unitary local government must be the right size to achieve efficiencies,
improve capacity and withstand financial shocks.

Page 35



a) As a guiding principle, new councils should aim for a population of
500,000 or more.

b) There may be certain scenarios in which this 500,000 figure does not
make sense for an area, including on devolution, and this rationale should
be set out in a proposal.

c) Efficiencies should be identified to help improve councils’ finances and
make sure that council taxpayers are getting the best possible value for
their money.

d) Proposals should set out how an area will seek to manage transition
costs, including planning for future service transformation opportunities from
existing budgets, including from the flexible use of capital receipts that can
support authorities in taking forward transformation and invest-to-save
projects.

e) For areas covering councils that are in Best Value intervention and/or in
receipt of Exceptional Financial Support, proposals must additionally
demonstrate how reorganisation may contribute to putting local government
in the area as a whole on a firmer footing and what area-specific
arrangements may be necessary to make new structures viable.

f) In general, as with previous restructures, there is no proposal for council
debt to be addressed centrally or written off as part of reorganisation. For
areas where there are exceptional circumstances where there has been
failure linked to capital practices, proposals should reflect the extent to
which the implications of this can be managed locally, including as part of
efficiencies possible through reorganisation.

3. Unitary structures must prioritise the delivery of high quality and
sustainable public services to citizens.

a) Proposals should show how new structures will improve local
government and service delivery, and should avoid unnecessary
fragmentation of services.

b) Opportunities to deliver public service reform should be identified,
including where they will lead to better value for money.

c) Consideration should be given to the impacts for crucial services such as
social care, children’s services, SEND and homelessness, and for wider
public services including for public safety.

4. Proposals should show how councils in the area have sought to work
together in coming to a view that meets local needs and is informed by local
views.

Page 36



a) It is for councils to decide how best to engage locally in a meaningful and
constructive way and this engagement activity should be evidenced in your
proposal.

b) Proposals should consider issues of local identity and cultural and
historic importance.

c) Proposals should include evidence of local engagement, an explanation
of the views that have been put forward and how concerns will be
addressed.

5. New unitary structures must support devolution arrangements.

a) Proposals will need to consider and set out for areas where there is
already a Combined Authority (CA) or a Combined County Authority (CCA)
established or a decision has been taken by Government to work with the
area to establish one, how that institution and its governance arrangements
will need to change to continue to function effectively; and set out clearly
(where applicable) whether this proposal is supported by the CA/CCA
/Mayor.

b) Where no CA or CCA is already established or agreed then the proposal
should set out how it will help unlock devolution.

c) Proposals should ensure there are sensible population size ratios
between local authorities and any strategic authority, with timelines that
work for both priorities.

6. New unitary structures should enable stronger community engagement
and deliver genuine opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment.

a) Proposals will need to explain plans to make sure that communities are
engaged.

b) Where there are already arrangements in place it should be explained
how these will enable strong community engagement.

Developing proposals for unitary local government
The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a
proposal:

Boundary Changes
a) Existing district areas should be considered the building blocks for your
proposals, but where there is a strong justification more complex boundary
changes will be considered. Page 37



b) There will need to be a strong public services and financial sustainability
related justification for any proposals that involve boundary changes, or that
affect wider public services, such as fire and rescue authorities, due to the
likely additional costs and complexities of implementation.

Engagement and consultation on reorganisation
a) We expect local leaders to work collaboratively and proactively, including
by sharing information, to develop robust and sustainable unitary proposals
that are in the best interests of the whole area to which this invitation is
issued, rather than developing competing proposals.

b) For those areas where Commissioners have been appointed by the
Secretary of State as part of the Best Value Intervention, their input will be
important in the development of robust unitary proposals.

c) We also expect local leaders to engage their Members of Parliament, and
to ensure there is wide engagement with local partners and stakeholders,
residents, workforce and their representatives, and businesses on a
proposal.

d) The engagement that is undertaken should both inform the development
of robust proposals and should also build a shared understanding of the
improvements you expect to deliver through reorganisation.

e) The views of other public sector providers will be crucial to understanding
the best way to structure local government in your area. This will include the
relevant Mayor (if you already have one), Integrated Care Board, Police
(Fire) and Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority, local Higher
Education and Further Education providers, National Park Authorities, and
the voluntary and third sector.

f) Once a proposal has been submitted it will be for the government to
decide on taking a proposal forward and to consult as required by statute.
This will be a completely separate process to any consultation undertaken
on mayoral devolution in an area, which will be undertaken in some areas
early this year, in parallel with this invitation.

Interim plans
An interim plan should be provided to government on or before 21 March
2025. This should set out your progress on developing proposals in line with
the criteria and guidance. The level of detail that is possible at this stage
may vary from place to place but the expectation is that one interim plan is
jointly submitted by all councils in the area. It may be the case that the
interim plan describes more than one potential proposal for your area, if
there is more than one option under consideration. The interim plan should:

a) identify any barriers or challenges where further clarity or support would
be helpful.

Page 38



b) identify the likely options for the size and boundaries of new councils that
will offer the best structures for delivery of high-quality and sustainable
public services across the area, along with indicative efficiency saving
opportunities.

c) include indicative costs and arrangements in relation to any options
including planning for future service transformation opportunities.

d) include early views as to the councillor numbers that will ensure both
effective democratic representation for all parts of the area, and also
effective governance and decision-making arrangements which will balance
the unique needs of your cities, towns, rural and coastal areas, in line with
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England guidance.

e) include early views on how new structures will support devolution
ambitions.

f) include a summary of local engagement that has been undertaken and
any views expressed, along with your further plans for wide local
engagement to help shape your developing proposals.

g) set out indicative costs of preparing proposals and standing up an
implementation team as well as any arrangements proposed to coordinate
potential capacity funding across the area.

h) set out any voluntary arrangements that have been agreed to keep all
councils involved in discussions as this work moves forward and to help
balance the decisions needed now to maintain service delivery and ensure
value for money for council taxpayers, with those key decisions that will
affect the future success of any new councils in the area.

All content is available under the Open Government Licence v3.0, except where otherwise stated © Crown copyright

Page 39

https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/information-management/re-using-public-sector-information/uk-government-licensing-framework/crown-copyright/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/information-management/re-using-public-sector-information/uk-government-licensing-framework/crown-copyright/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/information-management/re-using-public-sector-information/uk-government-licensing-framework/crown-copyright/


This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

Summary and results of the resident engagement conducted by Oxfordshire County 

Council 

1. The open survey, and its accompanying engagement activity, was deployed 

to support the understanding of, and engagement with, plans for 

reorganisation of Oxfordshire’s councils. The survey and marketing activity 

was predominantly targeted at county residents as opposed to a stakeholder 

audience, and is part of a multi-strand package of engagement including:  

2.  

(a) The same questions asked of residents as part of the council’s annual 

representative residents’ survey.  

(b) Discussions with residents on local government reorganisation in focus 

group format, as part of the council’s planned research programme to 

inform the development of its latest strategic plan.  

(c) Discussions with secondary school children on local government 

reorganisation in sounding board format, as part of the council’s 

planned research programme to inform the development of its latest 

strategic plan.  

(d) A total of 1,344 individuals participated in the survey, including 1,275 

Oxfordshire residents, 17 members of the public living outside 

Oxfordshire, and 46 stakeholders. 

  

3. The key findings of the engagement are summarised below: 

The most frequently cited benefits of the ‘one unitary’ proposal 
 

(a) Respondents highlighted the potential for reduced duplication, 
improved coordination, and a more joined-up approach to governance.  

(b) Cost savings were also a significant theme, with 383 mentions. Some 
respondents believed that a single unitary council could lead to 

financial efficiencies and better use of public funds.  
(c) Other notable benefits included clearer accountability and 

responsibility (179 mentions) and a single point of contact for 

residents (140 mentions).  
(d) The most dominant concern of the council’s ‘one unitary’ LGR proposal 

was balancing the diverse needs of different areas within Oxfordshire, 
mentioned 262 times. Loss of local knowledge and disconnection from 
communities was another notable concern, with 218 mentions. Some 

respondents worried that a larger, centralised authority would be less 
attuned to the specific needs of smaller towns and rural areas.  

(e) Other concerns included the potential for increased costs, negative 
impacts on service quality, and reduced accountability. 

(f) Quantitative feedback was also measured and is displayed below: 

Page 41



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

4.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question 3: On a scale from 1=Not important at all to 10=Extremely 
important, how important are each of the following in thinking about how 

any future unitary council(s) in Oxfordshire should operate  

 

When exploring quantitatively the relative importance of different attributes for 
future unitary councils, clear and accountable decision-making was rated as 
the most important attribute, with a mean score of 8.69. Strong financial 

resilience followed closely, with a mean score of 8.37. Partnering with town 
and parish councils was also highly valued, with a mean score of 8.01. 

 The three most highly valued attributes identified in this question align with the 
three core benefits of the one unitary proposal, closer to communities, cost 
effective and connected (as outlined in paragraph 4 of this chapter). 

 

Page 42



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

 

 

Question 4: And on a scale from 1=Not important at all to 10=Extremely 

important, how important are the following aspects of local government 
reorganisation in Oxfordshire to you? 

 

 
 

Minimising disruption in services during reorganisation was the most important area of 
focus for local government reorganisation, from the three attributes tested quantitatively, 

with a mean score of 7.67. However, both reducing duplication and running costs (mean 
score of 7.58) and generating savings from streamlining services (mean score of 7.36) 

were also highly valued. 
The results of this question demonstrate the rationale for the one unitary proposal in regard 
to service delivery. The formation of a single unitary will result in comparatively less 

disruption than the formation of multiple unitaries as much service is already delivered on a 
county footprint and so these pre-existing service areas will not be split up. 

Additionally, the council were pleased to see that residents recognised the importance of 
streamlining services and reducing duplication as is consistent with the single unitary 

proposal (as there would be one council delivering services in the county). 

Page 43



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

School focus groups feedback and outcomes 

5. Between Friday 27 June and Thursday 17 July 2025 Oxfordshire County 

Council held four in-person sounding boards for secondary school aged 

children.  The sounding boards were part of a multi-strand package of 

engagement to inform the development of the council’s new strategic plan and 

proposal for LGR. 

 

6. The focus groups were held in the following schools: 

a. Greyfriars (Oxford)  

b. Henry Box School (Witney)   

c. Lord Williamson (Thame)   

d. Faringdon Community College (Faringdon) 

 

Benefits   

 

7. Students shared their thoughts on having a One Oxfordshire Council. 

Significantly, most of the comments saw it as a way to increase efficiency, 

improve communication, and provide better services across the whole county. 

They thought it promised easier access for residents, stronger voices and 

community links, and more effective use of resources.  

e. Increased efficiency and budget management:  A single council 

would reduce confusion, consolidate budgets, and cut administrative 

expenses, allowing for better allocation of funds and quicker decision-

making.   

“Services can cross over unlike before, more people will benefit”  

  

f. Improved access and communication: Residents from right across 

the whole of Oxfordshire would know who to contact and would benefit 

from having one point of contact for services, simplifying interactions 

with authorities and enhancing public engagement and 

communication.  

“Less confusing as you only have one place to go if you have 

complaints or problems, it’s also easier to know which party controls 

your area.”  

 

g. Stronger community and equality: Uniting different towns under one 

Oxfordshire council encourages a wider sense of community, promotes 

equality in service quality, and encourages collaborative decision-

making across the county.   

“We can all be in unison across Oxfordshire”  

 

h. Enhanced opportunities and development:  The combined council 

could generate more ideas, support local businesses, improve public 

Page 44



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

amenities, and address larger problems more effectively, benefiting a 

wider population.  

“Less money wasted as you can concentrate all the money in one 

place and spend well and it will maybe have more impact”  

 

 

Concerns  

 
8. There was widespread concern from the students about merging multiple 

councils into a single large council. The main issues revolved around the 

potential loss of local focus, inefficiency, financial concerns and unequal 

representation of smaller towns compared to larger ones.  

 

i. Loss of local focus and representation:  Residents worry that a 

single large council would struggle to address specific local issues 

effectively, with smaller areas receiving less attention and voices being 

unheard. This could weaken the sense of community and reduce the 

council’s ability to manage diverse local needs. Concentrating power in 

the city raised worries of reduced responsibility for the villages, and the 

possibility that problems in council meetings could have widespread 

negative effects across the county.  

“Harder decision making because it’s so broad/big”  
  

j. Increased complexity and slower decision-making: Combining 

councils was seen as creating a broad organisation that would face 

difficulties in decision-making, leading to slower responses and 

potential conflicts among members due to differing priorities, becoming 

frustration for residents.  

“More conflict and disagreements”  

 

k. Economic and employment concerns: There were fears that 

merging councils could lead to job losses, reduced opportunities, and 

higher costs, with villages and towns potentially facing increased taxes 

but receiving less services, funding and maintenance.  

“More taxes will be asked because the bigger places need more money 
but the smaller places won’t get as much”  

 

Postal Survey feedback and outcomes 

9. The resident’s survey (sent to households) and street interviews represents a 

cross cut of Oxfordshire’s population as opposed to residents’ who were 

motivated to fill out the online survey). The survey was conducted and 

analysed by the independent research agency Marketing Means between 26 

Page 45



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

June and 20 August 2025 and included questions designed to gather 

perspectives on local government reorganisation in the county. A total of 

1,203 responses were collected and responses were weighted to the 

demographic profile of Oxfordshire residents by age, gender, and district. 

Marketing Means findings are presented below: 

Benefits 

10. The main perceived benefits of bringing all council services together under a 

single unitary council for Oxfordshire in the future, taken from comments given 

in response to an open-ended question, were, in descending order of 

frequency: 
l. Reduces costs/ More cost-effective 

m. Comments relating to increased efficiency, less duplication and 

wastage, on themes such as:  

i. Greater efficiency/ Less time wasted 

ii. Reduces duplication across activities/ tasks 

iii. Everyone under one roof, staff working together/ more coordination 

iv. Reduces job duplication/ headcount 

v. Shared knowledge from different councils/departments 

n. Comments relating to Improved consistency and coherence across the 

council, on themes such as: 

i. Consistency in process/ in the service residents receive/ fair 

distribution of resources 

ii. Coherent/ clear view of situation/’singing from the same hymn 

sheet’ 

Concerns 

11. The main potential concerns regarding bringing all council services together 

under a single unitary council for Oxfordshire in the future, taken from 

comments given in response to an open-ended question, were, in descending 

order of frequency: 

o. Difficulties with local decision-making/ local knowledge/ representation/ 

consideration of local needs 

p. Rural or smaller areas may be marginalised/ urban areas such as 

Oxford city will be prioritised 

q. Comments related to being overlooked by a larger council, on themes 

such as: 

i. Remoteness / Less accessibility / Concerned over accessibility 

to a local office   

ii. Services/ resources won’t be fairly distributed/ ineffectively 

distributed 

r. Concerns unitary council will be too big/ covers a vast area 

s. Concerns over reduced services/ Services being cut or outsourced 

t. Comments related to staffing and management of the authority, on 

themes such as: 

iii. Redundancies/ Too few staff/ Need to retain staff knowledge 

Page 46



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

iv. Less accountability/supervision/ More corruption of power  

v. Poor management/ Poor quality of councillors or staff/ 

Becoming too self-serving  

u. Comments related to financial issues, on themes such as: 

vi. Financial savings won’t be realised/ Harder to keep control of 

costs/ Costs will go up 

vii. Change to unitary status will cost too much/ waste money/ 

Uncertainty over costs 

Respondent’s priorities 

12. Marketing Means asked respondents to rate the relative importance of six 

different attributes in thinking about how any future unitary council(s) in 

Oxfordshire should operate. 

Clear and accountable decision-making drew the highest importance  

  ratings. 
Two others were ranked closely together in second and third place for 
importance; Strong financial resilience and Partnering with town and 

parish councils to bring decision-making closer to communities. 
Although still considered important overall, the two that were least likely to 
be rated as important were Easy access for residents (one ‘front door’ for 

accessing all council services), and Highly connected and able to drive 
innovation. 

13. Marketing Means also asked respondents to rate how important three other 

specific aspects of local government reorganisation in Oxfordshire to them. 
Two of the three drew very similar high ratings for importance; 

Minimising any disruption in services caused by separating them and 
Reducing duplication and running costs. 

The other, Generating savings from streamlining services was 
considered important overall, but by significantly fewer respondents 
than the first two aspects. 

 

School focus groups feedback and outcomes 

14. Between Friday 27 June and Thursday 17 July 2025 Oxfordshire County 

Council held four in-person sounding boards for secondary school aged 

children.  The sounding boards were part of a multi-strand package of 

engagement to inform the development of the council’s new strategic plan and 

proposal for LGR. 

15. The focus groups were held in the following schools: 

v. Greyfriars (Oxford)  

w. Henry Box School (Witney)   

x. Lord Williamson (Thame)   

y. Faringdon Community College (Faringdon) 

Benefits   

16. Students shared their thoughts on having a One Oxfordshire Council. 

Significantly, most of the comments saw it as a way to increase efficiency, 

Page 47



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

improve communication, and provide better services across the whole county. 

They thought it promised easier access for residents, stronger voices and 

community links, and more effective use of resources.  

a. Increased efficiency and budget management:  A single council 

would reduce confusion, consolidate budgets, and cut 

administrative expenses, allowing for better allocation of funds and 

quicker decision-making.   

“Services can cross over unlike before, more people will benefit”  

  
b. Improved access and communication: Residents from right 

across the whole of Oxfordshire would know who to contact and 

would benefit from having one point of contact for services, 

simplifying interactions with authorities and enhancing public 

engagement and communication.  

“Less confusing as you only have one place to go if you have 
complaints or problems, it’s also easier to know which party controls 
your area.”  

 
c. Stronger community and equality: Uniting different towns under 

one Oxfordshire council encourages a wider sense of community, 

promotes equality in service quality, and encourages collaborative 

decision-making across the county.   

“We can all be in unison across Oxfordshire”  
 

d. Enhanced opportunities and development:  The combined 

council could generate more ideas, support local businesses, 

improve public amenities, and address larger problems more 

effectively, benefiting a wider population.  

“Less money wasted as you can concentrate all the money in 

 one place and spend well and it will maybe have more impact”  
 

 

Concerns  

17. There was widespread concern from the students about merging multiple 

councils into a single large council. The main issues revolved around the 

potential loss of local focus, inefficiency, financial concerns and unequal 

representation of smaller towns compared to larger ones.  

 
a. Loss of local focus and representation:  Residents worry that a 

single large council would struggle to address specific local issues 

effectively, with smaller areas receiving less attention and voices 

being unheard. This could weaken the sense of community and 

reduce the council’s ability to manage diverse local needs. 

Concentrating power in the city raised worries of reduced 

responsibility for the villages, and the possibility that problems in 

Page 48



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

council meetings could have widespread negative effects across 

the county.  

“Harder decision making because it’s so broad/big”  
  

b. Increased complexity and slower decision-making: Combining 

councils was seen as creating a broad organisation that would face 

difficulties in decision-making, leading to slower responses and 

potential conflicts among members due to differing priorities, 

becoming frustration for residents.  

“More conflict and disagreements”  

 
c. Economic and employment concerns: There were fears that 

merging councils could lead to job losses, reduced opportunities, 

and higher costs, with villages and towns potentially facing 

increased taxes but receiving less services, funding and 

maintenance.  

“More taxes will be asked because the bigger places need more 
 money but the smaller places won’t get as much”  

 
 

Overview and results of the resident engagement conducted by REMind 

Research 

 

18. Oxfordshire County Council commissioned REMind Research to conduct a 

series of focus group discussions with Oxfordshire residents in July 2025. The 

feedback from these focus groups is summarised below: 

(a) “Residents are particularly mindful that streamlining services and 

removing duplication of departments/buildings should result in greater 

cost efficiencies, ultimately creating more budget to fund key services. 

19. Also identified as key benefits are: 

(a) the potential for better coordination of services such as public 

transport, roadworks, housing developments to minimise disruption. 

(b) having one point of access so it is easy for residents to know where to 

go for support and resulting in better communications. 

(c) greater consistency and fairness of policies and services across the 

county 

(d) Improvements in decision making and time time saving in agreeing 

policy is considered a key potential advantage”. 

20. The biggest concern for residents is that there will be a loss of understanding 

about their particular local area and a reduction in local face-to-face contact 

points for residents. 

 

21. Also identified as key concerns are: 

Page 49



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

(a) Whether there will be comparatively fewer staff to deal with services 

than currently, ultimately leading to greater backlogs and slower 

decision making. 

(b) How distribution of funds and services will be balanced across the 

whole county with differing political tendencies 

(c) Ensuring services are not disrupted through the transition to a new 

administration (especially if currently well performing) 

(d) The cost of transitioning people and processes to a single unitary 

authority and the potential for job losses/ redundancies 
 

22. The REMind report at page 3 states “There is minimal awareness of future 

local government reorganisation; except among older residents. On balance, 

the benefits of establishing a single countywide unitary authority are generally 

seen to outweigh the concerns — provided those concerns are properly 

addressed.  

The main perceived advantages include cost savings, greater efficiency, more 
consistency, fair and coherent policies across Oxfordshire, plus a single point 

of access for all key services.  

However, concerns remain about the potential loss of focus on the specific 

needs of local areas and the risk of service disruption during the transition.  

While most intuitively feel a county-wide unitary authority is a logical step, 
older residents, in particular, tend to be more sceptical about the benefits of 

moving to a unitary system, regardless of what final structure is implemented.” 

Local Businesses Engagement 

23. The council engaged with local businesses on LGR in a variety of formats. 

This included; written correspondence (to a broad business network), virtual 

meetings, and in-person events. These meetings are detailed below. 

24. Local Government Reorganisation Business Engagement Session – 28 July 

2025, Bee House, Milton Park 

The session aimed to inform Oxfordshire business leaders about the potential 

impacts of a single unitary council and gather their feedback. It featured a 

presentation and Q&A with the County Council Leader, senior officers, and 

business representatives from sectors including science, technology, 

consulting, retail, transport, and health. 

 Feedback was broadly positive, with strong engagement and support for the 

single unitary option. Some stakeholders committed to joining a delegation to 

Westminster to advocate for the proposal. 

25. Virtual Town Hall – 30 July 2025 

Held online, the session featured a presentation by the Cabinet Member for 

Future Economy and Innovation and Enterprise Oxfordshire, followed by a 

Q&A. Attendees included representatives from sectors such as sport, 

transport, consulting, health, and education. Feedback showed that attendees 

were eager to hear detailed information about how LGR and devolution will 

Page 50



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

ultimately impact each other and businesses. The feedback received in this 

session took a keener interest into the details of the development of LGR and 

highlighted that though most feedback the council is receiving is positive there 

is an appetite for information sharing.   

Local MP Engagement  

26. Engagement with Oxfordshire MPs has included joint and individual meetings, 

as well as written correspondence, to discuss the LGR programme - resulting 

in constructive dialogue on statutory requirements, and some expressions of 

support for the ‘one unitary’ interim proposal. The specifics of this 

engagement are detailed below. 

27. Joint virtual meeting - 11 July 2025 

The meeting was attended by the Leader of the council and senior officers 

involved in LGR, with invitations extended to all six Oxfordshire MPs. Five 

MPs or their staff representatives participated. 

a. Discussions focused on the relationship between the LGR programme 

and Devolution plans. 

b. Feedback included reaffirmed support from some MPs for the ‘one 

unitary’ interim proposal, with offers to help promote it. Additional 

queries addressed statutory requirements for both local and central 

government. 

28. Following written correspondence, individual meetings with MPs and senior 
council officials are being held in the near future. 

 

Council Staff (internal) Engagement 

29. The council utilised various pre-existing staff groups to enable effective 

information sharing and gathering of input from staff. 

  

Engagement with the ‘Delivering the Future Together’ (DTFT) Network. 

30. Two DTFT staff network meetings on LGR were held virtually on 24 and 26 

June. The network highlighted key strengths of the single unitary interim plan, 

including improved efficiency, enhanced customer service, economies of 

scale, simplified resident access, strategic alignment, and greater influence. 

Concerns raised included potential job losses, diminished local identity, 

transition challenges, service disparities, public perception and 

communication issues. 

Devolution and LGR representatives 

31. Council directorates have nominated staff to support the development of the 

LGR proposal and business case. These representatives help establish a 

support network, raise visibility of LGR and Devolution projects to senior 

leadership, and ensure consistent communication across and within 

Page 51



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

directorates, particularly important as both programmes enter a transitional 

phase. 

Local Council Engagement 

32. Oxfordshire Association of Local Councils (OALC) ‘Talking Tables’ – 18 July 

 

Approximately 40 parish and town representatives attended, including clerks 

and chairs, with all three unitary proposals for Oxfordshire represented. 

 There was notable support for a single unitary authority, seen as a familiar 

footprint and a way to reduce inefficiencies—particularly when accessing 

services such as grant funding. 

Parishes expressed interest in taking on additional responsibilities, 

acknowledging the need for flexibility across areas. However, concerns were 

raised about incurring extra costs. 

Services discussed included grass and verge cutting, trees, parks, sports 

facilities, toilets, and dog waste bins. 

The council’s recognition of towns and parishes as central to local democracy 

was well received, with the charter viewed as a meaningful step. Their role as 

connectors with valuable local insight—especially in planning—was reiterated. 

Suggestions for improvement included better emergency access to the 

council (e.g. during flooding), clearer points of contact, and more consistent 

communication on priorities and activities. 

 

33. Following outreach from Witney Town Council on the impact of LGR, council 

officers coordinated a meeting with Witney Town Council representatives on 

15 August 2025: 

c. The agenda focused on the role of town and parish councils under a 

single Oxfordshire unitary authority including financial implications. 

Town/parish responsibilities and mechanisms for engagement between 

towns/parishes and the unitary. 

d. Specific feedback on the LGR proposal was not solicited during the 

meeting to preserve Witney Town Council’s neutral stance in working 

collaboratively with all Oxfordshire councils; instead, the session 

served as a listening exercise to gather insights from town and parish 

councils on how unitarisation may affect them from their own 

perspectives. 

Town Council Workshop – 1 September 2025 

34. This session brought together representatives from the council and OALC's 

Large Councils Group (councils with a population over 6,000) to engage them 

on the development of a parish framework under LGR. The purpose was to 

share the County Council’s vision, gather feedback, and collaboratively 

explore how a future unitary authority might work with local councils. Key 

themes included the devolution of services (with emphasis on local control, 

Page 52



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

capacity, and funding), community asset transfer, place shaping and 

neighbourhood governance, the importance of flexibility and tailored 

approaches for different councils, mechanisms for local influence and 

accountability, and the need for early, clear consultation and practical pilots. 

The discussion highlighted both opportunities and challenges, with a focus on 

ensuring effective partnership, democratic engagement, and sustainable 

service delivery in a future unitary Oxfordshire. 

35. There were representatives from the following Town and Parish councils 

alongside this council: 
a. Banbury Town Council, Abingdon Town Council, Carterton Town 

Council, Thame Town Council, Faringdon Town Council 

Concerns 

a. Services being devolved to parish councils without consultation or 
resource 

b. LGR timeline and being unsure about when things will start to 

impact town and parish councils (eg if they have to take on more 
responsibility or increase budgets etc) 

c. Becoming even more distant / arms length from a unitary service 
with less influence, even though overall supportive of a single 
unitary / unitarisation  

d. Wanting to be included in local government and influencing local 
decisions  

 

Voluntary and Community Service (VCS) Engagement 

36. The council has actively engaged VCS as part of the LGR programme. This 

sector is particularly important to the area and so engagement was valued, 

especially the opportunity for balanced engagement (where all three 

proposals were presented to representatives from VCS) considering the likely 

impact LGR will have on these groups. 

37. A virtual event titled ‘Local Government Reorganisation – a chance for the 

VCS to have their say’ was held on 19 August. 

Council representatives attended a virtual event hosted by Oxfordshire 

Community and Voluntary Action (OCVA), one of the largest VCS groups in 

the County. The event brought together representatives supporting each of 

the three Oxfordshire LGR proposals, ensuring a balanced platform for 

engagement. Following a presentation outlining the proposals, a question-

and-answer session was held between VCS representatives and council 

officers from across district councils and the county council. 

 

Public sector providers (health, police, fire) 

38. As per the statutory invite, public service providers in the local area are 

expected to be engaged with on LGR in their areas. The other formats for 

engagement with public sector providers consisted of a mixture of written 

correspondence and meetings with senior officers and councillors. 

Page 53



Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements for Place Scrutiny 24 September 2025 

39. Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and Hospitals  

Letters were sent to both ICBs and Hospitals, recognising them as key health 

stakeholders within the county. The written responses provided valuable 

insight into each organisation’s priorities and concerns. A consistent theme 

across the feedback was a strong call for health inequalities to be a central 

focus in any future Local Government Reorganisation (LGR), regardless of 

whether one, two, or three unitary authorities emerge. Additionally, the care 

boards expressed a keen interest in the devolution process expected to follow 

LGR. 

40. Fire and Rescue Association (FRA)  

The FRA service sits within the existing County Council and so the Chief Fire 

Officer was included in strategic leadership briefings on LGR and was 

consistently engaged on detailed updates. 

41. Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and office of Police and Crime 

Commissioner (OPCC) 

Both the PCC and OPCC officers actively engaged in discussions with senior 

council officers and councillors regarding Local Government Reorganisation 

(LGR). LGR was incorporated into the agendas of existing forums for regular 

engagement and joint working. The PCC has publicly expressed support for a 

single county model in the local press—a position that has been positively 

received by the council. 

  

42. South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS)  

Written correspondence was passed between the council and SCAS on initial 

LGR proposals and potential impacts. The service were interested in the 

strategic impact of redrawing council boundaries and how this may lead to 

savings over a long-term period. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 54

https://oxfordclarion.uk/theres-only-one-oxfordshire-matthew-barber-on-council-reorganisation/


Neighbourhood governance in 

Oxfordshire: options exploration  
 

 Final draft 

Page 55



1 

About the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) is a social purpose consultancy and 

national centre of expertise, working to improve decision-making for the public good. 

We support local government and wider public services to strengthen governance, 

transparency, and accountability. 

Founded in 2003, CfGS has grown into a respected national charity, helping 

organisations design and deliver more inclusive, evidence-based, and outcomes-

focused governance. We believe the best decisions are made when they are 

constructively challenged, well-evidenced, and shaped by those they affect. 

Our work goes beyond structures—we support cultural change, build capacity, and 

champion values that lead to better outcomes. We collaborate with councils, national 

bodies, and partners to ensure scrutiny plays a vital role in good governance, shaping 

a better society for all. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



2 

Introduction 
 

The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) has been commissioned by Oxfordshire 

County Council to explore how neighbourhood governance — the ways in which decisions 

are made closer to communities — might evolve following local government reorganisation 

in the county.   

This report brings together this short research commission, carried out through interviews 

and desk research. It seeks to support ongoing conversations about the way that a future 

council or councils might connect with the needs of its residents at the most local level.  

In this report we examine potential models for how a future council or councils might do 

this, setting out different options for local-level governance arrangements, which we refer to 

throughout this report as “neighbourhood governance”.   

Permanent arrangements for neighbourhood governance can only be made by a new 

authority, or authorities, once they are set up, following a council reorganisation.  

So rather than define action, this report is designed to be a tool to engage residents and 

other stakeholders in conversations about future governance arrangements. It outlines a set 

of insights, principles, and requirements for how different neighbourhood governance 

arrangements might evolve and work – and lays out one potential model in order to 

provoke thinking and dialogue. It is designed to support such thinking and dialogue 

irrespective of the structural approach that Government chooses to pursue.  

Oxfordshire County Council has also committed to sharing the final output to inform wider 

discussions and planning across all the authorities involved in Oxfordshire’s reorganisation. 

CfGS would like to thank all those who contributed to this work by speaking to us during 

June 2025, and to the officers of Oxfordshire County Council who provided logistically and 

administrative assistance in our evidence-gathering.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



3 

 

 

Summary of methodology          4 

Executive summary and provocations       5 

Main findings 

1.  Exploring the existing landscape        13 

 1A: Context          13 

 1B: Defining neighbourhood governance      14 

 1C: The work of parish, town and community councils    15 

 1D: Wider community activity across the county     21 

 1E: How public bodies contribute to neighbourhood governance  23 

 1F: Summarising Oxfordshire’s needs      25 

2. Exploring what others do         30 

 2A: Examples from the UK         30 

 2B: Examples from outside the UK       33 

 2C: Inclusive methods for design, decision-making and delivery   35 

 2D: Reflecting on what makes neighbourhood governance work  38 

3. Exploring the possibilities for Oxfordshire      41 

 3A: Design principles        41 

 3B: Defining neighbourhoods and areas       43 

 3C: The area committee         44 

 3D: Practical arrangements for area committees      51 

 3E: Other potential models         54 

4.  Exploring the approach for Oxford       56 

 4A: City-wide functions in Oxford       56 

 4B: Structures available to carry out the work      57 

Appendix A: Methodology          60 

Appendix B: Oxfordshire as a place        61 

Contents 

Page 58



4 

Summary of methodology   
 

This report is based on a combination of desk research and structured qualitative 

engagement. We spoke with 52 individuals from eleven organisations through a series of 

one-to-one interviews and small focus groups conducted in July 2025. Participants included 

councillors, officers, and representatives from organisations with a stake in the future of 

local governance in Oxfordshire. 

The conversations explored four core themes: identity and sense of place; local power, 

leadership and accountability; community engagement and participation; and the 

practicalities and support needed for neighbourhood governance to function effectively. 

Findings were triangulated with relevant research and examples from elsewhere in the UK 

and internationally, helping to build a grounded but outward-looking evidence base. 

The research was underpinned by a number of connected principles:  

• CfGS’s work is not premised on the adoption of a particular structural model for 

Oxfordshire. We have been commissioned by Oxfordshire County Council which 

is developing a proposal for Option 1. However, a renewed focus on 

neighbourhood governance will be necessary irrespective of the model 

Government chooses, because the structural result of reorganisation will bring 

fewer, larger councils1.   

• Our work is introductory and exploratory in nature – it supports the start of a 

wider, ongoing conversation. We have spoken to only a few people, and carried 

out a limited amount of documentary analysis with the intention of setting out the 

overall landscape for people at a local level to explore in more detail. At this stage 

we can suggest possible models and approaches but we can’t make 

recommendations or proposals for change. In particular, a wider range of insights 

directly from the public, and a range of other stakeholders, will add richness and 

nuance to these preliminary findings and the conclusions we have reached on 

their basis. 

• The options and opportunities we explore must be grounded in the needs of 

Oxfordshire as a place. Any approach to neighbourhood governance must reflect 

specific local circumstances – it must respond to the actually existing position 

rather than set out an arbitrary, idealised model of what perfect neighbourhood 

governance arrangements might look like.   

More detail on the methodology adopted for the work can be found at Appendix A.  

 
1 We have commented on a future model for the municipal governance of the City of Oxford, in doing 

so recognising that Option 3 involves the creation of a “Greater Oxford” council, the context for 

which would involve a different approach to neighbourhood governance.  

 

Page 59



5 

 

Executive summary   
 

This report is divided into three main parts.  

In the first part, we have explored the current landscape. We have sought to define what 

neighbourhood governance is, to explore the role of parishes, principal authorities and 

wider community activism in what happens at the most local level. We have sought to set 

out what this means, overall, for what a future model for neighbourhood governance in 

Oxfordshire will need to look like.  

In the second part, we have explored what others do. We have looked at the UK and 

beyond, reviewing the various models that exist to support public bodies and local people 

to work together at a local level. We have drawn out some lessons from that review, by way 

of setting out what are the key components of making neighbourhood governance work.  

In the third part, we have explored what this means for Oxfordshire. We have laid out some 

design principles to inform the construction of a model for neighbourhood governance 

across the county. We have then – by way of illustration, not as a recommendation – laid 

out a possible future framework which centres the possible establishment of new area 

committees – with a core duty relating to neighbourhood planning – as having connected 

functions relating to supporting, and building capacity, within existing communities and 

neighbourhoods, rather than (for example) as bodies to themselves make decisions or to 

direct operational spending.  

In the fourth part, we have applied some of these ideas and principles specifically to the 

city of Oxford, to explore what a model for municipal governance might look like if 

Government chooses a structural option which involves the abolition of the existing city 

council.   

 

 

We define “neighbourhood governance” as involving three principal activities: 

• Design of place. This is about discussing, setting out and pursuing a vision for the 

local area.  

• Decision-making about place. This is about local people influencing and informing 

decisions made by others that might affect them.  

• Delivery in place. This is about local people making ongoing arrangements to meet 

their own needs and the needs of their fellow residents by directly delivering services 

and/or carrying out connected community action.  

Exploring the existing landscape 

Page 60



6 

 

Across Oxfordshire there is a huge range of activity that connects to these three tasks.  

• We looked at the work of parish councils, and the work of principal authorities, in 

engaging with local people.  

• We looked at how certain services for which principal authorities are responsible are 

designed and delivered in partnership with local people – practices that reflect a 

complex patchwork which cannot easily be mapped.  

• Finally we looked at the wider array of community activity which happens across the 

county area – formal and informal work, of substantial breadth and scope. All of this 

work enhances community resilience and much aims to make practical, positive 

differences to local people’s lives. Most happens at a highly local, human scale.  

But there is very little capacity in the system, and risks attached where those capacity 

challenges are most acute. In some cases, important parts of the social fabric are supported 

by a small number of people, or key institutions, which may not see themselves as being 

“anchors” or enablers of what others around them are doing.  

We have looked at Oxfordshire’s future needs, and the major strategic plans that aim to 

create a more inclusive future for growth and productivity in the local economy – we have 

also thought that about inevitable challenges that come with growth and development, and 

how these play out at the most local level.  

Underpinning all of this is the need for neighbourhood governance to support, and grow, 

community resilience.  

We have tried to use our understanding of this overall picture to frame what Oxfordshire’s 

needs are in respect of future neighbourhood governance. We thinks these needs are: 

• Interconnectedness with wider public service objectives. Investing in neighbourhood 

governance is also an investment in the wider goals of inclusive economic growth, 

tackling deprivation, and improving life chances. Strengthening neighbourhood 

governance helps to build the social fabric that underpins these outcomes — by 

enabling resilient, self-supporting communities to take a more active role in shaping 

the places they live in.  

• Messiness. Sustainable arrangements for community action within neighbourhoods 

look messy. The presence of messiness reflects the fact that neighbourhood 

governance arrangements are not ones that can be easily “held” by a new principal 

authority or authorities. Community activity is organic and reflects the places within 

which it operates – neighbourhood systems operated by councils and other public 

sector bodies needs to fit around that existing reality.   

• Informal vs formal. Some community action happens through formal means – legal, 

public decision-making, formal partnerships and agreements, and activities 

undertaken by formally constituted bodies that often hold specific accountabilities to 

Page 61



7 

local people. Much more is informal in nature and the “formal” activity often 

supports the informal in ways that are not apparent to policymakers and decision-

makers.  

• Asymmetry as a core feature. Asymmetry is an inherent characteristic of 

neighbourhood governance. Different parts of the ecosystem operate with varying 

levels of capability, legitimacy, and ambition — even among larger town councils, 

there is no single, shared understanding of purpose or role. Any attempt to devolve 

power or responsibility uniformly across an area is likely to fall short.  

• Consistency. There is a need for certain services to be subject to area-wide 

consistency, and for some services to be subject to the formality associated with a 

rules-based system. This is particularly the case for personal services that are built 

around rights and entitlements set out in statute, but also those services provided 

universally.   

• Capacity building where people already are anchored in a realistic and long term 

approach to resourcing. The need to build and maintain community capacity is a 

necessary prerequisite of meaningful neighbourhood governance.   

• Visibility. No-one can or should expect to be able to see the whole system. But there 

needs to be an awareness of the presence of a wider ecosystem around community 

activity that acknowledges the messiness and asymmetry that we describe above, as 

well as other characteristics.  

• Mindset, attitude and culture. Amongst professionals, there is likely to be a need to 

shift behaviours around engagement, participation and communication with local 

neighbourhoods – fostering a greater spirit of trust and mutual honesty and joining 

up professional-led activity.  

• Community intelligence. Insight from local people — grounded in lived experience 

and local relationships — can surface nuances that may be missed by even the most 

skilled professionals working at a distance. When shared, this intelligence doesn’t 

just inform better decision-making; it also builds collective understanding of local 

challenges and creates a stronger foundation for co-produced solutions.  

 

 

 

We wanted to examine what happens elsewhere in the UK, what happens beyond the UK 

and what “good practice” tells us about developing more inclusive approaches to the 

involvement of local people in shaping and taking action in their own areas.  

We conclude that there are three components to making effective neighbourhood 

governance “stick”: 

Exploring what others do 

Page 62



8 

• Shifts in behaviour. Evidence from elsewhere suggests that moving to a more 

purposefully designed approach to local places (in how places are shaped, how 

decisions are made, and how services are delivered) requires more than structural 

reform. It requires behavioural shifts. These shifts involve public service 

professionals stepping into the spaces where communities already operate — 

developing a deeper, more holistic understanding of civic infrastructure, and working 

collaboratively to respond to local needs and opportunities.  

• Ensuring central democratic control and oversight. How do we empower 

neighbourhoods meaningfully while maintaining system-wide integrity and 

accountability – in particular, accountability for democratically-elected politicians 

who have been elected to represent local people? Control systems are necessary, but 

they should be light-touch and enabling, not bureaucratic and restrictive.  

• “Docking in” new arrangements with existing, more traditional, parts of the 

governance landscape.  Local participation must be meaningful, enduring, and taken 

seriously. That means not treating community-led governance as an optional extra or 

one-off experiment but embedding it into how a council makes decisions. To achieve 

that, participatory and neighbourhood governance must be able to 'dock into' formal 

systems of public decision-making. This isn’t about limiting local agency — it’s about 

giving it weight, status, and permanence. If communities are to play a real role in 

shaping places, decisions flowing from that involvement need to have legitimacy in 

the eyes of the law and the wider public.  

 

 

 

In defining an approach that might work for Oxfordshire, we want to establish some 

design principles against which various different approaches and models for 

neighbourhood governance can be judged. Our design principles draw on our statement of 

Oxfordshire’s neighbourhood governance needs – they are: 

• Supporting the legitimacy and role of elected politicians. Representative democracy 

is the central bulwark of our democratic system. Any approach to strengthen 

neighbourhood governance will need to give elected councillors – at principal and 

parish level – a central role. 

• A rules-based approach. People need to be assured that they are dealing with public 

institutions that will work consistently and transparency. This is particularly 

important when needs and appetites for services and local interventions will be quite 

different from area to area. Absolute transparency will be needed to avoid the risk 

that this kind of asymmetry is seen as favouritism.  

• Effective management and ownership of risk. When services are designed and 

delivered with local people – when we use different approaches to work with them 

Exploring the possibilities for Oxfordshire 

Page 63



9 

and within their neighbourhoods – this could be seen as producing a diffusion of 

accountability, and a lack of ownership of risks.  

• Framed around public service partnership. Through designation as a Marmot Place, 

the county wants to expand on this capability; there is a recognition (through CAGs 

and other mechanisms) that there is a need to strengthen this approach, and 

neighbourhood governance systems can and should be a facilitator.  

• A strengths-based approach building on what already exists. Across the county, a 

huge variety of arrangements exist for neighbourhood and community activity, some 

of it supported by principal authorities but much of it not. The focus will need to be 

on the strengthening of the connective tissue associated with neighbourhood-based 

activity rather than necessarily “doing more” of that activity – thereby increasingly 

community resilience. This is why we see this work strengthening and deepening the 

commitments made by councils across the area through the Oxfordshire Charter.  

• Providing opportunity for debate and discussion on tensions and tradeoffs, 

anchored in neighbourhood planning. A big challenge for the county area is 

management of the tensions and disagreements arising from growth and 

development. Neighbourhood governance arrangements should be anchored in 

neighbourhood planning – a process with statutory definition that will help local 

areas to manage these tensions and tradeoffs, and place them in a wider context.  

• County-wide consistency, but with significant local divergence. This sounds 

contradictory – and it is. On the one hand it would be unfair and inequitable (and in 

some cases illegal) for principal authorities to offer services on a dramatically 

differential basis depending on geography. On the other hand it is right that public 

services flex to meet local need and capacity.  

Based on these design principles we set out one potential approach – the establishment of a 

system of area committees. We do also set out a range of alternative and/or complementary 

models at the end of the report, in section 3F.  

Because defining “neighbourhoods” is challenging, we suggest that these bodies would 

cover a wider geography, covering an area of several (new) councils wards.  

These would not be decision-making bodies but bodies designed to support and enable 

wider community development activity – bodies existing to support, and to act as anchor 

institutions for, the wider range of community activity happens from place to place. To carry 

out this role these committees would need to be supported by a part of a new council that 

we have called a “Neighbourhood Unit”.  

Page 64



10 

 

Illustration of core relationships. Arrows denote flows of insight and intelligence, and 

resource and support.   

Area committees would enjoy a particularly close relationship with parish councils, as 

democratic partners and as institutions which area committees could themselves support – 

while ensuring that parishes retain their independence.  

In our model these committees would do three connected things, which echo and reinforce 

our descriptions of neighbourhood governance in part 1 of the report:  

• Mapping and understanding – seeking to develop a common understanding of the 

“place” 

• Providing support, capacity and resource – being incubators for community activity 

• Providing direction and oversight – on certain operational decisions, and on other 

matters 

In support of these three activities area committees would have a core function – holding 

responsibility for neighbourhood planning – to give them a formal role around shaping the 

place and ensuring that the future design of that place is managed in a way that is 

inclusive.  

 

 

 

The City of Oxford has its own distinct needs with regard to governance. In commissioning 

us the county councils asked us to look at options for Oxford specifically – reflecting the fact 

that under two of the three options for reorganisation, Oxford will lose the distinct, 

independent municipal governance that it has enjoyed for a millennium.  

Exploring the possibilities for Oxford 

Page 65



11 

This is an experience that other towns and cities have gone through in recent years. We 

wanted to explore – in part based on their experiences – two issues:  

• Which aspects of neighbourhood governance – design, decision-making, delivery 

– might usefully be carried out city-wide in Oxford? 

• Which structures might be established, and maintained, in order to do this?  

In terms of duties, we think that there is a case for city-wide decision-making (and delivery) 

on the following issues: 

• Management of community assets / community facilities   

• Management of parks and green spaces   

• Community development and the management of cultural activities  

• Business and economic development, and tourism   

• Licensing and planning decision-making (although the legality and remit of these 

tasks would need to be subject to review – see below)  

• (Social housing) estate management, where appropriate  

In terms of structures, for many the first obvious option is the establishment of a new first-

tier city council for Oxford – covering the same boundaries as the current district but with a 

smaller range of duties and responsibilities befitting the status of a community council. This 

would either involve a community governance review leading to the abolition of the four 

existing parish councils in the area or the establishment of a new council to cover the 

existing unparished area of the city.  

The new council would be by some distance the most populous first-tier authority in 

England. Government’s willingness to agree, as part of LGR, to the proposed establishment 

of a new parish council of this size, presumably with precepting powers, is difficult to read. 

It could be seen as seeking to recreate two-tier government by the back door.  

Alternatives involve a federated model – the establishment of a small number of new 

parishes which are “grouped” with the existing parish councils in the city of Oxford to form 

a kind of federation, which makes decisions on city-wide matters collectively – but this 

would be a novel form of governance for England even if it has precedents from overseas.  

The option that we would be keen to see explored further is the use of the charter trustee 

arrangements which a new council would otherwise need to establish in order to retain 

Oxford’s city status and Royal Charter as a way of composing an area committee which has 

an enhanced range of decision-making responsibilities for the city.  

 

 

Page 66



12 

 

Provocations 

 
➢ How can governance systems reflect the lived identity of places — beyond 

administrative boundaries?  

➢ Can we design governance in a way that builds civic identity, especially in 

places where formal structures are missing?  

➢ How can we build local structures that are flexible and proportionate to each 

place?  

➢ Who holds power at the local level — and how do they become accountable for 

it? How important is it who the key decision-makers are? 

➢ How (and should) can councillors and officers shift from gatekeepers to 

enablers of shared leadership?  

➢ What institutional architecture supports long-term, community-powered 

governance?  

➢ What institutional architecture supports communities, neighbourhoods and 

areas to be more resilient? 

➢ How can we ensure equity when capacity and confidence vary so widely across 

places?  

➢ What kinds of investment and support make shared governance viable?  

➢ How can we ensure equity when capacity and confidence vary so widely across 

places?  

➢ What kinds of investment and support make shared governance viable?  

➢ What does meaningful participation look like in the next phase of local 

democracy?  

➢ Can we turn one-off engagement into a standing system for collaborative 

decision-making?  

➢ How can co-production move from the health and care sector into the 

mainstream of local governance?  

➢ What makes deliberation truly powerful and policy-relevant?  

 

 

 

Page 67



13 

1. Exploring the existing landscape   
 

1A: Context 
 

In December 2024, the Government announced its wish to reorganise the boundaries, roles 

and responsibilities of councils in two tier (district and county) areas in England.   

In February 2025, Jim McMahon MP, Minister of State for Local Government, sent a formal 

letter to councils in two-tier areas across England, including in Oxfordshire, inviting areas to 

submit proposals for change. Councils were told that initial proposals needed to be 

submitted by March 2025, with detailed proposals submitted by November 2025.   

Councils in Oxfordshire submitted three different outline proposals.   

• Option one was for a single county unitary, and was supported by Oxfordshire 

County Council.   

• Option two was for two unitary councils – one in the north of the area and one in the 

south, also encompassing parts of neighbouring county areas. This option was 

supported by shire district councils in the area.   

• Option three was for three unitary councils – one in the north of the county and one 

in the south alongside a “Greater Oxford” council. This option was supported by 

Oxford City Council.   

The letter was accompanied by guidance setting out the overall criteria that Government 

would be using to choose which option to take forward.  

This guidance did not set out specific expectations for how submissions should ensure that 

a future council or councils would have the arrangements in place to ensure accountability 

at local level, including the establishment of locality or neighbourhood arrangements for the 

delivery of local services, or to ensure effective local engagement in the business of the new 

authority or authorities.  

Government has said that its preference, in areas undergoing local government 

reorganisation, is that councils will establish area, or neighbourhood, committees, and 

considers that this will be an important component in support for community development. 

The Minister of State for Local Government said in a statement to Parliament in June2:  

“A simplified and standardised system of local area-working and governance is 

needed, and neighbourhood Area Committees, led by frontline ward councillors, 

 
2 Hansard, 3 June 2025: https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2025-06-

03/hcws676  

Page 68

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2025-06-03/hcws676
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2025-06-03/hcws676


14 

are the best route to achieve this. Neighbourhood Area Committees support local 

authorities to deliver their commitments to community partnership-working at a 

neighbourhood level. There are also opportunities to bring in other service 

providers into broader membership of neighbourhood Area Committees, for 

instance town or parish councillors where they exist, and co-opted members 

from other local community organisations. This allows for the benefit of 

structural efficiencies from Local Governance Reorganisation while deepening 

localism and engagement across every community.”  

Provision for the establishment of new neighbourhood committees has been made in the 

English Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill, with the detail to come in 

forthcoming (at the time of writing) Regulations.  

1B: Defining neighbourhood governance 
 

For the purposes of this report, CfGS defines “neighbourhood governance” as the way in 

which local people, either directly or through their elected representatives, can undertake 

action in three main areas:  

1. Design of place. This is about discussing, setting out and pursuing a 

vision for the local area. In some areas, neighbourhood planning is the anchor for 

this activity – the kind of long-term discussion about what people want the area to 

look like now and in the future. 

2. Decision-making about place. This is about influencing and informing 

decisions made by others that might affect them. This influence might be through 

informal dialogue with decision-makers, or more formal mechanisms like 

engagement with traditional “consultations”. It can also involve the use of deeper, 

participatory methods in which local people co-produce, and co-design, aspects of 

local services with decision-makers who might be from the local council, the NHS or 

another public body.  

3. Delivery in place. This is about local people making ongoing 

arrangements to meet their own needs and the needs of their fellow residents by 

directly delivering services and/or carrying out connected community action3. This 

might be through organisations or groups which are formal (like a parish council, or 

a formally constituted group or association) or informal (like a group of neighbours 

 
3 Calling all of this activity “delivery” is perhaps a public service-centric view of the breadth of what 

this community action – much of it based on local, social relationships – does. We think that it is likely 

that, in talking about activity here, people involved in subsequent conversations will need to break 

this down and develop a perhaps more sophisticated typology.  

 

Page 69



15 

or volunteers who might come together to do things to make the local area better).   

This is not a definitive description. In the interviews we conducted, there was a very wide 

range of understanding and expectations about what “neighbourhood governance” might 

be.   

Words like neighbourhood, community and locality are used sometimes interchangeably by 

different people. The use of a variety of different terms can serve to obscure meaning, and 

can make it difficult to even begin a conversation about the fundamental premise associated 

with neighbourhood governance that we have described above.  

For example:  

• the word “neighbourhood” has a clear geographical focus, but some people might 

use it to describe an area of a few square miles while others (the NHS, for example) 

use the word to describe a far wider geographical area.   

• some people use the word “community” to mean the same thing as 

“neighbourhood” but for others a “community” might not be something defined by 

geography but by life experience or need – so for example there may be a 

“community” of carers across the county of Oxfordshire.  

• some people’s thinking about what neighbourhood, locality or community working 

might look like might lean towards one of our three descriptors more than another.  

For example for some neighbourhood governance is about advocacy – campaigning and 

influencing public sector bodies to do or not do certain things. For some it is about direct, 

street by street community action – typified by things like mutual aid. And for others it is 

about the presence and operation of more traditional structures, like parish councils.  

Developing a shared understanding about what these concepts mean will probably be 

necessary for stakeholders in Oxfordshire as they continue to explore how neighbourhood 

governance arrangements can be designed to be meaningful.  

We think that these conversations will need to be framed in such a way as to be practically 

meaningful – using as a base the kinds of examples and approaches we set out in parts 2 

and 3 of this paper. As part of this exercise, local stakeholders might want to carry out some 

deeper local mapping to expand on existing knowledge and where, and how, local 

networks, connections and relationships between organisations exist, and their strengths 

and weaknesses.  

1C: The work of parish, town and community councils 
 

We start our detailed consideration of what neighbourhood governance looks like across 

Oxfordshire by reviewing the role carried out by parish councils.  

The county is fully parished, apart from the main part of the City of Oxford. Oxford has three 

long-standing parishes, reflecting areas brought within the city boundaries at the time of the 

Page 70



16 

1974 local government reforms, and another parish, Blackbird Leys, established more 

recently4.   

In some parished areas with fewer than 200 electors, and where there is no parish council in 

place, annual parish meetings5 may be convened to carry out certain duties, and to hold 

certain powers in statute which would otherwise be exercised by a parish council.   

While some parishes do co-ordinate their work – and may contract jointly for things like 

grass cutting – there are no formal grouping arrangements for parishes within the county6.    

The recently agreed Oxfordshire Councils Charter7 sets out a framework for better 

partnership working in Oxfordshire, defined by two strategic aims: 

• Stronger partnership working between Oxfordshire councils, and; 

• Enhancing local democracy.  

The Charter also sets out “shared principles” – which provide useful context to the way that 

behaviours inform the quality of neighbourhood governance. These are: 

• Mutual respect (about recognising commonalities and differences and acting in good 

faith); 

• Transparency and accountability (about sharing information and being transparent 

about things like decision-making); 

• Relationship-building (about fostering collaborative relationships and removing the 

barriers to doing this that might exist).  

This framework (accompanied by shared commitments, and plans for implementation) is 

likely to provide a basis for ongoing conversations around neighbourhood governance. 

Some interviews told us that the quality of communication between parishes and principal 

authorities is not always as good as it could be, although the presence of the Charter aims 

to make things more consistent and systematic.   

Parishes’ activities relating to neighbourhood governance 

We want to set out how we see parishes currently contribute to the three aspects of 

neighbourhood governance that we described in the introduction – design, decision-making 

and delivery.   

In doing so there are two foundational issues that we have identified that will need to 

 
4 In comparison with other parishes Blackbird Leys is slightly unusual in that it holds no explicit 

service delivery responsibilities. It principal areas of focus have been neighbourhood planning and 

place-shaping, and more general community development in what is one of Oxford’s most deprived 

areas.  
5 Further to provisions in the Local Government Act 1972, ss9, 13 et seq 
6 Grouping is provided for under s11 of the Local Government Act 1972. Further guidance on 

grouping can be found in “Guidance on community governance reviews” (DCLG / LGBCE, 2010): 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a78e983ed915d0422066530/1527635.pdf   
7 “Oxfordshire Councils Charter”: https://www.oalc.org.uk/oxfordshire-councils-charter  

Page 71

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5a78e983ed915d0422066530/1527635.pdf
https://www.oalc.org.uk/oxfordshire-councils-charter


17 

inform conclusions about what current practice tells us about plans for the future.  

Firstly, parishes, as institutions, are part of a wider local ecosystem of “neighbourhood 

governance”. Some interviewees spoke about parish and town councils as being, in their 

eyes, one and the the thing as the idea of “neighbourhood governance” generally. 

However, they are more correctly seen as part of a wider ecosystem of local organisations 

and groups.  

This does not however mean that parishes carry out a formal role in co-ordinating this 

community activity – though such co-ordination may happen informally.  

For example, in some areas: 

• members of a parish council may play a role on other organisations – providing an 

informal connection.  

• parish councils may provide small grants or other forms of assistance to local groups 

or bodies, or support volunteer community activities.  

• parish councils may own and rent out for a relatively small fee a local hall.  

In each case the council is acting as a facilitator of wider community activity without this 

necessarily being acknowledged as such – as well as providing vital community capacity 

and capability to support the wider local ecosystem. 

Secondly, parishes have varied capacity, capability and appetite for carrying out the broad 

range of “neighbourhood governance” roles that we have identified. In all areas, the 

capacity, capability and enthusiasm of parish councils to carry out our three roles for 

neighbourhood governance. 

Some are large institutions with substantial budgets and a number of permanent staff – 

some town councils fall into this category. Many however are very small, enjoying the 

support only of a part time clerk.  

Town and parish councils struggle to fill councillor vacancies, even through co-option8. This 

creates a challenge for perceptions of legitimacy, as few seats are contested in elections. 

We have been told that some councils rely on a comparatively small number of committed, 

long-standing (and ageing) members. We were told that people might be put off from 

involvement because of old fashioned ideas of what parish councils do (including the use of 

the word “parish”).   

We were told that the presence of a comparatively small number of particularly active and 

engaged elected members at parish level was what made the difference in terms of the 

overall capacity and capability of many councils – which raises challenges around the 

resilience of some of those institutions, and the potential need for further capacity 

support9.   

 
8 This is not unique to Oxfordshire, and reflects a wider national challenge.  
9 See part 3 

Page 72



18 

 

Dealing with capacity and capability: setting up new parishes 

 
New parishes may be set up as a result of a community governance review (CGR) carried 

out (in a two-tier area) by a shire district10. CGRs have been periodically carried out by 

districts across Oxfordshire. In many cases this involves minor changes to boundaries, 

but it can also involve the creation of wholly new parishes. For example, associated with 

the western expansion of Didcot, a Western Valley Parish Council was recently 

established, to cover Great Western Park and parts of Harwell.   

Associated with the production of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan, Oxford City 

Council held a consultation in 2020 to assess appetite for a new parish for the 

(unparished) area concerned. Local people voted, narrowly, against the establishment of a 

new parish council.  

Government has recently (mid-2025) indicated that it wants to proceed with caution on 

the establishment of new precepting parishes as part of the reorganisation process11.  

 

Bearing these factors in mind how, then, does the role of the parish map onto our three 

main roles for neighbourhood governance? 

• Parishes shaping the place (“design”): Parishes have played, and continue to 

play, a role in “place shaping” in a way that is framed by formal neighbourhood 

planning arrangements. Parishes have variable capacity to engage with this 

visioning activity – and some have limited interest in it. We have been told that 

high level planning activity can feel disconnected from the practical 

circumstances in which people live their lives. This is even the case for major 

plans and strategies with a significant impact on local communities. This is a 

challenge that has long been recognised as a feature of the plan-led development 

system in England, but also cuts across to the way that local people think of the 

future of their towns, villages and areas from a more social perspective. Where 

this locally led visioning activity does happen, it is often built around proposals 

for development, such as through the Homes England-supported “Garden 

Communities” initiative12. We are, however, aware of exceptions – such as the 

activity undertaken by the county council to develop “community insight 

 
10 Further to provisions for such reviews in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 

Act 2007.  
11 “Minister warns against recreating two-tier structures via parishes” (Local Government Chronicle, 4 

July 2025): https://www.lgcplus.com/politics/devolution-and-economic-growth/minister-warns-

against-recreating-two-tier-structures-via-parishes-04-07-2025/ 
12 “Garden communities toolkit” (Homes England, 2019): https://www.gov.uk/guidance/garden-

communities. See also “Garden communities set to flourish across England” (Government press 

release, 24 May 2022): https://www.gov.uk/government/news/garden-communities-set-to-flourish-

across-england  

Page 73

https://www.lgcplus.com/politics/devolution-and-economic-growth/minister-warns-against-recreating-two-tier-structures-via-parishes-04-07-2025/
https://www.lgcplus.com/politics/devolution-and-economic-growth/minister-warns-against-recreating-two-tier-structures-via-parishes-04-07-2025/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/garden-communities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/garden-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/garden-communities-set-to-flourish-across-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/garden-communities-set-to-flourish-across-england


19 

profiles” (CIPs)13 – documents that aim to describe local communities and to use 

the insights arising to put in place managed interventions to support local 

people’s lives.   

• Parishes engaging with principal authorities (“decision-making”): Parish councils 

feed into the work of principal authorities in a variety of ways. Again, this varies 

by council and by topic, contributing to a complex tapestry of engagement. We 

were told that some less interested in contributing to partnership decision-

making with principal authorities or do not have the capacity to do so. Parishes 

may also carry out work relating to neighbourhood planning14. Here, as 

elsewhere, capacity and experiences vary significantly. Co-production, and co-

decision-making, between parishes and principal authorities is we think affected 

by the fact that principal authorities generally have their own arrangements to co-

produce and co-design policy directly with local people – through formal 

consultation and more innovation approaches to involvement15. These 

arrangements do not cut out parish councils but they reflect the fact that parishes 

are seen as lacking – overall – the capacity to deal with those wider community 

objectives, rather than focusing on delivery.   

• Parish-led services (“delivery”): It is true that parishes, overall, have the potential 

to carry out a number of activities relating to our three overall objectives of 

neighbourhood governance (deliberation, decision-making, delivery). Again, 

however, parishes’ capability means there is substantial variability across 

Oxfordshire as to which councils do what.  Parish councils may hold a range of 

service delivery responsibilities. Some of these may include: 

o Providing universal amenities: this may include public toilets, parks and 

recreation grounds, litter bins and street lighting; 

o Community support: organising festivals and other events, and carrying 

out activity to support local businesses and encourage tourism; 

o Ownership and management of certain community assets: councils may 

operate community halls or other public buildings which may be used as a 

base for wider community activity; 

o Operation of leisure facilities; 

o Management of allotments; 

o Provision of public car parking.  

 

 

Case studies: parish involvement in design, decision-making and 

delivery in Oxfordshire 

 

 
13 Accessible on the Oxfordshire Data Hub: https://data.oxfordshire.gov.uk/health-and-social-

care/community-insight-profiles/  
14 See section 2C 
15 See section 2C 

 

Page 74

https://data.oxfordshire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/community-insight-profiles/
https://data.oxfordshire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/community-insight-profiles/


20 

Dog waste bins 

Under a county-wide arrangement the county has contracted for the emptying of these 

bins and charged part of the cost back to parishes. More recently, the county council 

determined that it needed to recover more of its costs and would therefore need to charge 

parishes closer to cost price for the service. Some parishes determined that they would 

make separate procurement arrangements for waste bin emptying but found that quality 

and performance management was much more difficult than when arrangements were 

made county-wide. This highlights the capacity challenge of how to manage delivery of 

even a relatively “straightforward” operational service. 

These and other experience highlight the need for conversations about the onward 

devolution of services to be couched in realism. We have been told that people don’t 

mind who delivers services to them – just that they are delivered. Of course, the issue of 

who holds responsibility is, actually, pertinent to whether things are delivered or not, 

because understanding what successful delivery means involves understanding local 

communities sufficiently to translate their needs into action.   

If we are to accept the idea that there are some services, and matters, where delivery 

arrangements are best managed at a local level, this commitment requires ongoing, 

meaningful capacity-building support. 

OXTOG: joint action on local transport 

OXTOG (Oxfordshire Together) is a county council initiative whereby the council comes 

together with town and parish councils, and the wider community, to explore and 

understanding local priorities on local transport and to take action. This involves 

supporting local volunteering (such as sign cleaning), and the delivery of certain 

highways and transport services by parishes.   

It also includes verge cutting. This came up repeatedly in conversations as an example of 

a superficially straightforward matter that can be “devolved” to communities and to 

volunteers that is actually complex. In different communities, there are different 

expectations – on the frequency of grass cutting, on whether it should be done at all for 

environmental reasons, and on the relative importance to road safety of close-cutting 

verges. These are local disagreements that communities need to navigate, and they may 

need support to do so.   

This work connects to Community Action Groups (CAGs16). 

 

 

 

 
16 See section 1E 

Page 75



21 

1D: Wider community activity across the county  
 

Community action is of course not limited to parish councils. We have already noted that 

they are only part of a wider ecosystem of local community activity.   

There are a huge range of individuals, groups and organisations carrying out work which in 

some way contributes positively to the local community. This work builds “community 

infrastructure” – the underpinnings that neighbourhoods need in order to feel like proper 

communities. This work also contributes to creating the conditions in which 

neighbourhoods are able to take on some of the tasks associated with the three objectives 

for community governance that we set out in the introduction – design, decision-making 

and delivery.   

Some of the features of this activity that we have heard about include:  

• Activity is in many places built around existing social and support networks. Informal 

community activity is sometimes ad hoc and difficult to separate from ordinary 

“social” activity; 

• Activity is informed by different views about what a “place”, neighbourhood or 

community is. The description of “neighbourhoods” and “localities” by different 

people and organisations does not lend itself to the drawing of lines on maps. A 

consistent sense of place is elusive – individuals will themselves hold overlapping 

sense of the different “communities” and “neighbourhoods” with regard to which 

they feel a sense a belonging. For example, we were told that some towns are siloed 

in their community activity – there are links between neighbourhoods, communities 

and groups within towns but little between towns, which may have implications for 

community resilience; 

• The most visible, cross-community and well-organised activity is often that which is 

galvanised by external threats and pressures. Proposals for Botley West solar farm 

and the Abingdon reservoir are examples of these perceived threats acting as a focus 

around which community action can coalesce.   

• A lot of community activity (in particular, support networks for vulnerable people and 

groups, by existing networks and through mutual aid) developed significantly over 

the course of the pandemic, but the prospects for its sustainability and future growth 

are uncertain. In part this is because of a lack of ongoing support in community 

“stewardship” and capacity building (for example Government’s decision to 

withdraw funding from neighbourhood planning activity17). We were told that in 

some areas there had been a collective community exhaustion in the aftermath of 

the pandemic.   

• Rurality has a big impact. Oxfordshire is the least densely populated county in south 

east England. Rurality has an impact on deprivation (and the visibility of deprivation) 

and on things like transport connectivity. It also contributes substantially to people’s 

 
17 See section 2C 

Page 76



22 

sense of place. People in more rural areas are unlikely to consider themselves as 

being connected to or “part of” their nearest town (see our comments above on 

“sense of place”).   

 

Making community activity more resilient: “anchor” institutions and 

support 

 
Some community activity is undertaken by organisations that are independent, but which 

may have a commissioning relationship with, councils in the area. While this may not 

always be acknowledged  

For example:  

• Healthwatch Oxfordshire operates on a statutory footing, with its work 

commissioned by the county council. It has a role (subject to Government’s 

announcement in June 2025 of its abolition) around patient advocacy that links 

clearly to the Marmot outcomes describes elsewhere in this paper.   

• Citizen’s advice services in Oxfordshire, delivered by institutions whose 

boundaries are not coterminous with those of the county, will contribute 

significantly to community resilience. 

• The county council contracts with Carers Oxfordshire to provide information, 

advice and support to adult carers.   

There are grant making organisations and other connected bodies, some of them area-

specific. Oxfordshire Community Foundation is a county-wide grant making body; 

Oxfordshire Community and Voluntary Action’s (OCVA) Connected Communities Fund 

provides micro-funding for activities specifically designed to support creating places that 

“support the people of Oxfordshire to live well in their community, remaining fit and 

healthy for as long as possible”.   

At area level, initiatives like the Didcot Powerhouse Fund have been established to make 

grants to support local people to tackle specific instances of deprivation and community 

need.   

These, and other kinds of organisations and initiatives in the area, will all contribute to the 

presence of community infrastructure which will, in turn, facilitate other community 

activity – although interviewees have noted that for the most part (as is very typical) 

funding and support is not available to cover organisations’ core costs. We were told by 

interviewees that more could be done to recognise the presence of “anchor” 

organisations by recognising the need for this additional resource and capacity, to 

recognise the wider work they do to facilitate neighbourhood governance, and to provide 

them with more capacity and resource to do so in a way that links up with wider public 

service outcomes.    

 

Page 77



23 

1E: How public bodies contribute to neighbourhood 

governance  
 

Work by principal authorities 

The county council, the districts and the city carry out activity using varying degrees of 

locality working. Area-wide, the county council has divided itself into 9 locality areas. 

Districts, and the city, have their own locality arrangements. For example, Oxford City 

Council operates a Localities Team that works across the four city council-designated 

localities in the city to provide support to community groups and organisations.   

The overall picture is one of a broad range of different arrangements in place, that are not 

all managed in such a way as to enhance community resilience. There is the potential that 

these kinds of arrangements, taken together, could reduce the overall capability and 

capacity of neighbourhoods and communities to engage on their own terms. We have been 

told of the risk and reality of “consultation fatigue”, and we have been told that principal 

authorities do not always bear in mind limited capacity when they do seek to engage.   

 

 

Case study: enhancing community resilience in the delivery of adult 

social care 

 
The county council’s adult social care strategy, “The Oxfordshire Way”, is framed around 

the development and delivery of support arrangements to adults with disabilities and 

long-term illnesses, further to the council’s statutory duties under the Care Act 2004.   

The strategy is framed around a strengths-based approach to support – focusing on 

supporting people to be independent within a supportive community environment, 

relying on informal networks and circles of support. The strategy cites an intention to 

“develop new services and partnerships to provide more choice and flexibility for people 

who need care and support, creating a flourishing network of support for people. For 

example, micro-enterprises supported by our partners Community Catalysts, and small 

voluntary sector organisations supported by our Connected Communities Fund”.  

The centrality of community led activity is important here, further emphasising that 

strong and resilient communities are central to the delivery of people-related services.  

 

Other arrangements include (but are not limited to):  

Page 78



24 

• Community action groups (CAGs)18. A network initially established in 2001 to take 

local action on waste management, CAGs have been funded by the county council 

since 2004, most recently through the independent organisation “CAG 

Oxfordshire”19. CAGs’ focus has expanded to cover sustainability more generally; 

some are now social enterprises. The model of incubation and support provided by 

long-term funding (and the resultant impact) provides a good example of how 

capacity-building support can develop civic infrastructure within communities and 

neighbourhoods. 

• Community place shaping through the Garden Communities initiative20. This Homes 

England programme, managed and delivered through South and Vale Councils, 

involves support activity in two designated “Garden Towns” – Didcot and 

Berensfield. This has provided a mechanism to manage challenges associated with 

significant urban expansion.   

• General outreach by the political leaderships of individual authorities (West 

Oxfordshire operates an “executive on tour” programme which involves the Cabinet 

meeting in different local communities to discuss matters of importance);  

• Flood risk management (where communities are able to bid into pots of money to 

take local flood risk action, and where flood wardens and supervisors are appointed 

within the local community). 

• Friends’ Groups attached to libraries, in some cases involving the co-management of 

library services by volunteers.  

• Work on street trees, where the county council has sought to appoint volunteer 

“Tree Guardians” to provide aftercare following planting. There has also been local 

decision-making relating to the placement of street trees, facilitated by OCC. 

• Community asset transfer. Asset transfer21 is something which has been a feature of 

county council activity for some time22. Interviewees, speaking to us about asset 

transfer, highlighted the dangers attached to a lack of consideration of the transfer of 

liabilities alongside assets, and the need for capacity-building support to be able to 

manage assets appropriately. There is a risk that asset transfer is seen as an example 

of local authorities dumping physical facilities on the local community if maintaining 

those facilities is difficult or expensive.    

 
18 Current funding arrangements, and priority activity, for the network can be found at 

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/oxfordshire-recycles/community-action-

groups#paragraph-15660  
19 https://www.cagoxfordshire.org.uk/about  
20 See footnote 12 above 
21 Sometimes confused with the “Community Right to Bid”, the formal process under the Localism 

Act 2011 which provides for local people to bid to take on responsibility for Assets of Community 

Value if their owner proposes to dispose of them. Modern approaches to asset transfer, meanwhile, 

date from the 2007 Quirk Review. More information can be found at 

https://mycommunity.org.uk/files/downloads/Download-Understanding-Community-Asset-

Transfer.pdf  
22 Oxfordshire County Council has transferred around 80 buildings to community and voluntary 

groups since 2011. The council has stated that, “this is primarily as a result of significant service 

changes driven by austerity measures”: https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-

planning/land-and-premises/community-assets  

Page 79

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/oxfordshire-recycles/community-action-groups#paragraph-15660
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/oxfordshire-recycles/community-action-groups#paragraph-15660
https://www.cagoxfordshire.org.uk/about
https://mycommunity.org.uk/files/downloads/Download-Understanding-Community-Asset-Transfer.pdf
https://mycommunity.org.uk/files/downloads/Download-Understanding-Community-Asset-Transfer.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/land-and-premises/community-assets
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/land-and-premises/community-assets


25 

• Activities relating to the county area’s designation as a Marmot Place23 – creating 

duties that cut across a range of areas and services, including co-production in 

respect of certain aspects of adult and children’s services (connected to the above).   

Together these arrangements reflect a patchwork of overlapping relationships between 

councils and communities. This brings about some capacity-based risks, but the resulting 

messiness is not necessarily a bad thing. It reflects the reality of the way that communities 

and neighbourhoods actually exist and function. But complexity and messiness can, 

equally, make the landscape difficult to navigate for those individuals, and organisations, 

not already familiar with the community and council ecosystem.   

By other organisations in Oxfordshire 

We have not looked in detail at community engagement activity undertaken by other 

bodies, although we have reflected briefly on the consequences for neighbourhood working 

in the NHS. We think it is likely that further work will need to be done by principal councils, 

and other partners, to undertake some mapping to understand where some of the principal 

public service activities are that interact with local people. In particular, this is likely to 

involve reflection on policy areas like:  

• Policing and community safety: where partners come together to take action on 

the kinds of visible measures that can support a sense of community, and the 

sense of risk and safety within that community;  

• Further education and higher education: given the important role that such 

institutions play in the shaping of place, from the perspective of local people’s life 

chances and the wider economy;  

• The social security system, including JobCentre+.   

 

1F: Summarising Oxfordshire’s needs  
 

A future model of neighbourhood governance will need to engage with the existing models 

of how local people currently work together, and work with public institutions, to get things 

done – which is why we have started by looking at what things look like in the present.   

Such a model will also need to engage with an understanding of the county area, its 

circumstances and requirements. We set some of these things out in Appendix B, where we 

review in more depth some of the wider public policy context for the area. Below, we briefly 

set out our findings on Oxfordshire’s possible future, and our reflections on what this future 

might mean for the approach taken on neighbourhood governance.  

 
23 We discuss this in its strategic context at section 1F 

Page 80



26 

Oxfordshire’s future 

Enterprise Oxfordshire’s Strategic Economic Plan24 highlights challenges around social 

inclusion – connected to “substantial disparities in relation to income and wealth”. The 

Strategy cites average household incomes of £48,000 in North Central Oxford compared to 

£26,300 in Blackbird Leys as evidence of particular disparities in Oxford itself, but evidence 

also exists of significant disparities elsewhere.   

The fact that Oxfordshire is the 10th least deprived of the 151 upper tier authority areas in 

England25 hides specific, localised deprivation – an extremely salient factor when 

considering the need, capacity and appetite for models of neighbourhood governance.   

The Strategy says26:  

“In the context of a county that can genuinely claim some of the world’s foremost 

science and technology assets […] this juxtaposition sits very uncomfortably. Growth 

within Oxfordshire needs to be inclusive. It needs to be ‘distributed across society 

and create opportunities for all’ [Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 2024-

30]. This is a key goal for Oxfordshire.”   

This presents a challenge to the design of neighbourhood governance arrangements – 

ensuring that they where possible provide an opportunity to share the fruits of growth, and 

that they provide an environment where discussion and decision-making about growth, and 

its consequences (positive and negative) for social fabric can be expanded.   

As a place, Oxfordshire is undergoing significant change. There is ongoing pressure for 

housing growth, and further economic development. Enterprise Oxfordshire’s strategies for 

growth and development are framed around inclusion and sustainability; this needs to be 

squared with pressure for physical development – the construction of new housing, new 

business premises and the infrastructure to support it.   

Alongside these plans are those owned by other organisations – jointly and separately. 

Documents such as the joint strategic needs assessment27 (JSNA) provide the basis for 

partnership planning on health and care matters – plans that are closely aligned to those 

relating to economic growth. Oxfordshire is a Marmot Place, with the county council having 

recently launched cross-partnership plans to contribute to the wider determinants of health 

by taking forward plans to reduce health inequalities. Objectives are linked to both social 

 
24 We have used the Strategic Economic Plan as a way to frame our understand of Oxfordshire’s likely 

future – but recognise that it is one plan, from one organisation, and that there are many other 

possible futures. One of the tasks for councils, their partners and local people as work on 

neighbourhood governance evolves will be to stake out a fuller sense of what the future for the 

county looks like through social, economic, cultural and other lens. “Strategic Economic Plan” 

(Enterprise Oxfordshire, 2023): https://www.enterpriseoxfordshire.com/what-we-do/strategies-plans-

reports/strategic-economic-plan/  
25 At the time of the publication of the Strategy (November 2023) 
26 SEP, p22 
27 Accessible in electronic, interactive form at the Oxfordshire Data Hub: 

https://data.oxfordshire.gov.uk/jsna/  

Page 81

https://www.enterpriseoxfordshire.com/what-we-do/strategies-plans-reports/strategic-economic-plan/
https://www.enterpriseoxfordshire.com/what-we-do/strategies-plans-reports/strategic-economic-plan/
https://data.oxfordshire.gov.uk/jsna/


27 

inclusion and economic development – highlighting the close links between the two and the 

need for an approach for community development that links closely to inclusive growth.   

This in turn contributes to Government, and local, plans for public service reform – the idea 

of knitting together partners and partnerships in order to ensure a common understanding 

of the strengths and weaknesses, enablers and constraints, of the community infrastructure 

of the area.   

There is a general vision, associated with public sector partners across the area, about the 

way in which growth across Oxfordshire can be managed in such a way as to be inclusive, 

sustainable and equitable, inasmuch as growth can be a driver for the reduction of social 

disparities.   

What Oxfordshire’s future means for neighbourhood governance 

For us, this vision of a possible future connects strongly and directly to new councils’ 

objectives around neighbourhood governance and locality working. Growth is about large-

scale spatial planning (which may, in due course, be owned and overseen by a strategic 

authority covering a wider area than Oxfordshire alone). But it must also be about the 

intensely local activity which contributes to community capacity and capabilities. 

Sustainable growth that works across the area will not be possible without a corresponding 

growth in civic and social infrastructure.  

Arising from this, we think that some of the key needs that Oxfordshire has in relation to 

future neighbourhood governance are: 

• Interconnectedness with wider public service objectives. Broad public service 

priorities across Oxfordshire are deeply interconnected — and closely tied to the 

resilience of local communities and neighbourhoods. We believe there is a 

compelling case that investing in neighbourhood governance is also an investment 

in the wider goals of inclusive economic growth, tackling deprivation, and improving 

life chances. Strengthening neighbourhood governance helps to build the social 

fabric that underpins these outcomes — by enabling resilient, self-supporting 

communities to take a more active role in shaping the places they live in.  

• Messiness. Sustainable arrangements for community action within neighbourhoods 

look messy. Different arrangements operate in different areas and while a degree of 

“mapping” might be both desirable and possible, trying to sketch out the way that 

councils (principal and local) and communities relate to each other now, and how 

they might relate to each other in future, is difficult to do comprehensively. The 

presence of messiness reflects the fact that neighbourhood governance 

arrangements are not ones that can be easily “held” by a new principal authority or 

authorities. Community activity is organic and reflects the places within which it 

operates – neighbourhood systems operated by councils and other public sector 

bodies needs to fit around that existing reality.   

• Informal vs formal. Some community action happens through formal means – legal, 

Page 82



28 

public decision-making, formal partnerships and agreements, and activities 

undertaken by formally constituted bodies that often hold specific accountabilities to 

local people. Much more is informal in nature and the “formal” activity often 

supports the informal in ways that are not apparent to policymakers and decision-

makers. This leads to an environment of strength where different aspects of 

community activity are self-supporting but also paradoxically, weakness - where if 

one part of the ecosystem weakens suddenly (because of a loss of funding or 

because a key individual leaves) other parts of the ecosystem may begin to weaken 

in ways that can be unpredictable.  

• Asymmetry as a core feature. Asymmetry is an inherent characteristic of 

neighbourhood governance. Different parts of the ecosystem operate with varying 

levels of capability, legitimacy, and ambition — even among larger town councils, 

there is no single, shared understanding of purpose or role. Any attempt to devolve 

power or responsibility uniformly across an area is likely to fall short. In contrast, an 

approach that embraces asymmetry recognises the need for councils to support 

community activity in flexible, tailored ways, responding to the distinct contexts and 

capacities of each place. This means building from where capability and energy 

already exist and demonstrating the value of that engagement by visibly reinvesting 

the dividends of success from local action back into those communities.  

• Consistency. There is a need for certain services to be subject to area-wide 

consistency, and for some services to be subject to the formality associated with a 

rules-based system. This is particularly the case for personal services that are built 

around rights and entitlements set out in statute, but also those services provided 

universally.   

• Capacity building where people already are anchored in a realistic and long term 

approach to resourcing. We have been told that while grant funding is available for a 

variety of community projects long-term capacity building opportunities are not 

always present. Recommissioning and decommissioning of certain services 

(including by organisations beyond local government) can have a significant, 

negative (and unexpected) consequence for community resilience. For us, the need 

to build and maintain community capacity is a necessary prerequisite of meaningful 

neighbourhood governance.   

• Visibility. No-one can or should expect to be able to see the whole system. But there 

needs to be an awareness of the presence of a wider ecosystem around community 

activity that acknowledges the messiness and asymmetry that we describe above, as 

well as other characteristics. At the most local level, those working in and around 

communities (and in parishes) may not currently understand the wider ecosystem 

either – this is not necessarily a problem but is something that might need to be 

addressed if wider aspirations for neighbourhood governance take flight, and greater 

neighbourhood-level grip of civic infrastructure is desired or seen to be needed.  

• Mindset, attitude and culture. Amongst professionals, there is likely to be a need to 

Page 83



29 

shift behaviours around engagement, participation and communication with local 

neighbourhoods – fostering a greater spirit of trust and mutual honesty and joining 

up professional-led activity.  

• Community intelligence. The evidence we’ve gathered highlights the powerful role 

of hyper-local community intelligence in shaping solutions that are closely attuned to 

the specific needs of neighbourhoods. This kind of insight — grounded in lived 

experience and local relationships — can surface nuances that may be missed by 

even the most skilled professionals working at a distance. When shared, this 

intelligence doesn’t just inform better decision-making; it also builds collective 

understanding of local challenges and creates a stronger foundation for co-produced 

solutions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



30 

2. Exploring what others do   
 

This part of the paper explores some of the possible approaches that are available, and that 

have been adopted in the UK and further afield. It uses an exploration of those possibilities 

to draw out some general principles about what makes strong, sustainable neighbourhood 

governance work.   

2A: Examples from the UK  
 

New approaches to neighbourhood governance following local government 

reorganisation  

New parishes. Recent local government reorganisations have seen the establishment of 

sometimes very large new parish/town councils in previously unparished urban areas.   

The largest parish council in the country by population is Northampton Town Council, with 

130,000 residents. The council was created at the same time as the reorganisation of 

Northamptonshire, which created two new unitary authorities. Other parish councils created 

alongside reorganisation include Shrewsbury and Salisbury.  

 

Case study: Salisbury, a new city council  

 
In Salisbury, a new city council was established at the same time as the local government 

reorganisation in Wiltshire in 2009. The population of the area served by the council is 

around 40,000.   

The council holds responsibility for some service delivery, as well as playing an important 

role in local place-shaping through two mechanisms:  

• A Neighbourhood Development Plan. This Plan was developed by the council and 

adopted by way of a local referendum into Wiltshire Council’s planning framework 

in early 2025. 

• The Salisbury Place Partnership, an unincorporated voluntary partnership bringing 

together public and private sectors in the interests of managing the city centre and 

the city’s cultural offer. The Partnership is advisory, with no ability to drive the 

policies of its individual members, but there is an expectation that resources and 

activities will be aligned with plans and priorities agreed collectively.   

 

Other approaches to neighbourhood governance and locality working. In many parts of the 

country, reorganisation has provoked councils to establish new arrangements for locality 

Page 85



31 

working, and to foster connection between new authorities and the communities they serve. 

These arrangements will often build on previous practice, and tend to coalesce around a set 

of committees or forums that have duties and responsibilities that reflect the “area 

committee” model we describe below. This is a fairly traditional approach, but some areas 

have been able to use it to pursue a degree of innovation. Success in doing so hinges on the 

extent to which expectations around community engagement, and empowerment, are 

baked into the fundamental operating model of a new authority – a challenge, when the 

focus on “safe and legal” transition of services can lead people to adopt minimum viable 

approaches rather than pursuing creativity and innovation.  

 

Case study: post-LGR locality arrangements in Buckinghamshire 

 
Central to Buckinghamshire’s approach to reorganisation was the establishment of 

arrangements for local members to take decisions, and for communities to have their say, 

through a set of community boards. The vision for these boards was to improve 

outcomes outcomes for residents through ensuring strong connections between the 

Council and the people it serves.  

 

Local insight and intelligence is used to set priorities for boards to take forward – boards 

produce reports, and carry out projects. Each board has a dedicated Chair and Vice-Chair 

(with wider membership being comprised of local people), and a Board Manager whose 

job it is to ensure that links are forged with local people.  

 

Wider locality working arrangements  

The establishment of new locality arrangements is not unique to councils going through 

reorganisation. Across the country the approaches taken to locality working are however 

different from council to council.  

In some places, localities offer a convenient way of dividing up operational delivery 

arrangements. In others, locality working involves the creation of local teams, which may be 

embedded in the local community specifically to provide community support or capacity, 

and to ensure that “low level” operational, place-based matters are dealt with effectively.   

Locality arrangements are common on social housing estates, where estate offices (and 

housing officers) have sometimes become unofficial nodes for community activity because 

social landlords have responsibility for a significant amount of the built environment. In this 

model, housing officers may have wider duties relating to person-centred services; some 

estates may contain sheltered housing units or other care facilities whose presence might 

accentuate this person-centred focus.  

Area / ward committees  

Councils in many parts of the country have established area or ward committees, with a 

Page 86



32 

variety of functions. These kinds of committees went through a brief phase of popularity in 

the 1990s and 2000s, and at the time had powers such as:  

• The power to make grants, up to a certain value;  

• The power to spend a limited “ward budget” on operational services – usually 

universal “clean and green” activity or cultural and community activity;  

• The power to make certain planning decisions.  

These committees have sometimes provided a space for more general discussion of local 

priorities, which may involve local partners. For example, they can provide a space for 

agreement on local community safety priorities, and an opportunity for partners to come 

together to engage with local people. As we noted above the establishment of these kinds 

of bodies often forms a part of wider local government reorganisation.   

 

Case study: Tower Hamlets neighbourhoods experiment 

 
Although instigated a long time ago, probably the most significant and long-lived 

experiment in total decentralisation, and a push for almost all service delivery down to 

the most local level, was in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets under the 1986-1994 

Liberal administration28.   

Under this model seven Neighbourhoods were created, each to be run by a separate local 

committee. Each Neighbourhood had its own CEO, and its own staff complement, and 

was provided with the budget to deliver the bulk of local services itself with some residual 

functions still being delivered corporately.   

Contemporary, independent evaluations found a significant improvement in resident 

satisfaction arising from this radical decentralisation but problems with regard to control 

and central grip on area-wide services. A weak centre, overall, had contributed to 

inefficiencies especially with regard to services that might have been better left 

centralised29.   

 

 

Case study: District electoral areas (DEAs) in Northern Ireland 

 
Each of the 11 unitary council areas in Northern Ireland (except Belfast) is divided into 7 

district electoral areas (DEAs). DEAs are a long-standing feature in Northern Ireland’s local 

 
28 Summarised in “The Tower Hamlets Neighbourhoods 1986-1994” at 

https://lccmunicipal.com/2017/07/12/rediscovering-the-tower-hamlets-neighbourhoods-part-1/ , 

summarising earlier research undertaken by David Rosenberg, Janice Morphet, Vivien Lowndes and 

Gerry Stoker.  
29 This work happened at a time when councils’ corporate cores did not look as they do now, and 

service departments are generally considered to have held significantly more power.   

Page 87

https://lccmunicipal.com/2017/07/12/rediscovering-the-tower-hamlets-neighbourhoods-part-1/


33 

government geography. DEAs are made up of multiple wards, and are necessary because 

local government elections are conducted using proportionate representation rather than 

first past the post (FPTP). Arrangements for the boundaries and naming of DEAs has been 

handled by a DEA Commissioner, an independent appointment.   

DEAs are the basis for data gathering and statistical analysis below council level, but also 

provide a basis for councillor leadership on issues of local importance.   

For example in Antrim and Newtownabbey the DEAs are used as the basis for 

consultation and engagement in the council’s community planning process, whereby a 

range of local and regional organisations and agencies have come together to determine 

how services can be delivered better together. Each DEA has a “Place Shaping Forum” 

which uses statistics and local insight to identify DEA-specific priorities for the 

Community Plan, which have then been recommended to the Community Planning 

Partnership for action30.  

 

Area committees can, however, feel formal – and sometimes toothless. They are traditional 

mechanisms for engagement that many councils have found to be of limited utility. 

Furthermore, the use of area committees of this type has become less common in the past 

decade or so, principally because of financial constraints but also because of concerns in 

some councils that money allocated to committees to undertake their work was not always 

being spent wisely.   

2B: Examples from outside the UK  
 

Reviewing approaches to neighbourhood governance in non-UK jurisdictions requires 

caution. The political culture of other countries, and the weave of those country’s social 

fabric, will be very different. Legal frameworks differ substantially. However, although 

examples from overseas may not be easy to transpose wholesale, there will be lessons 

from their design and implementation that are likely to be useful for policymaking in the 

UK.   

Some of these examples relate to formal structures and relationships – in others, the focus 

is on the building of capacity for informal, organic relationship building. In all cases, 

however, there is a common theme – the integration of more distributed and decentralised 

ways of working into the heart of organisations’ formal governance arrangements.   

• Incorporated and unincorporated areas (USA)31. In the USA, all areas are covered 

by state-level and county-level government, but not all areas benefit from city or 

 
30 This could be seen as an example in practice of some of the citizen science principles discussed on 

the next page. 
31 See, for example, Leon-Moreta A, “Municipal incorporation in the United States” (2015) Urban 

Studies 52(16) 3160-3180 

Page 88



34 

municipal governance. Those that do not are “unincorporated” areas, where 

services are provided directly by the county. When an area is “incorporated”, it 

gains greater power to plan, direct and delivery its own services – incorporation 

therefore provides greater control and autonomy over services to local people. In 

the USA, incorporation also brings with it the power to bring in its own tax 

revenue for service delivery. This is an example of where local government can 

be asymmetric – ie, where certain parts of a wider area can benefit from local 

government systems that enjoy a greater sense of local control.   

• Agglomeration communities (communautés d’agglomération) (France)32. These 

are one of a number of grouping models for communes, the smallest unit of 

French local governance. Under these arrangements communes may create a 

new legal structure – an agglomeration – that takes on those powers (and income 

from taxes) that individual communes decide to delegate. It is a similar process to 

grouping, but more formal in nature and directed towards specific service 

delivery objectives around economic development (and connected matters).   

• Digital micro-governance (Taiwan). Taiwans approach to digital engagement 

through platfoms such as https://join.gov.tw/ offers a compelling example of how 

digital infrastructure can support hyper local participatory democracy. The 

platform enables citizens to submit policy ideas, crowdsource proposals and co-

create solutions with local and national government. It is an example of how 

digital tools can enable continuous participation and relational accountability. 

• Participatory budgeting at scale (Spain, Brazil)33. The Porto Allegre example of 

participatory budgeting has long been a fixture of social research literature34. 

Having begun in 1989, the process involves three streams of meetings:  

• Neighbourhood assemblies, which meet to discuss budget allocations for 

specific areas across the city  

• City-wide assemblies, which deal with thematic, non-neighbourhood specific 

issues 

• Meetings of the Council of the Participatory Budget, consisting of district 

delegates, which meets to consider recommendations from neighbourhood 

and city-wide assemblies, considered against the parameters set by the city 

government previously, and which then submits an agreed position to elected 

 
32 “Qu’est-ce qu’une communauté d’agglomération?” French Government (in French): 

https://www.vie-publique.fr/fiches/20126-quest-ce-quune-communaute-dagglomeration  
33 Case study on the Local Government Association website (2016): https://www.local.gov.uk/case-

studies/case-study-porto-alegre-brazil  
34 Although open budgeting was trialled by several English councils it has not become a consistent 

feature of how councils manage their budget arrangements. A number of reasons have been 

suggested for this – the cost of the exercise, the limited discretion that English local authorities have 

on budget allocations and a sense that it significantly constrains the ability of an authority’s political 

leadership to set its own direction, reflective of its electoral mandate. 

Page 89

https://join.gov.tw/
https://www.vie-publique.fr/fiches/20126-quest-ce-quune-communaute-dagglomeration
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/case-study-porto-alegre-brazil
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/case-study-porto-alegre-brazil


35 

councillors for approval   

 

2C: Inclusive methods for design, decision-making and 

delivery  
 

Many public bodies have moved away from a purely “extractive” approach to consultation 

and engagement (one that gathers insight and intelligence from local people to be analysed 

by professionals), towards one that is more inclusive and mutually supportive (where 

people collaborate to find and agree on collective futures). In this section we explore the 

practical ways of working that can support a continuation of this kind of approach, and that 

effective neighbourhood governance might be able to support.  

Neighbourhood planning  

Neighbourhood planning is a statutory process by which local people can play a role in 

shaping the areas in which they live and work35. Neighbourhood plans form part of a 

principal authority’s development plan, which gives a neighbourhood plan force as an 

important factor in determining planning applications.  

Neighbourhood planning benefits from an incentive, in that communities that draw up a 

plan and secure agreement in a local referendum can benefit from 25% of the revenue from 

the community infrastructure levy (CIL) arising from development in the area.   

Government used to provide support to areas taking forward Neighbourhood Plans through 

a grants process administered by the charity Locality, but chose to withdraw this support in 

early 2025.   

Citizen science  

Citizen science – research conducted with the participation of the public – can provide the 

means to ensure that there is an understanding of the needs of an area, what services and 

support it needs, and how that support should be delivered, through a deeper 

understanding of that area’s features (and the features of those living in that area).   

 

Case study: citizen science and the natural world 

 
Citizen science has long been a feature of research into the natural world. Records of 

temperature and weather conditions, and conditions of flora and fauna, have for many 

years been gathered and aggregated at national level to provide a sense of the health of 

 
35 Government guidance can be found at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2 

Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2


36 

the natural landscape.   

Some councils have adopted similar mechanisms to ensure that they understand 

biodiversity: Test Valley Borough Council is a good example36. The Environment Agency 

is currently leading work nationally to explore how citizen science can be used to support 

research into the natural world more systematically37.   

 

In helping to map out areas, their needs and their strengths, citizen science has the potential 

to help public bodies to rethink the way that public services are designed. There is 

developing practice globally on the use of citizen science to support understanding of local 

health and care needs; the use of the model to describe and better understand “place” is 

more well-developed.   

Co-production  

There are a huge range of approaches that councils and communities can take towards the 

co-production of services. In the UK co-production is a tool of long standing of the health 

and care sector, allowing patients and other service users to help to design services. Co-

production is specifically mentioned in statutory guidance to the Care Act 2014, and as such 

has made significant inroads as one of the dominant methods of policymaking in that sector 

in the past decade – though it has made less impression in some other policy areas.  

 

Case study: co-production and adult social care  
 

In 2022 the Adult Social Care Committee of the House of Lords, having been established 

for this express purpose, published a report on reforms to adult social care. The report 

investigated in detail practices on co-production and had this to say about the way in 

which area-based co-production of adult social care services was maturing around the 

country38:  

“Local Area Coordination (LAC) has existed in England and Wales for over 10 years, and 

there are now [as at 2022] 12 local authorities across England and Wales that have 

implemented it. The LAC Network relies on Local Area Coordinators, who are employed 

by local councils and work across neighbourhoods of approximately 10,000 people. 

Coordinators are integrated into the local community: they have hyper-local knowledge of 

people, families, groups, organisations and services. Their role consists of approaching 

individuals who might have care and support needs, or be at risk of needing support, and 

 
36 More information can be found at 

https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporatedirection/environmentandsustainability/citiz

en-science  
37 The Citizen Science Technical Advisory Framework: 

https://environmentagency.blog.gov.uk/2025/03/18/citizen-science-and-the-environment-agency/ 
38 “A gloriously ordinary life: spotlight on adult social care” (House of Lords, 2022): 

https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/580/adult-social-care-committee/publications/ 

Page 91

https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporatedirection/environmentandsustainability/citizen-science
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporatedirection/environmentandsustainability/citizen-science
https://environmentagency.blog.gov.uk/2025/03/18/citizen-science-and-the-environment-agency/
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/580/adult-social-care-committee/publications/


37 

to help them build their own vision for a better life, with the objective of drawing on 

personal, family and community resources to find pragmatic solutions to any challenges 

they face.  

“For example, one case study in Derby City Council saw a resident get in touch with a 

Local Area Coordinator because she was dealing with various physical and mental health 

issues following the recent loss of her husband. After several conversations, an 

opportunity to improve her life emerged as it became clear that she had enjoyed looking 

after her garden with her husband but was not capable of gardening anymore due to her 

declining health. The Coordinator arranged for her to meet with a local resident who they 

had also been helping, and who had been looking for opportunities to volunteer. They 

agreed to help with her gardening, in an arrangement that also resulted in both residents 

feeling less socially isolated.” 

 

There are examples of co-production in other areas but use is more scattergun. For 

example, in 2022 Toynbee Hall published the product of a participatory action research 

project on adult education in London39. This work involved a group of peer researchers with 

direct lived experience co-designing and co-producing the research project which involved 

in-depth interviews with people from across London. This demonstrates the cut-across 

between this way of working and citizen science, as discussed in the previous section.   

Co-production, inevitably, takes resource. The quid pro quo in the spending of this resource 

is that services, once designed in this way, are significantly more attuned to the needs of 

those who those services are meant to support. In relation to health and care, co-production 

arrangements are closely aligned to the design and delivered of methods of working 

designed to tackle health inequalities.  

Deliberative methods  

Citizens’ assemblies and citizens’ juries are among the most well-known deliberative 

practices in the UK. These offer structured opportunities for a randomly selected group of 

residents to engage deeply in a policy area’s ‘wicked issue’. Unlike traditional consultation, 

which often captures a snapshot of opinion, these processes are designed to deepen 

understanding, build consensus, and develop collective judgment.  Participants hear 

evidence, deliberate together, and make informed recommendations. They are particularly 

useful in areas where there is no easy consensus, or where legitimacy and trust in decision-

making needs to be rebuilt.  

Increasingly, some areas are exploring how to move beyond one-off events and embed 

these processes more permanently. This includes the idea of deliberative committees — 

standing bodies that pair residents and elected members in ongoing, structured dialogue. 

 
39 “More than just education: a participatory action research project on adult education in London” 

(Toynbee Hall, 2022): https://www.toynbeehall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/TH-GLA-Adult-

Education-Report-Feb22-Digital.pdf 

Page 92

https://www.toynbeehall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/TH-GLA-Adult-Education-Report-Feb22-Digital.pdf
https://www.toynbeehall.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/TH-GLA-Adult-Education-Report-Feb22-Digital.pdf


38 

One pioneering example is in Belgium, where the Parliament of the Brussels-Capital Region 

has created formal deliberative committees that enable citizens and politicians to work 

together on policy proposals.  

 

Case study: Deliberative committees in Brussels, Belguim 

In 2019, the Parliament of the Brussels-Capital Region introduced a groundbreaking 

model of democratic innovation by embedding deliberative committees directly into its 

parliamentary structure. This reform followed calls to tackle democratic fatigue and 

rebuild trust between citizens and institutions, and it aimed to create a formal space for 

citizens and elected representatives to deliberate together on key issues. 

Each committee is composed of 15 parliamentarians and 45 citizens, randomly selected 

via a civic lottery to reflect the diversity of the population — including age, gender, 

ethnicity, education level, and geographic spread. The citizen members are compensated 

for their time, receive briefing materials, and are supported by independent facilitators 

and expert speakers to ensure they can meaningfully engage. 

Committees meet over several sessions (typically four to six), during which members 

learn about the topic, discuss options, and co-develop a set of recommendations. These 

are then submitted to the full parliament and relevant ministers, who are required to 

formally respond — creating a clear line of accountability and influence. 

Unlike one-off citizens’ assemblies, these committees are ongoing, institutionalised 

mechanisms for participatory policymaking. Their integration within the legislative 

process ensures that deliberation is not just advisory but linked to formal decision-making 

— offering a bold example of how participatory and representative democracy can be 

woven together. 

 

2D: Reflecting on what makes neighbourhood 

governance work  
 

We think that the evidence set out across this section highlights three main areas which 

contribute to effective neighbourhood governance.  

Shifts in behaviour  

Evidence from elsewhere suggests that moving to a more purposefully designed approach 

to local places (in how places are shaped, how decisions are made, and how services are 

delivered) requires more than structural reform. It requires behavioural shifts.  

These shifts involve public service professionals stepping into the spaces where 

Page 93



39 

communities already operate — developing a deeper, more holistic understanding of civic 

infrastructure, and working collaboratively to respond to local needs and opportunities.  

But these shifts are not easy. Behaviour change is simple to describe but difficult to achieve. 

It hinges on how councils perceive and manage risk. Ceding power and creating greater 

local autonomy can be seen as threatening the coherence of public service delivery, raising 

concerns about fragmentation or inconsistency — especially where councils remain legally 

responsible for ensuring the quality and equity of statutory services.  

Ensuring central democratic control and oversight 

This brings us to the second of the four areas we want to highlight, and a core tension. How 

do we empower neighbourhoods meaningfully while maintaining system-wide integrity and 

accountability – in particular, accountability for democratically-elected politicians who have 

been elected to represent local people?  

The solution lies not in resisting asymmetry or retreating to create more systems of control, 

but in developing a clear and shared framework for neighbourhood governance.  

Such a framework must provide certainty, consistency, and transparency — not only in how 

decisions are made and services delivered, but also in where responsibility lies. It should 

guard against past mistakes, such as poorly planned asset transfers that pushed liabilities 

onto under-resourced community groups.  

Control systems are necessary, but they should be light-touch and enabling, not 

bureaucratic and restrictive. The behavioural shift required is not simply about councils 

stepping back, but about them stepping differently: investing in community capability, 

sharing power responsibly, and recognising that investment and commitment to 

neighbourhood governance is necessary for public bodies’ wider objectives to be 

deliverable.  

“Docking in” new arrangements with existing, more traditional, parts of the 

governance landscape   

 Local participation must be meaningful, enduring, and taken seriously. That means not 

treating community-led governance as an optional extra or one-off experiment but 

embedding it into how a council makes decisions.  

To achieve that, participatory and neighbourhood governance must be able to 'dock into' 

formal systems of public decision-making. This isn’t about limiting local agency — it’s about 

giving it weight, status, and permanence. If communities are to play a real role in shaping 

places, decisions flowing from that involvement need to have legitimacy in the eyes of the 

law and the wider public.  

CfGS explored this issue in depth between 2020 and 2022, in research part-funded by the 

JRSST Charitable Trust. Our central argument was that if councils are to reimagine their 

relationship with local people, they must also reimagine how those relationships connect to 

Page 94



40 

the legal and constitutional structures that underpin local authority governance. This led to 

a paper intended to provoke further debate on the topic￼.  

These structures matter. The rule of law, delegated authority, and formal oversight exist to 

ensure that decisions are made with transparency, accountability, and proper regard for all 

relevant considerations. But they should not be seen as barriers to participation — they 

should be scaffolding that supports and secures it.  

Those arrangements are there because they are the best way we have to offer real 

assurance that decisions are made that take into account all relevant considerations – and 

that those decisions are subject to meaningful oversight and accountability.   

 

 

The relational constitution 

 
Central to the principles behind “docking in” is the need, at the local level, to be able to 

specify what the relationships should be between traditional governance arrangements 

and new systems for deliberation, co-production and co-design.   

All councils are obliged to agree a constitution to set out the way that it will function as an 

institution. We have suggested an evolved model – a “relational” constitution – that seeks 

to explore and define how the council will work with its partners, and the local community 

– setting out clear, consistent and transparent rules and arrangements.   

A relational constitution would therefore not just be about how the council makes 

decisions but about how people from across the area (and public service partners) come 

together to deliberate and decide.   

We consider that a prerequisite to making a meaningful approach to neighbourhood 

governance “stick” would be to ensure that its practical arrangements are described, in 

some detail, in such a document.   

We have published more information about relational constitutions at 

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/resource/relational-constitutions-a-provocation-for-rethinking-

local-governance/ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/resource/relational-constitutions-a-provocation-for-rethinking-local-governance/
https://www.cfgs.org.uk/resource/relational-constitutions-a-provocation-for-rethinking-local-governance/


41 

 

 

3. Exploring the possibilities for Oxfordshire    
 

In this final section, we consider what principles should underpin councils’ and 

communities’ next steps, and the different options that might be considered as part of the 

ensuing conversations.   

In undertaking this work we wanted to leave policymakers and local people in Oxfordshire 

with a possible draft framework within which a variety of models of neighbourhood 

governance might be built.   

What we have done below is to:  

• Set out a range of design principles which we have extracted from the outcomes 

of our research and which we feel meet the overall needs for neighbourhood 

governance in Oxfordshire. 

• Set out a single possible framework for the future, in some detail, with its pros 

and cons. This is informed by a clear sense of what a “neighbourhood” and an 

“area” is – with the geography being an important component in making new 

arrangements work properly. This single framework is one in which various 

different models and approaches to neighbourhood governance – as discussed in 

this report – could comfortably fit, depending on local appetite. 

• Set out some further models and options for citizens and policymakers to explore 

their thinking on this topic.   

Our framework – built out from Government’s preferred approach of neighbourhood/area 

committees – is designed to draw together threads from our research to form something 

that is both holistic but also, we hope, sufficiently tangible for it to provoke action.  

We then take the outcome of this exercise and apply it to the city of Oxford, in part 4.   

3A: Design principles 
 

Informing the eventual design of a framework needs to sit a set of design principles. These 

derive both from our research and from wider learning presented elsewhere in this report. 

They are not, we think, a conclusive articulation of all of the most important issues in play. 

Instead, they represent a first attempt at setting out something comprehensive, which will 

need to be subjected to further refinement as part of a wider, local conversation about these 

issues:  

Page 96



42 

• Supporting the legitimacy and role of elected politicians. Representative democracy 

is the central bulwark of our democratic system. Any approach to strengthen 

neighbourhood governance will need to give elected councillors – at principal and 

parish level – a central role. 

• A rules-based approach. People need to be assured that they are dealing with public 

institutions that will work consistently and transparency. This is particularly 

important when needs and appetites for services and local interventions will be quite 

different from area to area. Absolute transparency will be needed to avoid the risk 

that this kind of asymmetry is seen as favouritism.  

• Effective management and ownership of risk. When services are designed and 

delivered with local people – when we use different approaches to work with them 

and within their neighbourhoods – this could be seen as producing a diffusion of 

accountability, and a lack of ownership of risks. Arrangements will need to be made 

to ensure that risk and liability is not devolved to individuals and groups ill-equipped 

to manage it – that capacity, resource and support is provided with risk and need 

being central considerations.  

• Framed around public service partnership. One of the benefits of existing 

arrangements for neighbourhood working is that they can be very effective at 

bringing together partners at a very local level. Through designation as a Marmot 

Place, the county wants to expand on this capability; there is a recognition (through 

CAGs and other mechanisms) that there is a need to strengthen this approach, and 

neighbourhood governance systems can and should be a facilitator.  

• A strengths-based approach building on what already exists. We have discussed 

how in areas across the county, a huge variety of arrangements exist for 

neighbourhood and community activity, some of it supported by principal authorities 

but much of it not. Arrangements will need to maintain the ecosystem of 

neighbourhood governance where it is already strong and bolster it where it isn’t – 

reflecting our earlier findings on asymmetry. The focus will need to be on the 

strengthening of the connective tissue associated with neighbourhood-based activity 

rather than necessarily “doing more” of that activity – thereby increasingly 

community resilience. This is why we see this work strengthening and deepening the 

commitments made by councils across the area through the Oxfordshire Charter.  

• Providing opportunity for debate and discussion on tensions and tradeoffs, 

anchored in neighbourhood planning. A big challenge for the county area is 

management of the tensions and disagreements arising from growth and 

development. We have noted the way that this had caused challenges in Oxfordshire, 

a rural county under significant housing need pressure. Whatever neighbourhood 

governance arrangements look like, we think that they should be anchored in 

neighbourhood planning – a process with statutory definition that will help local 

areas to manage these tensions and tradeoffs, and place them in a wider context.  

Page 97



43 

• County-wide consistency, but with significant local divergence. This sounds 

contradictory – and it is. Local people will need to think carefully about how they 

manage the tension between what at first sight seem like two contradictory aims. On 

the one hand it would be unfair and inequitable (and in some cases illegal) for 

principal authorities to offer services on a dramatically differential basis depending 

on geography. On the other hand it is right that public services flex to meet local 

need and capacity. The presence of strong neighbourhood governance arrangements 

should be able to hold these two competing demands equally.   

Acknowledging enablers and constraints within principal authorities  

The adoption of a sustainable approach to neighbourhood governance will require 

agreement on the presence of enablers and constraints within councils, and how people will 

work together to manage them.  

Enablers and constraints primarily relate to culture and behaviours. Cultural attitudes 

towards neighbourhood governance inform and influence things like the resources that 

principal authorities might be prepared to invest in the system, and the extent to which 

public service partners are willing to design (or redesign) their ways of working in order to 

accommodate the need for greater local control and direction.   

Critically this is about changes in behaviours and attitudes within principal authorities – not 

about requiring that those now doing work in neighbourhoods and communities should 

change the way that they work in order to accommodate the needs and preference of those 

already in positions of power and authority. 

3B: Defining neighbourhoods and areas 
 

Government has stated their aspiration for neighbourhood/area committees to be the 

default option for new authorities to wire a connection to local communities.   

Conventionally these might have been committees designed to work in the old style – some 

light grant-making, periodic meetings to discuss local concerns, perhaps semi-regular 

attendance by the police or other external partners. This would not be a particularly exciting 

model but would probably be the “minimum viable” approach.   

We have in mind something quite different. In order to explain it we need to first explain 

what a “neighbourhood” and an “area” are.  

Defining a neighbourhood   

There is a circularity about the way that a “neighbourhood” might be defined for the 

governance purposes we talk about in this report.   

On the one hand, knowing first what a “neighbourhood” is helps us to then think about 

what the most appropriate arrangements might be for its governance. On the other hand, 

Page 98



44 

understanding the powers and rights that we might consider when we think about 

neighbourhood governance helps us to determine what form we should associate with 

those functions.   

For us, therefore, we think that neighbourhoods – their identity and who they serves – 

should be a matter for local people to define. Some services and relationships may coalesce 

around towns and their immediate hinterlands – we know that this idea of controversial for 

some. However, we feel that trying to redesign things (services, especially) around very 

small geographies is likely to be difficult. In short, we ultimately think that form should 

follow function – and that, following our principles around messiness, the “neighbourhood” 

as a unit for delivery, and a unit for dialogue and democracy, may be different for different 

issues.    

Defining an area  

We have concluded that “neighbourhoods” are multifaceted and cut across different 

geographies. A principal council needs to organise itself in such a way that helps it to 

engage with those within those neighbourhood, where they are.   

For this purpose we think there is value in considering a geographical unit which provides 

the link between the neighbourhood governance that we have discussed in this paper and 

with area-wide council services. We think that the geography of these new area committees 

– which we have explored below – can be at a geographic scale larger than a ward, or 

multiple wards – and by so being can offer a sustainable model as a permanent, formal 

body. In the absence of a better word we would describe these units as “areas”. An areas 

would cover a large number of geographically-overlapping and loosely-defined 

neighbourhoods.   

We have seen a number of different ideas about how lines for these areas should be drawn. 

If we are to determine that area committees, as established, will be responsible for 

supporting and enabling activity in local neighbourhoods, rather than as nodes for decision-

making and delivery themselves, the geography is we think less important (but still 

important in relative terms). We discuss some possible options in the next section.  

 

3C: The area committee 
 

Introducing a reinvented “area committee”  

The work of this paper is not to make specific recommendations. One option for us would 

have been to lay out a wide range of structural options and their pros and cons. But we felt 

that delving into one specific option in more detail – and unpicking some of it’s mechanics – 

would offer an opportunity for more reflective analysis.   

Page 99



45 

This option is the establishment of a number of area committees40 – fulfilling Government’s 

expectations – with those committees acting as catalysts, enablers and supporters of 

existing and future community activity. In this model area committees are a kind of highly 

localised anchor institution, providing the capacity and support needed to strengthen the 

neighbourhood governance that we talked about earlier in this report. To carry out this role 

these committees would need to be supported by a part of a new council that we have 

called a “Neighbourhood Unit”.  

In presenting this option here and in the sections below, we want to emphasise that we are 

doing so as an illustration of one potential approach, and as a way of exploring what some 

of the practical considerations would be that would attach to any future model of 

neighbourhood governance. 

 

Illustration of core relationships. Arrows denote flows of insight and intelligence, and 

resource and support.   

Area committees would enjoy a particularly close relationship with parish councils, as 

democratic partners and as institutions which area committees could themselves support – 

while ensuring that parishes retain their independence. Under this model (and, indeed, 

others) area committees could foster an environment in which parishes within the area 

could be supported to enter into formal “grouping” arrangements – probably at a smaller 

scale than the whole area though.  

The work of area committees would be focused on supporting and enabling neighbourhood 

and community activity, although we think it is possible that they might play a role in some 

decision-making and oversight on operational service delivery (which we describe in more 

detail below).   

They would be able to draw on officer support to make available capacity, and skills, to 

 
40 Which would be committees of a new authority or authorities.  

Page 100



46 

engage in the kinds of locally focused activities that we have discussed earlier in this report. 

They would in providing long-term, consistent support remove some of the administrative 

burden which smaller groups and organisations feel exist where they want to take more 

responsibility for local issues, and local services. In this way we see area committees acting 

as civic infrastructure bodies, supporting, bolstering and growing community action at the 

most local level.   

In doing this, they would also play an important role liaising with and engaging with parish 

and town councils – as key partners where they already hold capacity and capability, and as 

sources of support where they may lack capacity but have ambition to do more.   

In the sections below we explore exactly what work in each of these areas might look like.   

We have discussed above the need for a framework that protects, supports and enables 

people to support their fellow residents at neighbourhood level. That framework is we think 

provided by area committees. In our model these committees would do three connected 

things, which echo and reinforce our descriptions of neighbourhood governance in part 1 of 

the report:  

• Mapping and understanding – seeking to develop a common understanding of the 

“place” 

• Providing support, capacity and resource – being incubators for community activity 

• Providing direction and oversight – on certain operational decisions, and on other 

matters 

These things would play into a central role for area committees in holding, and anchoring, 

neighbourhood planning processes. This work would provide a formal core of committee 

activity, around which wider community support would happen.   

The model we wish to set out is one that sees area committees primarily as enablers, 

conveners and overseers, rather than decision-makers in their own right.  

Their role would be about empowering and supporting others to take action, and in acting 

as a conduit for insight and intelligence between the local level and the wider area covered 

by a new council.  

We consider that to make these bodies, or something like, them, formal decision-making 

bodies would risk doing the opposite to that which neighbourhood governance is intended 

to achieve. It might produce a system of “local centralisation”, in which agile, dynamic 

community action is hobbled by the presence of an institution that – because decisions 

need to pass through it – acts as a throttle on innovation and capability, rather than as an 

enabler.   

But this lack of “authority” means that some councillors – and others – might question the 

value in such committees’ existence. We think that these competing interests are likely to 

need to be explored fully.   

Function 1: neighbourhood planning  

Page 101



47 

We have in mind a process where the statutory neighbourhood planning process is the 

framing device for the work and activity of area committees.   

Neighbourhood planning can be held by individual parishes or across a wider geographic 

area. Whatever the geography, it involves reflecting on understanding that area, its needs, 

and how it might grow, change and develop in future.   

Building stable communities is about: 

• general infrastructure – schools, GP surgeries, shops and the people who staff them  

• civic infrastructure – the community links we describe in this report.  

We think that if area committees, or something like them, held and supported the 

neighbourhood planning process it would enable local people to work through, understand 

and act on the trade-offs inherent in growth and development, and to use discussion and 

deliberation to find a way through what is otherwise a complex and difficult process. It 

would marry together these two conceptions of infrastructure. Two interviewees talked 

about how the views of local people, expressed through neighbourhood planning, could be 

used to “hold developers’ feet to the fire” – which we understand is an important policy 

objective for those who see challenges around the provision of infrastructure to support 

development.  

Function 2: Mapping and understanding  

We have already set out the wide range of community and neighbourhood-based action 

that takes place across a range of subject areas. An area committee could play a role in 

seeking to deepen understanding of where and how that activity happens – to identify gaps, 

constraints, strengths and areas where support might be needed.  

Importantly, this work would also help to identify differing levels of appetite for different 

levels of council-supported community and neighbourhood activity, building the 

environment for the “asymmetric” approach we have described elsewhere.   

Some of these constraints and challenges could be down to structural barriers that might 

not be immediately apparent to professional policymakers but those with a greater 

understanding of local communities could help to explore those barriers – which might 

relate to the fact that people are from marginalised groups or hold protected characteristics 

under the Equality Act.   

Using citizen science approaches, councillors, local organisations and local people could 

come together to explore these issues and find solutions. This approach would also allow 

people from across an area to understand each others’ capabilities. Where possible and 

necessary this could involve supporting people, organisations and communities to reflect 

on the need for a more holistic understanding of how what they do links in to the work of 

others.   

We are conscious that not everyone would wish to be involved in these more “holistic” 

discussions but being able to talk about who does what, and where, might help to spark 

Page 102



48 

interesting conversations about opportunities for greater alignment between people’s work 

at the most local level.   

In this way we think that area committees would be able to bring together “patch 

understanding” – a granular knowledge of a local area – with wider awareness of the 

“system” at a more strategic level, provided by officers and other professionals.   

Function 3: Providing support, capacity and resources  

With existing arrangements across an area mapped, and understood, to the greatest extent 

possible, area committees would be able to understand what work they might need to do in 

order to enhance local capacity and resilience at the neighbourhood level.  

We know from the evidence we have gathered that small amounts of resource can seed 

significant community activity, but councils are likely to need to do further research to 

understand how and where money can be invested most wisely (mapping, as discussed 

above, may help with this).   

Providing capacity is necessary to avoid continuity risks where individuals, or small groups 

of individuals, carrying out important community support activities leave their roles – 

whether due to a change in personal circumstance or something else. It is a way of 

enhancing resilience, and spreading risk, by supporting community arrangements to move 

away from models based on single “hero leaders” who may be burdened with too much 

expectation around the work that they do.   

Some capacity building can be managed on a peer-to-peer basis – it is not the case that 

resource and support will universally be provided by a council into local community 

organisations.   

 

Resourcing a Neighbourhoods Unit 
 

In order to carry out their work area committees would need to have meaningful officer 

resourcing. Although our expectation would be that building resilience and capability 

within neighbourhoods and communities would, over time, result in the strengthening of 

civic infrastructure, and the neighbourhood “ecosystem”, in such a way as to pay back 

from that investment, there is no question that well into the medium term this would 

involve new councils making a substantial commitment to making these arrangements 

work.   

At the moment a range of officers across the county and districts play a role in supporting 

co-production, community action and locality working. The creation of a relatively small 

Neighbourhoods Unit within new councils would be able to draw on (and better co-

ordinate) some of that existing activity, bolstering it with new officers, to provide capacity 

to support growth in neighbourhood activity. This might involve (and this is not an 

exhaustive list):  

Page 103



49 

• Capacity-building support for asset transfer 

• Assistance in accessing external funds to support local activity 

• Help to link up complementary activity to support local people in different 

neighbourhoods and areas 

• Supporting town and parish councils in the area 

• Assistance in building new user-centred services and facilities 

 This support would need to be designed to complement that already offered and 

provided by sector support bodies like OALC and OCVA.   

The reason why we suggest that this officer support should be organised council-wide, 

rather than dedicated to individual areas / area committees, is to allow flexibility and to 

reduce the risk of siloing. Our sense is that this activity would be seen as corporate in 

nature rather than sitting in a specific service department. Individual area committees 

would draw down support from a central team in a way that would be transparent and 

accountable – based on the needs identified through the mapping exercise set out in the 

previous section.   

Providing this support would involve careful handling and management. Advocacy 

organisations, which may benefit from support, might also seek to campaign against and 

oppose council action in certain areas. The provision of support and resource cannot be 

contingent on the support, tacit or explicit, of council policy in certain areas – equally, 

councils have to be careful not to use public resource to support lobbying activity. 

Ultimately, the council and local communities will have to determine the rules of 

engagement for this kind of support – which by definition would need to be more flexible 

and open-ended that support and resourcing currently provided, in order to achieve its 

objectives.  

Importantly, this support would need to be explicitly framed around providing core 

support for organisations and local groups – supplementing and supporting ongoing 

project-based support where it exists. This meets the need, identified earlier, for central 

support on capacity.   

In our view the presence of resource, capacity and support, through this mechanism or 

something quite like it, is a necessary element of making sure that neighbourhood 

governance can function effectively. 

 

Function 4: Providing direction and oversight  

There are a number of areas where area committees could provide direction and oversight 

over the work being carried out by others.  

Page 104



50 

• Relating to the management of local services; 

• Relating to the co-production and co-design of area-wide services; 

• Relating to a more general community oversight role.  

The management of local services. We want to set out, by way of illustration, what 

arrangements would look like for operational delivery and the role of area committees in 

supporting that delivery.   

This is how the framework we have described accounts for asymmetry across the area, and 

differential demands and appetites for different approaches to governance. We think that 

what then sits within the framework is a clear menu for individual organisations and 

neighbourhoods to do more to support local people – an offer that says that where there is 

local appetite, the council through its area committees (and backed by officers) will support 

work to enable people within neighbourhoods to be able to meet those aspirations.   

In this way area committees would be incubators for community and neighbourhood-based 

activity – supporting local people (including the individual “activators” who we have been 

told are so important in making things happen at local level) to navigate new ways of 

working either until they can become self-sustaining or until the council can put in place a 

long-term funding model for them.   

This model of incubation removes the barrier which local people and organisations will 

inevitably face when wishing to extend and deepen some community action – the pressure 

to formalise work in order to access further funding and support.   

 

Operational delivery supported by area committees 

 
Area committees, under the framework we have described, would not be responsible for 

making detailed decisions on local operational issues themselves. But they would be 

responsible for supporting local delivery and ensuring that local people have an influence 

on those decisions made – by officers, executive-side councillors and others.   

Here we set out what some of those areas could be where area committees could support 

ongoing influence over aspects of operational delivery. Again, we should stress that 

under this model it would not be area committees “doing” this activity – they would be 

supporting local people, in neighbourhoods, and other actors – like parish councils – to be 

able to have the capacity to do some of this work.   

• Planning decision-making, including local determination on the use of CIL  

• Infrastructure planning and provision, especially in the context of development  

• Local transport activity  

• Maintenance arrangements for parks and green spaces  

• Community development, including youth services  

• Flooding and flood risk  

• Nature recovery   

Page 105



51 

• Markets, festivals, leisure and cultural activities.  

 

This list deliberately mirrors the description of the kinds of services managed and 

delivered by some parish councils, and links to some of the existing engagement activity 

currently managed through OXTOG, CAGs and so on. As noted above area committees 

can provide a way of ensuring that this activity is well co-ordinated – and can assist parish 

councils to take on new services, and to manage their business in a different way, where 

there is the appetite to do so.  

It mirrors the example of incorporated/unincorporated areas in the USA – that is, where 

parishes have the will, appetite and capability they can manage these services directly but 

where that does not exist, area committees may hold some of those services ready for 

them to be drawn down to the more local level when considered appropriate. This 

provides a clearer route for parishes to enhance and deepen the nature and level of 

services that they provide (either individually or through grouping) – but without an 

explicit expectation that they should do so. 

 

Assisting in the co-production and co-design of county-wide services. We have discussed in 

earlier sections how co-production is an important part of some service design activity. 

Where such co-production activity is being carried out across a geographically wide area, 

area committees provide an opportunity to centre that activity in local places – and to 

provide a democratic anchor for those processes where they do happen.   

Carrying out a more general community oversight role. A further potential role around 

decision-making would be to allow area committees to hold to account and oversee wider 

council locality working, area by area. There may be value in designing this kind of local 

“overview and scrutiny” powers into area committees to provide local people with the 

opportunity to more immediately hold to account decisions made in their name that have a 

specific local flavour. Whether and how this happens would however depend on a new 

council or councils’ choices on the adoption of wider locality working arrangements, 

however.   

Councillors might, through this process, have an input in local resource allocation – 

although no decision-making power. This would help to manage concerns over local 

infrastructure, and a way to assure a degree of equity in how the council and its partners 

use resources. This might come back to the idea that growth should benefit local 

communities in how assets are made use of – for example, influence over CIL and 

investment in local infrastructure to reflect the presence of particular development stresses. 

This fits with our wider idea of area committees being anchored through the 

neighbourhood planning process.   

3D: Practical arrangements for area committees  
 

Page 106



52 

We have discussed the core components of area committees – what their roles might be, 

how they might be supported. Given those matters, we now turn to two complementary 

considerations – who would sit on these committees and what geographies they would 

cover.   

What geography would area committees cover?  

In establishing area committees to provide enabling support, we have already established 

that geography is less important because councillors and officers part of that committee 

setup will be seeking to understand how they can support people in their existing 

neighbourhoods, rather than trying to reorganise those neighbourhoods and their ways of 

working to fit within the committee’s own boundaries.   

This highlights the way in which this way of operation can account for the inherent 

“messiness” that we have already described. Lines on a map will never fully reflect that 

messiness; boundaries will never be perfect, and so the focus should be on an approach 

which:  

• Takes advantage of scale and the opportunities that scale brings to bring 

connections and to make best use of resources.  

• Is sufficiently local to allow a proper, reasoned understanding of place, and to 

offer support within that place in a way that is locally relevant and needed.   

If future councils adopt this model it wlll be down to them, alongside the communities they 

serve, to define an appropriate geography that meets both of these needs.   

Any approach will need to broadly reflect ward boundaries for the new authorities which 

may end up being different following LGBCE’s first electoral review for the area. New 

councils would therefore need to expect that   

Possible geographies  

• Current district boundaries (6 area committees): already well understood and 

provides new councils with the opportunity for creative opportunities around the 

aggregation and disaggregation of services associated to local government 

reorganisation. But maintaining these boundaries in a formal way could be seen 

as working against the need for new councils to adopt a whole council approach 

to working – and the districts as they currently stand may still be too big to allow 

for the more granular approach that we set out here. (A slightly different 

approach to this might still be undertaken usefully in Oxford, which we describe 

in Appendix A). 

• Current county localities (9 area committees): offers the benefit of consistency 

with certain other arrangements, but may need to be reviewed.  

• A more local arrangement (10+ committees): offers a greater opportunity for a 

more granular understanding of local neighbourhood, communities and their 

Page 107



53 

needs – and provides more opportunity for better engagement with parish 

councils. But a large number of committees inevitably means that resource is 

taken up with the administration of those bodies rather than the work that they 

do.   

Who would sit on an area committee?  

We start from the principle that area committees would be established by the relevant 

principal authority and that they would need to be politically proportionate. The question is 

would this be political balance:  

• Reflective of the balance across the whole authority’s area, or;  

• Reflective of the balance within the area in question (which would be our 

assumption).   

Irrespective of the above it would go without saying that councillors would only be 

nominated to sit on the area committee relevant to their specific ward.   

If area committees are committees of the Council their membership would count as part of 

the authority’s wider political balance arrangements, which might affect membership 

numbers. There is a way around this if full Council takes a nem con vote to disapply political 

balance arrangements for specific committees – but this would not necessarily apply for an 

Oxford-wide committee (see appendices).   

Number of councillor members  

If there were – for the sake of argument – 9 area committees across Oxfordshire and, under 

a future governance model, 100 councillors, then each area committee would probably 

cover either 3 or 4 wards of a new authority with between 9 and 12 members each – if all 

councillors for the area in question are on the committee (and if, therefore, it is agreed that 

these committees do not need to be politically proportionate across the whole council 

area).   

Number of other members  

Non-voting co-option would provide the most effective and efficient way of engaging non-

council members; we think that this would be best effected through the involvement of 

parish councillors. We think that a way would need to be found to ensure that a 

representative spread of parish councillors were represented – recognising that each area 

committee might cover an area across 20 or 30 parishes.   

Depending on need and local interest others could be co-opted onto committees. However, 

we are conscious that for non-elected individuals, there would be question marks about 

legitimacy that might be justification for membership to be restricted to elected councillors 

only.   

If these committees were to hold decision-making powers, membership would need to be 

Page 108



54 

organised differently because there would be a need for voting on matters of 

consequence.   

3E: Other potential models  
 

The framework, and models, set out above are just one example of how a range of design 

options can be brought together in a coherent manner – but there are a wide range of 

building blocks available. 

Here are some ideas to provide an illustration of the different directions that designers 

might wish to explore. These should be considered in light of the government’s views about 

local area committees and establishing new towns and parish councils. All of the below 

possibilities could be designed into a system which conforms with the design principles we 

laid out in section 3A.  

Hybrid Area Committees - Reinvent former district-based democratic forums as Area 

Committees chaired by unitary councillors, with local budgets and advisory powers. These 

can bridge gaps between strategic and local levels and serve as scaffolding for community-

led governance.  

Local Boards - Establish boards aligned with district boundaries that bring together 

councillors, officers, and community representatives to shape local plans, direct budgets, 

and lead place-shaping work. These provide a meaningful, accountable layer of local 

leadership inside a unitary system.  

Codify localism in the constitution - Embed co-decision mandates into the constitution of a 

new unitary — requiring key local service and planning decisions to be made with locality 

structures. This protects local accountability and avoids re-centralisation.    

Reframe the role of place in governance - Embed the recognition that local identity isn’t just 

about geography but about lived experience, shared assets, and patterns of everyday life — 

like market towns with rural hinterlands or commuter belts with multi-use town centres. 

Governance should reflect and reinforce these place identities.  

Charter renewal and codification - Strengthen the existing Oxfordshire Town & Parish 

Charter into a framework that sets out shared standards, expectations, and commitments 

around co-production, devolved responsibility, and scrutiny.  

Neighbourhood forums and panels - Especially in unparished areas use participatory 

mechanisms such as Citizens’ Assemblies to shape new area or community councils. This 

builds local identity from the ground up — rather than imposing governance structures 

from above. Create citizen-led local panels in every area — not just as consultative bodies 

but as standing forums for shaping service design, local priorities, and oversight.  

Municipal assemblies for Oxford City - Introduce standing, citizen-led assemblies in Oxford 

to recognise the city’s distinct identity and complex neighbourhoods. These would reflect 

Page 109



55 

the city’s demographic and community diversity and create a platform for place-based co-

governance.  

Co-operative/Sortition based Councils - In new or reformed town/parish councils, explore 

cooperative membership models — giving residents, local businesses, and civil society 

equal say. This creates shared ownership and better reflects the range of local actors 

involved in neighbourhood life.  One way to achieve this is to use a sortition process for 

selection. Based on a sampling framework which matches the local demographics, this can 

enable a better reflection of people in a local area.  

Community Commissioners - In areas of disadvantage or historic under-representation, 

appoint trusted local figures to act as policy brokers and community catalysts — sitting 

between the council and neighbourhoods to surface issues, build confidence, and help 

distribute decision-making power fairly. Oxfordshire has already moved to adopt a similar 

approach through the appointment of “Community Catalysts” through the Oxfordshire Way 

initiative.  

“Councillor as Convenor” - Further develop councillors’ focus from casework or committee 

oversight to local facilitation and leadership — acting as convenors of networks, co-

producers of local services, and brokers of partnership. Support them with locality teams 

and democratic infrastructure.  

Parish clusters - Address capacity gaps by enabling small parishes to join in federated 

arrangements. These can pool resources, share clerks, or run joint services — without 

losing local identity or accountability.  

Participatory Budgeting - Open up a portion of the council’s budget to participatory 

decision-making — through locality assemblies, online voting, or theme-based forums (e.g. 

youth services, climate action). This creates visible pathways from voice to impact.  

Digital micro-governance platforms - Build civic tech infrastructure where residents can 

propose, vote on, and track hyper-local projects. This would allow people to engage flexibly 

and meaningfully in shaping services — without always needing to attend meetings.  

Community wealth building zones - Pilot locality-led public service ecosystems focused on 

inclusive economic development — with anchor institutions, devolved commissioning, and 

local procurement rooted in community priorities.  

Investment in locality teams - To deliver any of these models, resource is key. Locality 

teams — staffed with officers skilled in community engagement, commissioning, and 

governance — can support councillors, forums, and residents to make decisions that are 

legal, feasible, and fair.  

 

 

 

Page 110



56 

 

4. Exploring the approach for Oxford    
 

There is an appetite for the establishment of a new citywide parish/town council in Oxford, 

or for similar action that would “fill in the map” of the current unparished area.  

As we have noted, Government, however, has more recently become more equivocal about 

the establishment of new parishes with precepting powers. It has stated that its preference 

is to see the use by new principal committees of neighbourhood committees to secure 

engagement with local people. This option is discussed in more detail below.   

A new parish or parishes would need to be a solution that arises from a community 

governance review (CGR). This process (which needs to be run by a relevant principal 

council) is usually seen as bureaucratic – but could be enhanced with a process that 

involves a greater degree of co-production and co-design with local people. We explore this 

when talking about future governance for Oxford city.  

Implications of reorganisation for the city  

The reorganisation of local government across Oxfordshire to create a single unitary 

council, or two unitaries, would mean that Oxford would no longer have its own distinct 

form of municipal governance.   

In commissioning us, the county council specifically asked us to consider which city-wide 

options for governance might be viable. In doing so, we should stress that – as with the rest 

of this paper – our reflections should be seen as the beginning of an ongoing conversation 

that needs to centre the needs and aspiration of the people of the city and their elected 

representatives.     

This part of the paper explores this by looking at two issues:  

• Which aspects of neighbourhood governance – design, decision-making, delivery 

– might usefully be carried out city-wide in Oxford? 

• Which structures might be established, and maintained, in order to do this?  

4A: City-wide functions in Oxford  
 

Our wider work has identified a spectrum of services and issues that can be managed at the 

most local level and we think that this holds for the city as well – with some amendment. 

We think that there is a case for a form of city-wide governance that engages with decision-

making on the following issues in particular. Again, these would be seen through the prism 

of neighbourhood planning:   

Page 111



57 

• Management of community assets / community facilities   

• Management of parks and green spaces   

• Community development and the management of cultural activities  

• Business and economic development, and tourism   

• Licensing and planning decision-making (although the legality and remit of these 

tasks would need to be subject to review – see below)  

• (Social housing) estate management, where appropriate  

Neighbourhood planning for the city  

Oxford City Council is a planning authority and benefits from its own local development 

framework. On council reorganisation, local policies will be saved, but in the long term we 

think it likely that there will continue to be an appetite for supplementary plans, under a new 

council’s Local Development Framework, that speak to Oxford unique position and needs.   

A city-wide supplementary planning document (SPD) is likely to be one component of 

this. Our model whereby   

 

4B: Structures available to carry out the work  
 

A new city-wide council  

Some interviewees spoke positively about the prospect of a new city-wide council. This 

would either cover the currently unparished parts of the city area, or could involve the 

abolition of those existing councils (further to a community governance review) and the 

creation of a new fully city-wide council.   

This would need to be delivered by way of a community governance review either carried 

out by Oxford City Council as currently constituted in advance of local government 

reorganisation, or by a successor council subsequently. If carried out subsequently, charter 

trustee arrangements (see below) would be needed in the interim.   

A new council for the city area would take on the city’s Royal Charter and civic plate, and 

would have responsibility for certain other ceremonial matters.   

Although attractive we think that policymakers would need to think carefully about the 

viability of a new city-wide parish council for Oxford. It would – depending on boundaries – 

be by some distance the most populous parish council in England. Government’s 

messaging around its willingness to accept new precepting councils might make a new 

council of this nature difficult to agree, given its size and profile.   

Page 112



58 

That having been said, this is the main way to preserve an independent model of municipal 

governance for the city – and if policymakers and others consider that to be of overriding 

importance, it may be worth the argument.   

Filling out and federating the parish map   

One option that stops short of the creation of a new, very large, council would be the 

establishment of several smaller ones to cover localities of the city – supplementing those 

parishes that are already present. This would mean that the city of Oxford would be “fully 

parished” – but with those parishes each being of a similar size to (say) two or three 

existing Oxford City Council wards.  

These parishes, formally grouped, would be able to co-ordinate their work and ensure that, 

together, they are able to manage and deliver services on behalf of the whole city; probably 

alongside an area committee as set out earlier in this section. Representatives of parish 

councils could come together alongside the area committee, or could sit on it, to influence 

and support city-wide decision-making.   

This would be a novel model for England.  The downside of this approach remains 

Government’s unwillingness to establish new parishes; and the logistical challenge 

associated with establishing several new parish level authorities and then making 

arrangements to design and embed a “federated” model for their operation.    

 

A possible approach: a model linked to charter trustees 

 
If it is not proposed to establish a new city-wide body to replace the current district-level 

city council, then one of the first matters to be considered will be the establishment of 

charter trustees. While usually considered a technical requirement to   

City and borough status is conferred by Royal Charter. Oxford’s Royal Charter dates to 

1605.    

Where reorganisation results in the abolition of “city” or “borough” councils it has been 

necessary to establish committees of charter trustees in order to ensure a continuity of 

ownership of these charter arrangements.    

The charter trustees would be those councillors representing wards, on the new authority, 

whose geographic area corresponds with the boundaries of the city as they currently 

exist.   

This means that charter trustees would cover all parished and unparished parts of the City 

of Oxford.   

The charter trustees would elect a Lord Mayor for Oxford on an annual basis (so this civic 

tradition would continue); the charter trustees would “hold” civic plate and other 

ceremonial material.    

Page 113



59 

An approach which might be more effective and which would eliminate the need to create 

wholly new institutions would be to provide the committee of charter trustees with the 

remit of an area committee.   

This, too, is a novel model, and the legality of such an approach would need to be 

assured. But if legally possible it would provide a way of marrying a required, ongoing set 

of civic functions with the practical activities set out elsewhere in this report.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 114



60 

 

 

 

Appendix A: Methodology  
 

The methodology combined desk research and a series of structured conversations to 

understand how neighbourhood governance is working in Oxfordshire today, and how it 

might be strengthened in future. The aim was to gather a wide range of views on what 

currently supports or hinders local working, what people value about it, and what changes 

could make it more effective and sustainable. 

We invited people to take part in one-to-one interviews or small group discussions, each 

lasting between 45 and 90 minutes. These conversations explored participants’ lived 

experience and perspectives across four core themes: identity and sense of place; local 

power, leadership and accountability; community engagement and participation; and the 

practicalities and support needed to make neighbourhood governance work well.  

A segmentation framework was used to ensure a mix of perspectives across Oxfordshire’s 

diverse geography and roles. The findings were then triangulated with research into 

national and international models, helping to generate a set of insights, provocations and 

options that are grounded in Oxfordshire’s context but informed by wider learning. The 

outputs are not intended as a blueprint, but as a resource to support local deliberation, 

design and decision-making. 

Interviews  

We spoke with 52 individuals from eleven organisations during July 2025, through a 

combination of sixteen interviews and five focus groups.  

Participants were primarily elected members and officers from across Oxfordshire’s local 

government community, alongside representatives from key organisations with a stake in 

the future governance of the county. 

The conversations were semi-structured, with participants receiving a short topic guide in 

advance to outline the broad areas we aimed to explore. Questions were tailored to each 

participant or group, reflecting our stakeholder-led approach and the diverse roles and 

contexts represented. 

All participants took part on the understanding that their contributions would remain 

anonymous, and that no individuals would be identified in the final report. This aligns with 

CfGS’s standard practice for qualitative research of this nature. Findings were triangulated 

across multiple conversations, ensuring that no single interview or viewpoint was used in 

isolation to justify conclusions. 

Appendices   

Page 115



61 

Desk research  

We undertook a high-level review of documentary evidence to support two key aims: 

• To build a clearer understanding of Oxfordshire as a place (summarised in the 

appendices); 

• To identify a range of options for future locality governance, drawing on good 

practice from across the UK and internationally. 

Sources included material produced by principal authorities, voluntary and community 

sector bodies, town and parish councils, and other relevant local organisations. The review 

was conducted in two phases: an initial scan to understand the local governance landscape, 

and a second round later in the process to follow up on themes and references raised 

during interviews. One key reference point was the Oxfordshire Councils Charter, which 

outlines shared commitments to strengthen local partnership working and support a vibrant 

local democracy. 

 

Appendix B: Oxfordshire as a place  
 

History   

Modern local government in Oxfordshire dates back to the nineteenth century, although 

forms of local governance for and within the county date back much longer – the city of 

Oxford, in particular, benefits from a history of nearly a millennium of municipal 

government.   

For most of the county area, however, the formalisation of local government began with the 

Municipal Corporations Act 1835. This saw existing municipal corporations being reformed 

into municipal boroughs. In what is now Oxfordshire, four corporations were affected – 

Abingdon, Banbury, Oxford and Wallingford.   

Over the subsequent decades existing poor law unions became conjoined with urban and 

rural sanitary districts which themselves, in due course, became elected urban and rural 

district councils, following the model elsewhere in England. Oxfordshire County Council 

was itself established in 1889, action that involved the shifting of the county’s boundaries.   

Although the history of governance in Oxfordshire is a long one, the area currently covered 

by the current county of Oxfordshire has only followed its present boundaries for a 

comparatively short period. Following the boundary shifts of 1889, further major changes 

occurred in 1974, when the reorganisation instigated by the Local Government Act 1972 

brought into Oxfordshire areas currently covered by the Vale of the White Horse and South 

Oxfordshire that had previously been in Berkshire.  

Page 116



62 

The current shape of the area: the place   

Although there is no such thing as a “typical county area”, Oxfordshire is particularly 

distinctive. The presence of two major universities, as well as major manufacturing, makes 

the city of Oxford a more significant economic “node” than many other county seats – 

accentuated by the conurbation’s important to the wider regional objectives relating to the 

OxCam Arc.   

Oxfordshire is, of course, about much more than Oxford. Community identity is mixed – as 

is usual in areas with a mix of urban and rural geography people are more likely to identify 

with the town or village within which (or near which) they live than they are with 

“Oxfordshire” as a place.   

The pursuit of growth – and the management of the tensions and pressures that come with 

it – has been a feature of development in the county for many years. Oxford’s green belt has 

long constrained significant (housing) development within the city. Housing growth has 

instead focused on nearby towns, many of which grew significantly in the latter years of the 

20th century. Bicester, Wantage (and Grove) and Didcot in particular are now experiencing 

further rounds of major urban extension. As we go on to discuss, opposition to these 

changes to the urban and rural fabric often centre on concerns over infrastructure and 

resources, in particular the lack of community facilities for large, new developments 

constructed in recent years. This raises questions about the strength of civic fabric that we 

discuss in more detail in the next section.   

These pressures, amongst others, galvanise opposition when particularly major, highly 

visible, developments are proposed. The prospect of the construction of a reservoir near 

Abingdon has once again, as it did in the 1990s, led to a well-organised grassroots 

campaign of opposition. The plans for building a solar farm west of Botley have resulted in 

a similar community reaction. It is not unusual that communities are catalysed into coming 

together in response to an external threat like this, but in Oxfordshire an awareness of these 

challenges (and the need to be able to contribute meaningfully to discourse about the 

benefits, drawbacks and trade-offs of growth) is keenly felt by elected and non-elected 

policymakers.   

Limits to growth: the current partnership perspective  

Enterprise Oxfordshire (previously OxLEP, the Oxfordshire Local Economic Partnership) 

published in late 2023 a Strategic Economic Plan. This plan described the Oxfordshire 

economy in the following broad terms:   

• The innovation ecosystem – assets in STEM in associated areas – is particularly 

strong, with strong investment from both the private and public sectors – 

contributing to a strong “virtuous circle” of growth. Spinouts from the University 

of Oxford have contributed positively to this;  

• This has led to substantial pressures – including a substantial shortfall in lab 

space, which is being partially addressed through major developments including 

Page 117



63 

at Oxford North and Milton Park. Other pressures relate to the presence of labour 

and skills;  

• Investment in STEM seems to be effecting wider economic transformation in 

Oxfordshire;  

• Oxfordshire’s “foundational” economy – economic activity relating to local 

demand (health, education, local services) employs 60% of those in employment 

in the area but faces challenging, around low pay, housing costs and challenges 

associated with labour shortages post-Brexit. EO argue that these connected 

challenges are widely understood amongst partners.   

The presence of Oxford’s two universities has a significant impact on the economic profile 

of the whole county. Harwell and Milton Park, both important economic nodes in their own 

right, at least in part owe their presence to the halo effect of Oxford’s position as a centre of 

research. This, in turn, has had a significant effect on the demographics of neighbouring 

towns and villages.   

As noted in the box above connectivity is a challenge across the county – despite the drive 

for growth and the presence of significant, and growing, economic activity. Oxfordshire is 

home to some of England’s largest non-railway towns, and this (along with variable road 

transport connectivity) contributes to an environment in which the sense of place can be 

seen to focus on towns and their immediate hinterland.   

The current shape of the area: the people  

Understanding the demographics of Oxfordshire is important because it helps to get a 

sense of the capacity, and resilience, of the population to participate in the forms of 

neighbourhood governance that we described in the introduction.   

Deprivation in Oxfordshire (Local Transport 

and Connectivity Plan, OCC 2022). Red is 

most deprived.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



64 

 

Oxfordshire has a rural population that is ageing. Housing affordability, as noted above, 

presents a significant challenge in attractive and retaining younger people. This creates 

challenges around community resilience.   

Another challenge is the presence of transient populations. In Oxford itself, these 

populations are dominated by students, leading to a significant, ongoing ebb and flow 

which makes assessments of community need more difficult.   

This is not as simple as to say that Oxford’s demography is typified by a division between 

“town and gown”, because Oxford (as we have already noted) is not a typical “university 

town” – it has its own centres of economic geography wholly distinct from that of its 

universities (not least Plant Oxford at Cowley). This itself has a significant impact on the 

demographics of the city and its surrounding areas. Beyond the city, visible affluence in 

some towns and villages sits alongside, and sometimes hides, significant deprivation (see 

below).   

Oxfordshire is a multi-ethnic place; particularly its urban areas. Governance, consultation 

and involvement mechanisms are not always organised in such a way as to take account of 

this mix. Some interviewees told us that most public service professionals, and elected 

representatives, are white and that this may hinder people’s ability to understand the need 

to design and deliver services with the needs of people from a wide range of backgrounds 

in mind.   

 

 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Resident perceptions of LGR 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY PREPARED FOR 

Oxfordshire County Council 

 
July / 2025 

1096/rm/ctw 

Page 121



 

Page 2 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Oxfordshire County Council is starting to shape its overarching vision and strategic priorities for the 

period 2025-2029, alongside developing its preferred proposal for local government organisation 
to be submitted in November 2025. To feed into this development, the council commissioned 

REMind Research to conduct a series of focus group discussions with Oxfordshire residents in July 

2025.  

The focus of the research was to:  

• explore current behaviours and attitudes towards local government and services among 

residents from across the county and representing different living situations/ life stages 

• identify any gaps in understanding, provision or future requirements 

• examine reactions to draft strategic vision, statements and potential actions 

• deliberate benefits and concerns regarding future structure 

 

This executive summary provides an impartial account of resident opinions on the aspects of Local 

Government Reorganisation (LGR) discussed specifically within the sessions. 

 
 

 

 

 

KEY THEMES 
 

63 residents took part across nine 2-hour sessions ensuring inclusion of a range of participants 

across area, lifestage, household composition and ethnicity.  
 

Participants demonstrated strong engagement, with many expressing appreciation for the 

opportunity to share their perspectives directly with the council. Despite the diversity of residents 
involved, there was a striking consistency across sessions in the key issues they identified as 

challenges facing the county. 

 

PERCEPTIONS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 

There is minimal awareness of future local government reorganisation; except among older 

residents. 

On balance, the benefits of establishing a single countywide unitary authority are generally seen 

to outweigh the concerns — provided those concerns are properly addressed.  

The main perceived advantages include cost savings, greater efficiency, more consistency, fair 

and coherent policies across Oxfordshire, plus a single point of access for all key services.  

However, concerns remain about the potential loss of focus on the specific needs of local areas 

and the risk of service disruption during the transition.  

While most intuitively feel a county-wide unitary authority is a logical step, older residents, in 

particular, tend to be more sceptical about the benefits of moving to a unitary system, regardless 

of what final structure is implemented. 

 

  

Page 122



 

Page 3 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Residents deeply value the opportunity to engage with the council and help shape what matters 

to them. To maintain this connection and ensure strategic priorities reflect the needs of the 
population, there are key actions the county council can consider moving forward. 

 

 

 
 

 

The group was good, it definitely highlighted the need for community …. The 

proof of the pudding will be in the eating. With all the good intentions, 

practical measures have to be put forward to people. Saying you would like 

to enhance the environment or make somewhere safer or nicer is lovely but 

in practice what would that entail? 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Local Government Reorganisation Progress Update
	Annex 1- Letter from His Majesty’s Government – 3 June 2025
	Annex 2 - Letter from His Majesty’s Government – 6 February 2025
	Annex 3 Further detail on LGR engagements
	Annex 4 CfGS Neighbourhood Governance - Final Report (1)
	Background paper 1 REMind Resident perceptions of LGR - Exec Summary
	executive summary
	key themes
	perceptions of local government reorganisation
	recommendations





